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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
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HK$ million HK$'million HK$ million HK$'million | HK$'million
BEABT BEAT BEAETL BEAET BERT
Revenue m i
Restaurant, food and g RBBE
hotel \ 517 580 622 601 488
Property investment and WERERER
development 96 113 551 147 525
613 693 1,173 748 1,013
Profit Attributable to BREAEEA
Owners of the Parent FE{E &R 400 164 114 153 196
Basic Earnings SREAREF (1)
per Share (cents) 34.93 14.31 9.93 13.35 16.07
Net Assets BEFE 3,293 3,473 3,383 3,673 3,852
Total Assets BEE 5,107 5,652 5,932 6,483 6,195
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HONORARY CHAIRMAN AND
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LO, Man Kit, Sam (Chairman)
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MA, Kai Yum, PhD (Chairman)
LO, Ming Chi, Charles

LO, Man Kit, Sam

WONG, See King

COMPANY SECRETARY
NG, Yan Kwong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12
Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACES
OF BUSINESS

26/F Phase Il Wyler Centre
200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung

New Territories

Hong Kong

5/F Carrianna Friendship Square
2002 Renminnan Road

Lo Wu District

Shenzhen

China
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | wish to present the
Annual Report of Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
for the financial year ended 31 March 2014.

Since last year, the economic growth in China has been slowing
down, and the real estate market is facing uncertain times
with significant declines in transaction volumes, particularly in
second and third tier cities. The luxury segment of the hotel and
restaurant industry is also facing very challenging times.

For the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group’s turnover
was HK$1,013,101,000 (2013: HK$748,479,000), increased
by 35% from last year. The Group’s profit attributable to
shareholders was HK$195,629,000 (2013: HK$153,427,000),
increased by 28% from last year. The increase in turnover was
primarily attributable to sales revenue recognition of Phase 2 of
Grand Lake City, Yiyang of Hunan Province during the year. The
increase in profit attributable to shareholders was mainly due to
increase in profit from property sales as well as profit booked
for sales of China South City shares that were completed
during the year.

The financial results for our hotel, restaurant and food division
were mixed. Our food business still managed to achieve
moderate growth, whilst the government policy to tighten
control on dining and travelling expenses has continued to
impact negatively on our restaurant business. Overall, turnover
and segment profit for the division declined for the year by 19%
and 29%, respectively.

Despite the challenging environment, the Group’s business
strategy continues to focus on its real estate business and food
and restaurant business. Of its property development projects,
the residential project in Yiyang and the furniture and household
goods mall project in Dongguan are in good progress, whilst
the China East City project in Lianyungang has expanded its
business model into e-commerce related showrooms and
logistic centres.
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The Group is very positive on the prospect of the food industry
and has spun off a new food division to focus resources
to grow the food business. The strategy is to expand the
distribution network and develop new products, leveraging
the well established reputation of the “Carrianna” brand in the
high end restaurant and food sectors. The Group has also
completed the construction of a new food factory in Kunming
and plans to build another factory in Panyu, Guangzhou later
this year.

In the restaurant business, the Group’s Carrianna restaurants
have been negatively affected by the government policy
to tighten control on dining expenses. To turn around, the
restaurant division has strengthened management team, offered
lower price dishes and cut down expenses. As the market
remains sluggish, it will take some time for the management
team to stabilize the business. However, the Group remains
optimistic on the overall prospect of the restaurant industry,
particularly on the increasing demand of urban middle class
for casual dining. To diversify into casual dining and pursue a
multi-brand  strategy, the Group plan to enter an agreement
to acquire 60% of the “Delicious” brand “Cha Chaan Teng”
business, comprising 11 restaurants and a central kitchen.
Following the acquisition, the Group will expand the “Delicious”
chain in Hong Kong and the Mainland.

| would like to take this opportunity to extend my appreciation
to the Board of Directors, management team and staff for their
support and dedication to the Group and to shareholders,
customers, suppliers and other business partners for their
unfailing support.

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2014
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies

HONORARY CHAIRMAN AND
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MA Kai Cheung, rhD, SBS, BBS, aged 72, is the founder of
the Group. Mr. Ma has been appointed as Honorary Chairman
of the Company and re-designated as non-executive director
of the Board since 1 January 2014. Mr. Ma has more than 40
years’ experience in the garment distribution and manufacturing
business, over 20 years’ experience in the restaurant business
and property development. He was a committee member of
the 9th, 10th and 11th National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. He is the Consultant
of All-Chinese Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese,
the Permanent Honorary President of Shenzhen Overseas
Chinese International Association. Mr. Ma also serves as
President of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations, Permanent Honorary President of Federation of
Hong Kong Chiu Chow Community Organizations, Permanent
Honorary President of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of
Commerce Limited and Permanent Honorary President of Hong
Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association. Mr. Ma is a
brother of Mr. Ma Kai Yum.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA Kai Yum, PnD, aged 63, is a co-founder of the Group.
Mr. Ma is the Chairman of the Group since 1 January 2014.
He has been a Director of the Group since 1984 and has
over 30 years’ experience in the garment business. Mr. Ma is
responsible for the daily operation and administration, strategic
planning and business development of the Group. Mr. Ma
was a former member of Guangdong Provincial Committee of
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and also
serves as a Director of the Chinese Manufacturers Association
of Hong Kong, President of Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow
Public Association and Director of Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Chamber of Commerce. Mr. Ma is a brother of Mr. Ma Kai
Cheung.

CHAN Sheung Lai, aged 52, is Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Group since October 2012. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Chan was Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of Value Partners Group Limited, a
leading fund management firm listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Previously Mr. Chan was Chief Executive
(North China) of KaiLong Real Estate Investment, a real estate
investment and asset management firm focused on the China
real estate market. Prior to joining KaiLong, Mr. Chan was a
partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, and led its Corporate
Finance Advisory Practice and Life Science and Healthcare
Practice in China. Mr. Chan has over 20 years of investment,
real estate, corporate finance and business management
experience, and long track record of building businesses in
China. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor degree of Social Sciences
from the University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Chan is
an Independent Non-Executive Director of China Chengtong
Development Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

NG Yan Kwong, aged 53, is Executive Director, Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Group since
2000. Before joining the Group, Mr. Ng was the finance
director of a US beverage company operating in Mainland
China. Mr. Ng has more than 10 years corporate and financial
management experience with multinational consumer product
companies in South East Asia and Greater China region. He
also has substantial working experience in public accountancy
practice with a major international accounting firm. He holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Commerce of the University of Newcastle
in Australia and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the CPA Australia.

MA Hung Ming, John, PnD, BBS, aged 47, is Executive
Directors of the Group since May 2009. Mr. Ma joined the
Group in 1990. He has been the Managing Director of
Carrianna Holdings Limited since April 2002 and is currently
responsible for the Group’s property development operations.
He has extensive experience in the catering industry, as well
as property management and development. Mr. Ma was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) from The Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2003
and a Honorary Doctorate of Philosophy degree by Morrison
University in 2004. In 2011, he was awarded the Honorary
Citizen by the Shenzhen government. He was the Chairman
of Tung Wah Group of Hospitals for the year 2002. He is a
member of Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Advisory Board, a
member of the Standing Committee of Shenzhen Committee
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and
the President of Youth Council. He also serves as the Vice
Chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations and the Vice President of Kowloon Federation of
Associations. Mr. Ma is an independent Non-Executive Director
of Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited, the shares of which are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Ma is
the son of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

LO Ming Chi, Charles, aged 64, is independent non-
executive director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group in
1991. Mr. Lo is a member of the CPA Australia and fellow of the
Financial Services Institute of Australasia. Mr. Lo is an Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer of China Tycoon Beverage
Holdings Limited. He is an Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of New Island Printing Holdings Limited. He is
also an Independent Non-Executive Director of Cash Financial
Services Group Limited. He was an Independent Non-Executive
Director of New Environmental Energy Holdings Limited from
15 June 2006 to 1 July 2012. He was an Executive Director of
Sun Innovation Holdings Limited from 21 July 2009 to 1 March
2010. All these companies are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. He has more than 20 years of professional
and business experience in financial and investment services in
Australia, Hong Kong and other Asian countries.

LO Man Kit, Sam, aged 53, is independent non-executive
director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group in July
2004. Mr. Lo is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a
consultant of Messrs. C.C. Lee & Co.. He has over 20 years of
extensive experience in the areas of conveyancing, banking and
commercial law. He is also admitted as solicitor in Singapore.

WONG See King, aged 53, is independent non-executive
director of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Group in August
2007. Mr. Wong is currently the Chief Financial Officer of
HAGER Asia Limited, a subsidiary of the HAGER Group which
is a market leader of selling building hardware products in the
US market and, is engaging for building hardware business in
China and Hong Kong. Mr. Wong had also worked as financial
and business executive in various Australian, UK and US
multi-national companies. He has over 20 years’ of working
experience in corporate finance, building hardware, consumer
goods manufacturing and distribution business in Hong Kong
and China and property development business in Australia.
He holds a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Macquarie
University (Australia) and is a member of the Australian Society
of CPAs.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

MA Hung Man, Raymond, aged 38, is the Executive
Director of the Food & Beverage Division (China Region)
of the Company. Mr. Ma graduated from the University of
California, Davis with a Bachelor of Science Degree in Civil
Engineering and he holds a Professional Engineer license in
Civil Engineering in USA. Mr. Ma has substantial experience in
food and beverage business. Mr. Ma is the son of Mr. Ma Kai
Cheung.

YAU So Kan, aged 43, is General Manager of the Carrianna
Hotel in Foshan, PRC. She has been serving the Group since
2004. Ms. Yau has led the management of Carrianna Hotel
since the Company took over the hotel in 2004. Ms. Yau
has about 10 years’ experience in hotel management and
operation.

Zhang Jl Yong, aged 45, is the Managing Director of
Carrianna (Hunan) Holding Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhang has about
20 years working experience in real estate industry. He has
extensive experience in property sales and development in
Changsha City and Yiyang City of Hunan Province. He also
serves as delegate of Yiyang People’s Congress, vice president
of Association of Industry and Commerce, Yiyang and president
of Association of Real Estate Development, Yiyang. Mr. Zhang
graduated from Hunan University and holds a Master Degree of
Project Management.

WONG Tai Wai, David, aged 52, is General Manager of the
Dongguan Golden Fame Property Development Co. Ltd., in
which the Group owns a 50% interest. Mr. Wong graduated
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University and holds Diploma in
Industrial Design. He has substantial experience in real estate
Development, investment and operations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”), in Appendix 14 of The
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) which became effective on 1 January 2005. The
corporate governance principles of the Company emphase
a quality board of directors, sound internal control, principles
and practices and transparency and accountability to all
shareholders of the Company. The Company has complied with
the CG Code throughout the accounting period covered by this
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Company. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard under the
Model Code throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2014, the Board comprised eight Directors,
including four executive directors, one non-executive director
and three independent non-executive directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Director and Senior Management’s Biographies” on pages 7
to 11 of this report.

The composition of the Board is reviewed regularly to ensure
that it has a good balance of expertise, skills and experience
which can meet the requirements of the business of the
Company.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of
adequate capital and managerial resources to implement the
business strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial
and internal controls and conduct of business in conformity
with applicable laws and regulations. All Directors have made
full and active contribution to the affairs of the Board and the
Board has always acted in the best interests of the Group.

The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key
corporate strategy and policy and contractual commitments.
Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group with divisional heads responsible for different aspects of
the business.

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements. The Company has adopted the generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong in preparing the financial
statements, appropriate accounting policies have been
adopted and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgement and estimates have been made. The publication of
the financial statements of the Group is also in a timely manner.

The Board has reviewed the financial projections of the Group
and the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt over
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the Board has continued to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.

The responsibility of Ernst & Young, the Company’s external
auditors, is set out on pages 58 to 59 of the “Independent
Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

BOARD MEETINGS

During the year, the Board met regularly and held five board
meetings. The attendance of the Directors at the board

meetings was as follow:

FE AT )
EEOEH

FR EFgCHER BRTAIAREEES
HBEEEEHEMEFTHEBRLAT:

Number of
attendance
Directors B= IR
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (appointed as BNBEE(RZTE—NFE—HA—H
Honorary Chairman and re-designated as BEEABEBEIENFAERIERIT
non-executive director on 1 January 2014) %) 3/5
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (appointed as Chairman B EE
on 1 January 2014) (R=—ZF—mMF—HF—H
BZERER) 5/5
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai (Chief Executive Officer) — RIS & 54 (7T AE %) 5/5
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong REHFTAE 5/5
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BIBEh & 3/5
Mr. Yuen Wai Man REXEE
(resigned on 10 June 2013) (RZE—=FA+H&T) 0/1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BB RE 5/5
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam JEX R 5/5
Mr. Wong See King mRBEE 5/5

Regular board meetings are scheduled in advance to

EFefenREARE UWEXRESY

facilitate all directors’ attendance. Regular board meetings
are scheduled to be held four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. At least 14 days’ notice of a board meeting
is given to all directors who are given an opportunity to include
matters for discussion in the agenda. If potential conflict of
interest involving a substantial shareholder or a director arises,
the matter is discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. The directors attend
meetings in persons or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

Board papers are circulated approximately three days before
the board meetings to enable the directors to make informed
decisions on matters to be raised. The Company Secretary
assists the chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The Company Secretary shall attend all regular
board meetings to advise on corporate governance, statutory
compliance, accounting and financial matters when necessary.
Directors shall have full access to information on the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever
deemed necessary by the directors. The Company Secretary
shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters discussed
and decisions resolved at all board meetings.

Each newly-appointed director will be provided with a
package of orientation materials setting out the duties and
responsibilities of directors under the Listing Rules, related
ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong Kong.
Updates are provided to directors when necessary to ensure
that directors are aware of the latest changes in the commercial
and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its
business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

According to the records of the Company, during the financial
year ended 31 March 2014, the Directors participated in the
following trainings:

FEGT )
0
BIEAL Tmﬁ@ﬁ—w@ —= =

§7\+ AIEBEEER EFO2EUT
23

Seminar/course Reading
attended materials
Directors EE HEEE/RE RO E MR
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENELAE v
(appointed as Honorary (R=—E—mFE—H—H
Chairman and re-designated as BEZERBEEFEM
non-executive director on AERIENITES)
1 January 2014)
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Ma Kai Yum BNREE 4 v
(appointed as Chairman on (R=—ZT—mMFE—H—H
1 January 2014) BZERER)
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai PR B 12 S (7T AR ) v v
(Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong REBNFE v v
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SRS P e v
Mr. Yuen Wai Man REXSE (RZE—=F v
(resigned on 10 June 2013) ~NA+ AT
Independent Non-Executive BIAFBTESE
Directors
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles Z5RR A S A v v
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam EXHEEE v v
Mr. Wong See King BERBEEE v v

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. For the year
ended 31 March 2014, Mr. Ma Kai Yum was the Chairman
and Mr. Chan Sheung Lai was the chief executive officer, of
which the roles are separated and not performed by the same
individual.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide
leadership to the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in
the best interests of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that
the Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities,
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner. All directors have been consulted about any
matters proposed for inclusion in the agenda. With the support
of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at any board
meeting and have received adequate and reliable information in
a timely manner.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive directors provide a wide range of expertise
and experience as well as checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Group and its shareholders. Their
participation in the board and committee meetings brings
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s
strategy, performance, conflicts of interest and management
process to ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the
Company have been duly considered.

The non-executive directors of the Company have been
appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. According
to Bye-law 102(A) of the Bye-laws of the Company, director
appointed to fill any casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the next annual general meeting after their appointment
and shall be subject to re-election by the shareholders of the
Company. According to Bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws of the
Company, one-third of the directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation (except Chairman or Managing
Director) and shall be eligible for re-election at each annual
general meeting.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has three independent non-executive directors
representing more than one-third of the Board. More than
one of the independent non-executive directors have the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Board confirms that the
Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence
and considers that all the independent non-executive directors
are independent under the guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of
the Board and the Company’s affairs. All board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms
of reference which have been uploaded to the website of
the Stock Exchange and that of the Company. The board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 1 April 1999 and
currently comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman), Mr. Lo Man Kit,
Sam and Mr. Wong See King.

A set of written terms of reference, which described the
authority and duties of the Audit Committee, was adopted by
the Board on 1 September 2004, amended and restated on 26
March 2012 and the contents of which are in compliance with
the Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices of the
CG Code.

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and the
principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process, internal
controls and review the Group’s financial statements. The
Committee is also provided with other resources to enable it to
discharge its duties fully.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings and
the external auditors were in attendance. The attendance
record of the members of the Audit Committee are set out in
the table below:
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ERZEE @
ERBRZEASBMMAEH B EINE
EREEEEHOKELER

% BRAD L FE
SLEATR
Number of
meetings
attended/

Total number
of meetings

HESE 8/
Directors = WEZNRH
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman) BRERE (F/E) 2/2
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B R E 2/2
Mr. Wong See King HEERBEE 2/2

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company and Ernst & Young, the auditors of the Company,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and has discussed auditing, internal controls and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2014.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to Ernst & Young, for services rendered
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2014 is as follows:

ERZEGCBRAARREEENARFZ
ZBIED 22k & &t B0 B 75 T B AR SR B FT R A

SRR LB X FEE  RNERES R K&
BHREER (EREHARTDBRE-_T—HF
ZAZTBLEFREZEFERSE)ETER -

3 ENES

LRGN EBAIN T —MF=A=+—
HiEFEzZBRBEMME0T:

2014 2013
—E-mF —F—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TFETT

Audit fee ZHE A
— provision for the year FAER 2,900 2,650
Non-audit service fees IEZERTS E A - 500
2,900 3,150

Fees for non-audit services comprise of agreed-upon
procedures.

The Audit Committee had concluded that it is satisfied with
the findings of its review of audit and non-audit services fees,
process and effectiveness, independence and objectivity.

IRBRGER BRI ERRF -

ERZBSREHENBHERIIFERRS
ZER BRI B R EBIEETT
WA 2R
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Remuneration Committee was established on 1 April 2005
and comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles and Mr. Wong See King.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting. The attendance record of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are set out in the table below:

MEZEeREEZHE

FMZEeN _TTRFMA—HKL B=
BEFMITERER BREXERE (£
B BRBREREBBREE

FRN - FHEZEeaF—KeH -FHEZES

SHRHRBHEBRNT

Number of
meetings
attended/

Total number
of meetings

HESEREY
Directors BE= BEIRE
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam (Chairman) BEXBEE (E/E) 1/1
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BERE kL 1/1
Mr. Wong See King mRBEE 1/1

The objectives of the Remuneration Committee are to
establish and maintain an appropriate and competitive level of
remuneration to attract, retain and motivate directors and key
executives to run the Company successfully. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that the remuneration policies and
systems of the Group support the Group’s objectives and
strategies. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties. A set of written terms
of reference, which described the authority and duties of the
Remuneration Committee, was adopted by the Board on 1
April 2005, amended and restated on 26 March 2012 and the
contents of which are in compliance with the code provisions of
the CG Code.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
are as follows:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b)

to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives;

either:

()  to determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management; or

(i)  to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management.

This should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office of
appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration and that, as
regards the remuneration of a non-executive Director who
is a member of the Committee, his remuneration should
be determined by the other members of the Committee;
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(i)  to advise shareholders of the Company on how to vote
with respect to any service contracts of Directors that
require shareholders’ approval under Rule 13.68 of Listing
Rules; and

() to report back to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory
restrictions on their ability to do so (such as a restriction
on disclosure due to regulatory requirements).

During the year 2014, the Remuneration Committee made
recommendations to the Board on executive directors’
remuneration packages and terms of employment. The
Committee also formulated and evaluated the remuneration
policy and structure for the directors and senior management of
the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

FHMEEOREEZMN 2 (8
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Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the RIEEATEIZFRIIEXEBASIERE &

remuneration of the members of senior management by band Z-Z—PUF=A=+—H |t FEZXFNE
for the year ended 31 March 2014 is set out below: BozaRBEEBABNMSEHWOT

Number of

Individuals

A

Up to HK$1,000,000 % 71,000,0005% T 6

HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 JT 22,000,000/ 7T 1

HK$2,000,001 = HK$5,000,000 2,000,001/ 7T 25,000,000/ 7T 2

HK$5,000,001 — HK$7,000,000 5,000,001/ 7T 27,000,000/ 7T 2

Further particulars in relation to the remuneration of Directors
and the five highest paid employees’ remuneration as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules
are set out in notes 8 and 9, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 26 March
2012. The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendation to the nomination of Directors with a view
to appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board. In the nomination procedures, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including
reputation of candidates for integrity, accomplishment and
experience, professional and educational background.

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive director
and three independent non-executive directors, including Mr.
Ma Kai Yum (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles, Mr. Lo Man
Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong See King.

During the year, one meeting was convened by the Nomination
Committee. The attendance of the Directors at the Nomination
Committee meeting was as follows:
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Number of
meetings
attended/

Total number

of meetings

HESRRE/

Directors BE= HEBRRY
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BhREE (£/F)

(appointed on 1 January 2014) (RZE—NE—A—BEZT) 1/1
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BERE k& 1/1
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B X 1/1
Mr. Wong See King HEERBEE 1/1

A set of new written terms of reference, which described
the authority and duties of the Nomination Committee, was
adopted by the Board on 26 March 2012 and the contents
of which are in compliance with the Code Provisions and
Recommended Best Practices of the CG Code.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Ng Yan Kwong,
who is also the Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director
of the Company. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Commerce
of the University of Newcastle in Australia and is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the CPA Australia. Mr. Ng has complied with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules for taking not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is overall responsible for overseeing the operations
of all the businesses units within the Group. Suitable candidates
are appointed by the Board to join in the boards of all
subsidiaries and associates operating in key business areas,
to attend the board meetings and to oversee the operations
of such companies. The management of each business area
is accountable for these operation and performance of the
business under its area of responsibility.

The Board has conducted bi-annual reviews of internal control
system of the Group pursuant to the Codes and considers that
all the material internal controls in the Group are adequate and
effective during the year.

COMMUNICATION CHANNELS

In order to develop and maintain continuing relationships
with the shareholders of the Company, the Company has
established various channels to facilitate and enhance
communication:

()  the annual general meeting provides a forum for
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board;

(i) updated key information of the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.carrianna.com to enable the
shareholders of the Company and the investor community
to have timely access to information about the Group;
and
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COMMUNICATION CHANNELS (Continued)

(i) the Company’s website offers a communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and
investors.

(iv)  the rights of the shareholders of the Company are set out
in the Bye-laws of the Company.

(v) the shareholders may put forward their proposals or
enquiries to the Board by sending their written request to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The Chairman and the directors are available at annual general
meetings to answer questions raised by shareholders of the
Company or other interested parties.

CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)

The Board shall be on the written requisition of shareholders
of the Company holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition in aggregate not less than one-tenth of such of
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at the SGM, forthwith proceed duly to convene the
SGM (“Requisition”). The Requisition, which may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by one or
more requisitionists, must state the objects of the SGM and
deposited at the Company’s head office and principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the Requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which SGM may be convened by the Board, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the aforesaid date of the deposit of the
Requisition.
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CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL e 5w 2 B i R K & (TR R
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”) R kS @)

(Continued)

All reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a 1REERERNEE S REEDRZAEERIA

result of the failure of the Board to convene such a SGM shall MEEZFBEERY HAEBRARAFMN
be reimbursed to them by the Company. WHEELEE-

Attendance of the Directors at the last annual general meeting ZZER -Z—=F)\A - +/XBHETZ LXK

which was held on 26 August 2013 was as follows: BRRBAFRGNEHFEELAT
Number of
attendance
Directors BE= IR
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (appointed as ENBEEE(R-T—NF—H—H
Honorary Chairman and re-designed as BEERBEBEIERAER
non-executive director on 1 January 2014) EHRITEE) 1/1
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Ma, Kai Yum (appointed as Chairman BREE
on 1 January 2014) (R=—ZF—mMF—HF—H
BEERER) 1/1
Mr. Chan, Sheung Lai (Chief Executive Officer) [RH& 54 (7T AE#E) 1/1
Mr. Ng, Yan Kwong RBENFTAE 1/1
Mr. Ma, Hung Ming, John BBkt & 0/1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYkBITES
Mr. Lo, Ming Chi, Charles ML D 5 1/1
Mr. Lo, Man Kit, Sam B X E 1/1
Mr. Wong, See King =HEBRLE 1/1

Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John was unable to attend the last annual R EAML AT =L HE - BB 88 %k £ R e
general meeting of the Company due to other prior business /& FXAREREF KNS -
engagements.
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Turnover of property business for the year was
HK$524,757,000 (2013: HK$147,658,000), significantly
increased from last year by 2.6 times. Segment profit before tax
was HK$295,511,000 (2013: HK$194,581,000), increased by
52% from last year. Excluding the effect of property revaluation
gain, segment profit before tax was HK$255,045,000 (2013:
HK$123,888,000), significantly increased by 1.1 times from last
year.

During the year, the construction of Phase 2 of Grand Lake
City, Yiyang of Hunan Province, comprising 6 blocks of high
rise lake view residential buildings and a shopping centre, was
completed. Approximately 85,000 sg.m. with sales value of
HK$388,714,000 was booked as sales revenue for the year.
Together with some remaining property sales of Phase 1 and
remaining shops sales of China East City in Lianyungang
of Jiangsu Province, total property sales for the year was
HK$442,852,000, significantly increased from last year by 4.5
times.

For the coming year, remaining property of Phase 2 of Grand
Lake City will continue to be sold. Sales of 55,000 sg.m. Phase
3 of Grand Lake City, comprising 3 blocks of small size lake
view apartments and a shopping mall, has also been started.
On the other hand, the Group’s 50% owned 410,000 sqg.m.
furniture, construction materials and household goods mall
and services apartment project in Dongguan, named as ‘Home
Town’, recorded satisfactory progress for its construction.
Phase 1 mall, comprising 110,000 sg.m. 6 storeys above
ground and two levels of basement, is planned to be
completed in early 2016. Sales of shops will start in late 2014
and marketing and promotion activities have also been started.
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For investment properties, rental income for the year was
HK$81,905,000, significantly increased by 22% from last year.
The main reason for rental income increase was the satisfactory
rental increment as well as occupancy rate improvement from
97% to 99% of Carrianna Friendship Square in Shenzhen.
The rental income from properties in Hong Kong, Hunan and
Jiangsu also recorded satisfactory growth.

The remaining portion of 750,000,000 China South City
shares sold in last year was delivered to buyer during the year.
Resulting net profit of HK$115,081,000 was booked in this
year, an increase of HK$38,130,000 from last year. The Group
currently holds 138,966,649 China South City shares for long
term investment purpose. The value of these shares as at 31
March 2014 was HK$491,942,000, based on closing market
price of HK$3.54 per share on that day.
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Carrianna Friendship Square
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For investment properties, rental income for the year
was significantly increased by 22% from last year.
The main reason for rental income increase was the
satisfactory rental increment as well as occupancy
rate improvement from 97% to 99% of Carrianna
Friendship Square in Shenzhen. The rental income
from properties in Hong Kong, Hunan and Jiangsu
also recorded satisfactory growth.
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During the year, the construction of Phase 2 of Grand Lake City, Yiyang of Hunan Province,
comprising 6 blocks of high rise lake view residential buildings and a shopping centre, was
completed
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Phase 3 of Grand Lake City, comprising 3 blocks of small size lake
view apartments and a shopping mall, has also been started
FELAFTRE =5 (LA A E ] s N FPRETTHEKRRIREE
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The Group’s 50% owned 410,000 sq.m. furniture, construction materials and household goods mall and services
apartment project in Dongguan, named as ‘Home Town’, recorded satisfactory progress for its construction.
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HOTEL, RESTAURANT AND FOOD

Turnover for hotel, restaurant and food division for the year
was HK$488,344,000 (2013: HK$600,821,000), decreased by
19% from last year. Segment profit was HK$70,386,000 (2013:
HK$98,837,000), decreased by 29% from last year.

During the year, mainland government continued its policy
to tighten control on dining, entertainment and travelling
expenses. Business hotel and fine dining sector were seriously
affected by this policy. As a result, the Group’s hotel and
restaurant turnover for the year declined by over 30% from
last year and resulted in operating loss. Despite such difficult
operating environment, the Group’s Carrianna brand of
mooncake and other food sales continued to achieve 7%
growth which partially offset reduction in revenue of hotel and
restaurant business. The increase in profit from food business
also partially offset the effect of operating loss from hotel and
restaurant business.

During the year, management installed various measures to
increase revenue and control cost so as to improve operating
results of the hotel and restaurant business. Starting from
the beginning of 2014, the following key measures were
introduced: Closed one of the Carrianna restaurant in Wuhan,
renovation of Carrianna Futian restaurant in Shenzhen to
remove several private function rooms so as to enlarge the
dining hall to accommodate bigger wedding and birthday
banquets, reduction of operating area and staff for Carrianna
restaurants in Hainan and Foshan Carrianna hotel and
introduction of moderate pricing menu to attract more
mid-priced business dining customers and private dinner
customers. All of the above measures have started to have
initial results. Wedding banquets booking for the second half
of 2014 was satisfactory and operating cost for April and May
2014 was significantly lower than corresponding period of last
year. Management is confident that operating results of hotel
and restaurant business will improve for the coming year. On
the other hand, in order to diversify the restaurant business,
the Group is also considering expansion into low price chain
restaurant business in Hong Kong and major cities in China and
is actively looking for business partner and acquisition target.
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For food business, the past year’'s growth momentum mainly
came from Hainan where the Carrianna brand and quality
of its food product were well accepted by customers. The
expansion of the food factory to enable delivery of large
customer orders during the busy mooncake season was the
key to the continued growth of sales. As such, the Group
had started to build a new factory in Kunming during the year
which was completed in May 2014. Production will start in
July 2014 to meet demand for this year mooncake orders in
Yunnan Province. On the other hand, the Group also plans to
build a new food factory in Panyu, Guangzhou to serve the
Guangdong Province. Construction planning was underway
with application for government construction permit approval
submitted. Construction will start in September 2014 and will
be completed in first quarter of 2015. With higher production
capacity, the Group will develop more Carrianna brand of
fine Chinese food products as well as investing to extend
distribution network in Yunnan and Guangdong Provinces.
Management is confident that food business will maintain its
medium to long term growth momentum.
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HOTEL, RESTAURANT AND FOOD
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Yiyang Carrianna International Hotel
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Carrianna Restaurant at Wanchai, Hong Kong
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Foshan Carrianna Hotel
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During the year, management installed various
measures to increase revenue and control cost so
as to improve operating results of the hotel and
restaurant business.
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Shenzhen Carrianna Friendship Square Restaurant
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Turnover and operating
profit for mooncake
sales continued to grow ==
satisfactory

BB 5 EE R AR AT Food factory in Hainan
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Carrianna moon cake products
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2014, the Group’s consolidated net assets after
deduction of non-controlling interests was HK$3,709,349,000
(2013: HK$3,534,930,000) and consolidated net assets after
deduction of non-controlling interests per share was HK$2.97
(2013: HK$3.06).

As at 31 March 2014, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HK$362,994,000 (2013: HK$479,413,000),
which was denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and
United States dollars of HK$171,632,000, HK$187,277,000
and HK$4,085,000, respectively. The Group’s free cash and
bank balances and structured deposits were HK$387,987,000
(2013: HK$561,056,000).

The Group’s total borrowings amounted to HK$915,971,000
(2013: HK$1,073,933,000) comprised interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, derivative financial instrument and convertible
notes. All interest-bearing bank and other borrowings bear
interest at floating rates. Netting off cash deposits pledged for
borrowings, the Group’s net bank and other borrowings were
HK$843,886,000 (2013: HK$953,745,000). Net bank and other
borrowings less free cash and bank balances and structured
deposits were HK$455,899,000 (2013: HK$392,689,000).

On 15 February 2013, the Company issued convertible
notes with principal amount of HK$80,000,000 to more
than six independent placees. The convertible notes bore
simple interest at the rate of 5% per annum and matured on
the first anniversary date of the issue date i.e. 14 February
2014. The conversion price of the notes was HK$1.15 per
conversion share. The net proceed of the convertible notes of
HK$78,000,000 was used by the Company as general working
capital.
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As at 31 March 2014, all the above convertible notes had been
converted into 69,565,208 ordinary shares of the Company
issued under the general mandate granted to the directors by
the shareholders pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 27 August
2012 to issue, allot and deal with shares not exceeding 20%
of the issued share capital on the date of passing of such
resolution.

The Group’s gearing ratio, which was defined as the Group’s
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, net of cash
and cash equivalents, structured deposits and pledged time
deposits as percentage of the Group’s total equity, was
approximately 12% (2013: 11%).

The Group adopts conservative treasury policy in cash and
financial management. The objective of the Group’s treasury
policy is to maintain a sound financial position by holding an
appropriate level of cash to meet its operating requirements
and long-term business development needs.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 19 April 2013, an equity transfer agreements were
entered into by the Group and Mr. Yuen Wai Man, a director
of the Company prior to 10 June 2013, to acquire the
minority equity interest held by Mr. Yuen in six subsidiaries,
each operating food or restaurant business in China, of
the Group at a total cash consideration of RMB32 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$40 million). The acquisition
will enable the Group to further develop its food business in
Hainan Province and to consolidate control of its restaurants
with a view to better enhancing their operating efficiency.
Further details of this transaction are also set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 19 April 2013.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND FUTURE
COMMITMENT

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contingent liabilities relating to guarantees given to banks for
mortgage loan facilities granted to purchasers of properties of
approximately HK$206,997,000 (2013: HK$229,194,000).

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment, investment properties,
properties under development, properties held for sale,
time deposits, structured deposits and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss with a total carrying value of
approximately HK$2,589,636,000 (2013: HK$2,734,460,000)
were pledged to secure general banking, trade finance and
other facilities granted to the Group. In addition, rental income
generated in respect of certain investment properties of the
Group was assigned to banks to secure loan facilities granted
to the Group.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland China
with most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi, respectively. Majority of the sales, purchases and
expenditure incurred by the operating units of the Group were
denominated in the units’ functional currencies and as a result,
the Group does not anticipate significant transactional currency
exposures.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group’s staff consists of approximately 100 employees in
Hong Kong and approximately 1,400 employees outside Hong
Kong. Employees are rewarded on a performance-related basis
within the general framework of the Group’s salary and bonus
system.

38

B A AR &R KOR G

RBERAR AEE2AARBERIRBENE
FrERRBEREEMRARITRME 2 ERY
206,997,000/ 7T ( =& — =4 : 229,194,000
BIT) e

A W & E A

RBEMR AEEABFRKREEY
2,589,636,0008 L (ZF — =% :
2,734,460,000/8 7T) 2 & T F  WFE K&
B RENE BRTOXR -BELEZY
X EHEZ BBETETA IR A FETIR
EREGTREZEMEE  MMEA—KIR
T BEZRERAEMBEEMNEN - NEEE
EEHPDREME 2 H2 WA TRIT AMES
EREE M-

5 D% B R e
AEETRLEERENPEAEMAEE
EREE BERRGIBEUBETRARYE
HE-REZEEUELZHE RKEBE W
Nz e BB U2 EHHE A EEYLR
BERAEMITET B E R IMNE RS

M B K B %

AEEE L1005 A5 8 & 491,400% /8 70
BE-BENFWEREAERAEENGIET
HEEMERRIEEE -



The directors herein present their report and the audited
financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries comprise property
investment and development, and the operations of hotel,
restaurant and food businesses.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2014 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 60 to 229.

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK5 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year payable to
the shareholders. This recommendation has been incorporated
in the financial statements as an allocation of retained profits
within the equity section of the statement of financial position.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 22 August 2014 to Monday, 25 August 2014, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected. In order for a shareholder to be eligible to attend and
vote at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 21 August,
2014.

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 26 September 2014 to Tuesday, 30 September
2014, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend (subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual
General Meeting), all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 25 September 2014.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The table set out below summarises the published results,
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

BB BB
TERBIIAREBETEAREE 2 LM
& AE - BERFRRERES Y
AARE 2 BRI RE UL BT
RSB RIIEREZ I -

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1-HLEE

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-mE —T-=f T T——F CZT-ITF
TET THT THEL FTAEI FHL
RESULTS E4
REVENUE B A 1,013,101 748,479 1,172,769 692,840 613,180
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR Frail 216,314 167,579 156,792 175,916 417,245
Attrioutable to: &1
Owners of the parent BREHEEA 195,629 153,427 113,633 163,721 399,695
Non-controlling interests I 20,685 14,152 43,159 12,195 17,550
216,314 167,579 156,792 175,916 417,245
ASSETS, LIABILITES ANDNON-  &E-8fK
CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERER
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 6,195,232 6,483,074 5,932,280 5,651,843 5,106,782
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEE (2,342,878)  (2,810,153)  (2,549,055)  (2,178,810)  (1,813,605)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS ~ FiZfR#EX (143,005) (137,991) (267,370) (310,546) (230,929)
3,709,349 3,534,930 3,115,855 3,162,487 3,062,248

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out
in notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements, respectively.
Further details of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
and investment properties are set out on pages 230 to 234.
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SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND
CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Details of movements in the Company’s convertible notes,
share capital and share options during the year are set out in
notes 36, 37 and 38 to the financial statements, respectively.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2014.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 39(b) to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2014, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provision
of The Bermuda Companies Act 1981, amounted to
HK$368,488,000, of which HK$62,494,000 has been proposed
as final dividends for the year. In addition, the Company’s share
premium account, in the amount of HK$1,388,351,000, may be
distributed in the form of fully-paid bonus shares.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND PLEDGE
OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s contingent liabilities and pledge of assets
are set out in notes 41 and 44 to the financial statements,
respectively.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions
totalling HK$1,917,000 (2013: HK$4,094,000).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the Group’s sales to the five largest
customers and purchases from the five largest suppliers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue and
purchases for the year respectively.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, as more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s top five
customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Non Executive Director and Honorary Chairman:
Ma Kai Cheung (appointed as Honorary Chairman and
re-designated as non-executive director on 1 January 2014)

Executive Directors:
Ma Kai Yum (appointed as Chairman on 1 January 2014)

Chan Sheung Lai (Chief Executive Officer)
Ng Yan Kwong

Ma Hung Ming, John

Yuen Wai Man (resigned on 10 June 2013)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Lo Ming Chi, Charles

Lo Man Kit, Sam

Wong See King

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Wong See King will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and as the
date of this report still considers them to be independent.

BOARD CHANGES AND CHANGES IN
DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules is set out as follows:

BOARD CHANGES

Mr. Yuen Wai Man resigned as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 10 June 2013.

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung has been appointed as Honorary Chairman
of the Company and re-designated as non-executive director
of the Board, and has relinquished his roles as Chairman of the
Board and Chairman of the Nomination Committee with effect
from 1 January 2014,

Mr. Ma Kai Yum, executive director, has been appointed as
Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 1 January 2014.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the directors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 7 to 11 of
the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung had entered into a service contract with the
Company. The contract has no fixed terms of engagement and
is subject to termination by either party giving three months’
notice in writing.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

(Continued)

Mr. Chan Sheung Lai and Mr. Ng Yan Kwong had entered into
a service contract with the Company. The contract has no fixed
terms of engagement and is subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws and termination by either
party giving three months’ notice in writing.

Mr. Ma Kai Yum and Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John had no service
contract with the Company as at the end of the reporting
period.

The non-executive directors of the Company have been
appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
terminable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31
March 2014 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’
and chief executives’ interests and short positions in shares
and underlying shares”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Company’s directors, their respective spouse or
minor children to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2014, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
under the Listing Rules, were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES
(a) The Company
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N X ONCY Y § N
Bkt 2 HE & R R B

K-Z-—mE=A=+—A KRFZES
BEBTHABRARD B RAR AR
NF (RHE BHREEEN) ([ (BHR
EAE IR |) SEXVED) AR - ARBARES 1R
SRl 2 B BAR  ABERAAIRE
SR (BX R B2 AT
FEZERMA: RBE LRI T
BIZE 517 A1 B A2 7 R T 2 s AR
M

P
(@) A2

Underlying Percentage
Number of ordinary shares held shares of the
and nature of interest pursuant to Company’s
Personal Family Other  share options issued share
Name of director Capacity interests interests interests (note 1) Total capital
REEREL BALH
BREERRAEARELZNE RBERHHA BETRA
B2pg % AR RIkER HipiEs (B&E1) At BAl
Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner, 240,894,172 9,300,000 259,129,025 3,000,000 512,323,197 41.02
ENE interest of spouse and (note 2) (note 3)
beneficiary of trust GEZ) (F33)
ERfBA EREGR
BREZBEA
Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner, interest 51,834,260 3,200,000 101,201,040 - 166,235,300 12.51
SN of spouse and (note 4) (notes 5 & 6)
beneficiary of trust (Fit34) (ft 35%06)
EafiBA RREGR
BRZBEA
Chan Sheung Lai Beneficial owner - - - 11,000,000 11,000,000 0.88
R E ERBAA
Ng Yan Kwong Beneficial owner 13,000,000 - - 3,500,000 16,500,000 1.32
REBX ExfBA
Ma Hung Ming, John Beneficial owner, 8,810,000 3,044,000 - 2,000,000 13,854,000 1.1
B interest of spouse (note 7)
ERlA AREBER (F3E7)
Lo Ming Chi, Charles Beneficial owner - - - 150,000 150,000 0.01
SRE E&EBA
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(continued)

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued)

(a) The Company (continued)

Notes:

FEHERFEITHRAER R &A

D 2R RRE ()

i P -AE §
(@) AZ2E (4)
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Q)

The underlying shares represent interests of options
granted to the Directors and senior executive under the
Share Option Scheme to acquire shares of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 38 to the
financial statements under the section headed “Share
Option Scheme”.

The shares were owned by Cheung Lin Kiu, the spouse of
Ma Kai Cheung.

Ma Kai Cheung and his family are the objects of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire
issued share capital of Regent World Investments Limited
(“Regent World”) and 70% of the entire issued share
capital of Bond Well Investments Limited (‘Bond Well”).
At the end of the reporting period, Regent World owned
184,121,625 shares and Bond Well owned 75,007,400
shares of the Company.

The shares were owned by Kwok Kit Mei, the spouse of
Ma Kai Yum.

Ma Kai Yum and his family are the objects of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire issued
share capital of Grand Wealth Investments Limited (“Grand
Wealth”) and Peaceful World Limited (“Peaceful World”).
At the end of the reporting period, Grand Wealth owned
74,651,040 shares and Peaceful World owned 19,050,000
shares of the Company.

Peaceful World owns the entire issued share capital of
Real Potential Limited (“Real Potential”). At the end of
the reporting period, Real Potential owned 7,500,000
shares of the Company. The interests of Real Potential in
the Company are therefore deemed to be the interests of
Peaceful World in which Ma Kai Yum is also deemed to
have interests for the reason as stated in note 5 above.

The shares were owned by Choi Ka Man, Carmen, the
spouse of Ma Hung Ming, John.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

R FEATRA B R RS &M
Bl Mk 2 B & T B (0

(continued)
LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued) Ry Z iR (8
(b) Subsidiaries (b) B A H]
Percentage of
the subsidiary’s
issued share
Name of Number of Type of capital (ordinary
Name of subsidiary director Capacity shares held shares shares)
M E AR
ERITREABDL
WEAREE EspH L) RO E fR 42 5 Rl (EERH)
Carrianna Chiu Chow Ma Kai Yum Beneficiary of trust 15,000 Ordinary 1.5
Restaurant (T.S.T.) Limited B
EEHHMBE SNH FREXEA Efaliy
(D) BRAR
Ginza Development Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 15 Ordinary 2.5
Company Limited N
SWHERBRLA ENE EREAA gl
Ginza Development Ma Kai Yum Beneficiary of trust 18 Ordinary 3
Company Limited B
SWHEREBRLA SNH FREXEA Efaliy
Gartrend Development Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
Limited N deferred
ERERERAA BNE ExEBA BRER TER
ERERG
Gartrend Development Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
Limited N deferred N
FRERERAA SN ExEBA BRER TEH
RERG
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 9,000 Non-voting N/A
N deferred N
ENE EREAA BRTIE ki
RERG
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 1,000 Non-voting N/A
N deferred N
SN LE TN wE &R
RERG
EREEREM Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner N/A N/A 15
ERAT B R i
SNE EnEBA TEH MEH
LEEEFERER Ma Hung Ming, Beneficial owner N/A N/A 15
BRARA John - - -
H5 EnEBA TER PEH
REEEHER Ma Hung Ming, Beneficial owner N/A N/A 10
BRAT John -
558 ExBEBA TEH TEA

47



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2014

Report of the Directors
EROGWMEE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(continued)

LLONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued)

In addition to the above, Ma Kai Cheung and Ma Kai Yum have
non-beneficial personal equity interests in certain subsidiaries
held for the benefit of the Group solely for the purpose
of complying with their minimum company membership
requirements.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2014, none of the
directors and chief executive had registered an interest or
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company, or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be
recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
AND CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as detailed in note 45 to the financial statements, no
contracts of significance to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, was a party and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the
Company’s directors, including independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Group, any consultant,
advisor or agent engaged by or business/joint venture partners
of any member of the Group. The Scheme became effective on
10 October 2005 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out
in note 38 to the financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) E§ H& % ﬁ‘ EJ (%)
The following table discloses movements in the Company’'s  RE A - RIFAR A AEIRER &M RITHEZ
share options outstanding during the year: ElEgsmT:
Number of share options
BREHE
Date of Exercise
At1 Granted  Exercised Forfeited At 31 grant of Exercise price of At grant
April during during during March share period of share date of
2013 the year the year the year 2014 options® share options options™ options
HKS HK$
per share per share
i
i “E-IE
—E-=% RER RER RER =B Bl TEBERE [igid ] RERE
mA-H B ix:d P =t-B BRERH B REER" BHzAH

SlAn  BRAT

Non-Executive Director

FUGES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung 3,000,000 - - - 3000000  18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
ENBLE 17-12-2016
Executive Directors
HiTEs
Mr. Ma Kai Yum 7,000,000 - (7,000,000) - - 26-10-2005 26-10-2005 to 0.30 0.30
SN 25-10-2015
3,000,000 - (3,000,000) - - 18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
17-12-2016
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai 3,000,000 - - - 3000000  22-10-2012 22-10-2013 10 0.824 0.824
REBLE 21-10-2017
3,000,000 - - - 3000000 @ 22-10-2012 22-10-2014 to 0.824 0.824
21-10-2017
3,000,000 - - - 3000000 @ 22-10-2012 22-10-2015 to 0.824 0.824
21-10-2017
- 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 2-7-2013 2-7-2013 10 1.51 1.51
1-7-2016
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John 7,000,000 - (7,000,000 - - 26-10-2005 26-10-2005 to 0.30 0.30
BESLE 25-10-2015
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000  18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
17-12-2016
500,000 - (500,000) - - 3-1-2011 3-1-2012 to 1.03 1.03
2-1-2014
1,000,000 - (1,000,000) - - 24-4-2012 31-12-2012 to 0.71 0.71
11-5-2017
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 24-4-2012 31-12-2013 to 0.71 0.71
11-5-2017
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong 500,000 - (500,000) - - 3-1-2011 3-1-2012 10 1.08 1.08
REREE 2-1-2014
1,500,000 - (1,500,000) - - 24-4-2012 31-12-2012 to 0.7 0.7
11-5-2017
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 24-4-2012 31-12-2013 to 0.7 0.7
11-5-2017
- 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 2-7-2013 2-7-2013 to 1.51 1.51
1-7-2016
36,000,000 4,000,000  (20,500,000) - 19,500,000
Independent
Non-Executive Director
BUHTES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles 150,000 - - - 150,000  18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
BRBEE 17-12-2016
150,000 - - - 150,000
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) % H& *E EJ (%)
Number of share options
BREHE
Date of Exercise
At1 Granted  Exercised Forfeited At 31 grant of Exercise price of At grant
April during during during March share period of share date of
2013 the year the year the year 2014 options® share options options™ options
HKS HK$
per share per share
I
A —Z-mF
—E-=f RE RER RER =A B fTEBRE i3 | RERE
mA-H B % %% =t-B ERERE il REER RHizAH
AT BhET
Other employees
S
150,000 - - (150,000) - 18-12-2006 18-12-2006 to 1.30 1.30
17-12-2016
2,000,000 - (2,000,000 - - 3-1-2011 3-1-2012 to 1.03 1.08
2-1-2014
1,000,000 - (1,000,000 - - 3-1-2011 3-1-2013 to 1.03 1.08
2-1-2015
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 3-1-2011 3-1-2014 to 1.03 1.08
2-1-2016
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 3-1-2011 3-1-2015to 1.03 1.08
2-1-2017
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 3-1-2011 3-1-2016 to 1.03 1.08
2-1-2018
400,000 - (400,000) - - 24-4-2012 31-12-2012 10 0.7 0.7
11-5-2017
400,000 - - - 400,000 24-4-2012 31-12-2013 10 0.7 0.7
11-5-2017
- 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 2-7-2013 2-7-2013 to 1.51 1.51
1-7-2016
Non employees
¥ES
2,000,000 - (2,000,000) - - 15-2-2013 156-8-2013 to 0.71 0.71
11-6-2017
2,000,000 - (2,000,000) - - 16-2-2013 16-2-2014 to 0.71 0.7
11-6-2017
- 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 2-7-2013 Note 13 1.51 1.51
10,950,000 8,000,000  (7,400,000) (150,000) 11,400,000
In aggregate 5t 47,100,000 12,000,000  (27,900,000) (160,000) 31,050,000
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Note: The Company has granted share options to an external
consultant for service to be rendered to the Company. The
commencement of the exercise period of the share options
will depend on the date of service rendered. As at 31 March
2014, the consultant has not yet rendered the service to the
Group.

Notes to reconciliation of share options outstanding during the year:

* The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the
grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

> The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in
the Company’s share capital.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2014, according to the register kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as was
known to the Directors, the following persons or corporations
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company)
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO:

FENR K

R-_ZT—NE=ZA=+—08 BEAAFIER
(BEREEED) F336IFFE 2 E MR
IR ARBEBEBEA THALHAR (I
IARRNBBEEREBITRAR) EARRZK
D RAEBRMDEREZSAR  YERE B
HNMHEIEN) FEXVELE29 28 & B3 Zh1E
B

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES Rz R
Number of Percentage of the
ordinary Company’s issued
Name of shareholder Capacity Notes shares held share capital
P BART
TERRK 4% P EEREA ERTRABIL
East Asia International Trustee a 360,330,065 28.85
Trustees Limited EFEA
Golden Yield Holdings Limited Interest in controlled b 259,129,025 20.75
corporations
RENAER
Regent World Investments Limited Holding corporation b 184,121,625 14.74
BIRAE
Wealthy Platform Limited Interest in controlled c 101,201,040 8.10
corporations
RERAER
Bond Well Investments Limited Holding corporation b 75,007,400 6.01
R A7)
Grand Wealth Investments Limited Holding corporation c 74,651,040 5.98

BRA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)
LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (continued)

Notes:

a.

East Asia International Trustees Limited (“EAIT”) is the trustee of
a discretionary trust of which Mr. Ma Kai Cheung and his family
are the objects and through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden
Yield Holdings Limited (“Golden Yield”), EAIT was indirectly
interested in 259,129,025 shares of the Company. EAIT is also
the trustee of a discretionary trust of which Mr. Ma Kai Yum
and his family are the objects and through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Wealthy Platform Limited (“Wealthy Platform”), EAIT
was indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares in the Company.
As at the balance sheet date, EAIT was effectively interested in a
total of 360,330,065 shares of the Company.

Golden Yield owns the entire issued share capital of Regent
World and 70% of the entire issued share capital of Bond Well,
was indirectly interested in a total of 259,129,025 shares of
the Company. The total shares held by both Regent World and
Bond Well are the same block of shares as disclosed in “Other
interests” of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung under the section headed
“Directors’ Interests in the Securities of the Group” set out
above.

Wealthy Platform owns the entire issued share capital of Grand
Wealth and Peaceful World and indirect owns the entire issued
share capital of Real Potential through Peaceful World, was
indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares of the Company.
The total shares held by Grand Wealth, Peaceful World and
Real Potential are the same block of shares as disclosed in
“Other interests” of Mr. Ma Kai Yum under the section headed
“Directors’ Interests in the Securities of the Group” set out
above.

Save as disclosed above, the directors of the Company are
not aware of any other persons who, as at 31 March 2014,
had registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company in the register that was
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS OF THE LISTING RULES

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OBLIGATION OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS (RULE 13.18 OF
CHAPTER 13)

The agreement for the following loan to the Group imposes
specific performance obligations on the controlling shareholders
of the Company:

AT RRGED EEREARE
E?ﬁﬁz%%( + =% %13.18
%

T TAKREERZ HERERNRE 2HE
BERARERITEEL:

Outstanding balance of Specific
banking facilities as at Final maturity of performance
31 March 2014 banking facilities obligations
HK$’000
R=-ZB-—NFE=A=+—H BITERREEHA BEBTEE
REBRITERGE
TET
51,064 22 Jan 2019 (Note)
—_E-NF—-HAZ+=H (Bft&E)

Note:

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, the Honorary Chairman and the controlling
shareholder of the Company, holds 41.02% shareholding interest in the
Company, and Mr. Ma Kai Yum, the Chairman of the Company, holds
12.51% shareholding interest in the Company, undertakes to maintain
for a total of at least 51% of the shares of the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected transactions for the year are set out in
note 45 to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions
which need to be disclosed as connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

o4
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors; at least 25% of the
Company'’s total issued share capital was held by public as at
the date of this report.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Company. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard under the
Model Code for the year ended 31 March 2014.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 12 to 26.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lo Ming
Chi, Charles (Chairman), Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong
See King.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting
matters including the review of the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2014.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

According to the Corporate Governance Code, the Company
has established its Remuneration Committee in April 2005.
The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lo Man
Kit, Sam (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles and Mr. Wong
See King. A set of written terms of reference, which described
the authority and duties of the remuneration committee, was
adopted by the Board on 1 April 2005, amended and restated
on 26 March 2012.

The Remuneration Committee’s objectives are to establish and
maintain an appropriate and competitive level of remuneration
to attract, retain and motivate directors and key executives to
run the Company successfully. The Remuneration Committee
will ensure that the remuneration policies and systems of the
Group support the Group’s objective and strategies.

The remuneration details of directors during the year are set out
in note 8 to the financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive
director and three independent non-executive directors of
the Company, including Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman), Mr. Lo
Ming Chi, Charles, Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong See
King.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendation to the nomination of Directors with a view
to appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board confirmed that the Company has received from
each of its independent non-executive directors an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and still considers all of the independent non-
executive directors to be independent.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

OUTLOOK

The Group will continue to develop and grow while maintaining
its healthy financial position and solid business foundation to
create long-term shareholder value.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2014
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Independent auditors’ report
% 1 ¥ B

e
EY =i

To the shareholders of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages
60 to 229, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31 March 2014, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of
the Group as at 31 March 2014, and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

23 June 2014
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or LLoss

A E MR

Year ended 31 March 2014 #ZE_-F—MFE=H=+—HI FE

2014 2013
—E—-mF —T—=4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 7 FET TAT
REVENUE WA 5 1,013,101 748,479
Cost of sales $HE AR (560,288) (401,851)
Gross profit EH 452,813 346,628
Other income and gains, net Ha g A R e FEE 240,331 230,323
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (139,759) (165,277)
Administrative expenses TBRAX (139,740) (137,426)
Other expenses, net HimL  F58 (58,508) (7,648)
Finance costs B R AR 7 (43,194) (47,305)
Share of loss of an associate Dh— R E R EEE (13,889) (5,420)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RR B Al V% A 6 298,054 213,875
Income tax expense Frisfimz 10 (81,740) (46,296)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 216,314 167,579
Attributable to: e -
Owners of the parent ISENEIE7Z =N 11 195,629 153,427
Non-controlling interests FEVE IR = 20,685 14,152
216,314 167,579
HK cents HK cents
B B
EARNINGS PER SHARE BRAREBERESEARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EEREF
EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT 13
Basic KR 16.07 13.35
Diluted e 15.88 12.63

Details of the dividends proposed for the year are disclosed in

note 12 to the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
GaamlARR

Year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ=F—F=H=+—HIFZ

2014 2013
—E-mEF —ET-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 5 FERT FET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 216,314 167,579
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hia2mEmWA
INCOME
Other comprehensive income to BREZEBREEHHEE
be reclassified to profit or loss in Bmz EMEmEBA :
subsequent periods:
Available-for-sale investments: —H HERE:
Changes in fair value N EEE) 464,833 260,951
Reclassification adjustment BMEFTASGREEmK
for gain included in the ZHEWRZ
consolidated statement of B HERAE
profit or loss on disposal 6 (152,315) (38,389)
312,518 222,562
Exchange differences on translation & /GINER 2 [EH =R
of foreign operations 26,3883 10,601
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AFEEHM2EBA
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 339,401 233,163
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AFEERXHBAERE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 555,715 400,742
Attributable to: JEAR -
Owners of the parent ISTNSIEZ PPN 531,411 385,478
Non-controlling interests SRR IR HE 2 24,304 15,264
555,715 400,742
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b 6 R &

31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

2014 2013
—E—-mF —E—=F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B 5T FHET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB NEE 14 489,248 479,916
Investment properties KEME 15 1,547,416 1,501,351
Prepaid land lease payments TAf A EFRIR 16 14,820 13,051
Goodwil EES 17 40,111 40,111
Other intangible assets HEtEEEE 18 399,732 399,732
Investment in a joint venture NG ERAIZIRE 20 - -
Interests in associates A /NI 21 347,809 253,323
Available-for-sale investments A HERE 22 522,144 180,657
Financial assets at fair value through &2 2 F(EFIEE KRB+
profit or loss EESMEE 23 4,654 15,313
Properties under development BERPYE 25 982,718 964,595
Structured deposit ERBMETER 24 - 12,250
Pledged time deposits EEAEEBFR 29 61,564 29,661
Deposits for purchases of land and B E ti N IEFE S
buildings 63,817 890
Total non-current assets FERBEERE 4,474,033 3,890,850
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties under development BRPYE 25 99,507 604,216
Properties held for sale RIELEMSE 816,192 350,327
Inventories A 26 37,148 47,132
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEUER R - 24 &
T RIE 27 261,574 208,677
Due from directors U = = 508 28 1,776 =
Financial asset at fair value through 2 A F(EFIEE KRR BZEH
profit or loss BEZEREE 23 100,415 -
Derivative financial instrument TESMIT A 34 - 32,477
Structured deposits EBMETER 24 24,993 69,393
Restricted cash BRHIIRE 29 10,123 13,013
Pledged time deposits EEAEEBTFR 29 6,477 13,865
Cash and cash equivalents HeMkIREEMEEH 29 362,994 479,413
1,721,199 1,818,513
Available-for-sale investments DEAEFENE 2 A #t
classified as held for sale HERE 22 - 773,711
Total current assets mMEEELE 1,721,199 2,592,224
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Consolidated Statement of Fmanc1al Position

AT ’J% ik I
31 March 2014 —ZFE—HFE=A=+—H
2014 2013
—E-MF —ET-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 5 FExT FET
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade creditors FERTE SRR 30 (139,427) (108,064)
Sundry creditors, accruals and H At FE T BR SR
deposits received FEETE A );z Bl e (377,504) (723,072)
Due to directors S E SR 45(c) (3,070) (5,986)
Due to non-controlling shareholders & < JE4% Hxﬂxﬁ 45(c) (8,275) (5,833)
Interest-bearing bank and other By B 2 #R77 R EH Aty fﬁ“
borrowings 31 (559,163) (695,343)
Finance lease payables FENmERE 32 (776) (740)
Derivative financial instrument PTESMTA 34 (2,508) (3,046)
Deferred income EIEUW A 35 (435) (527)
Convertible notes CIE:Yi €2 36 - (69,392)
Tax payable e IR (193,830) (164,275)
Total current liabilities mBBEEE (1,284,988) (1,776,278)
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 436,211 815,946
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT ¥ E#AERABEE
LIABILITIES 4,910,244 4,706,796
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES #ﬁibﬁ{ﬁ
Due to directors (AN 45(c) - (22,492)
Due to non-controlling shareholders & 1< 3F 2 Hxﬂx% 45(c) (17,441) (47,083)
Interest-bearing bank and other Bt Bz #RT &Ef‘@%
borrowings 31 (352,764) (801,928)
Finance lease payables R mERE 32 (607) (1,383)
Derivative financial instrument PTESHMITA 34 (1,536) (4,224)
Deferred income EIELA 35 (213,487) (211,457)
Deposits received Bz ® (9,772) (8,227)
Deferred tax EEFIR 33 (462,283) (437,081)
Total non-current liabilities ERE B ERE (1,057,890) (1,033,875)
Net assets BEFE 3,852,354 3,672,921
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A MBI R
31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H
2014 2013
—E-mEF —E—=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FExT TAET
EQUITY % 7%
Equity attributable to owners of R EIEEN L
the parent
Issued capital BB TR 37 124,889 115,577
Reserves {1 39(a) 3,521,966 3,014,833
Proposed final and BE AR REFRRE
special dividends 12 62,494 404,520
3,709,349 3,534,930
Non-controlling interests FEFE R HE 2 143,005 137,991
Total equity EmRE 3,852,354 3,672,921

Ma Kai Yum
I% ﬁ ﬁ
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HCAMGEHR

Year ended 31 March 2014 #ZE-—F—/F=H=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRAAERAREL
Leasehold Avaiable-
land and for-sale
Share  building Share Exchange Capital investment Non-
Issued  premium  revaluation option  Goodwil equalisation redemption  Reserve  revaluation Captal  Retaned  Proposed controling Total
captal  account  reseve reseve  resene reserve reserve funds reseve  resene profits ~ dividends Total  interests equity
figti AfthE
B¥f R RET  EkE ) o RESf SR

Bx EEE EfEE R HERGE TORE EORRE Bkt Rl ARG REEN EERR &t Ba  EnlE
Notes  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS0OO  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK§'000
Wi T8 TR FEn  FEn  TEn  TEr  TEr  TEr T TEr  FEn  TEn TEn  TEn TEn

At 1 Apil 2012 RZF-Z%
TA—-A 114,442 1,275,108 56,060 8413 (86230 153,083 316 581 (204,082 (600) 1,773,017 5777 3115855 267370 3,383,225
Profit for the year REERET - = - - - - - - - - 15347 - 153427 14152 167,579
Other comprehensive income A5 EE {8 2F
for the year: WA:
Change i fai value AHEREL
of avalable-for-sale ATEED
investments = = = = = = = - 222562 = = - 22562 - 22562
Bxchange diferenceson ~ HREEHNEHZ
translation of foreign EXER
operations - - - - - 9,489 - - - - - - 9489 1,112 10,601
Total comprehensive income A E A2 EMA
for the year - - - - - 9,489 - - 202502 - 183427 - 385478 15,264 400,742
Deemed acquistton of interest 4 EWER — R
in a subsidliary R = = = = = = = = - 19,967 - - 19967 (19,967) -
Acquisiton of non-controling  AREE iR
interests - - - - - - - - - 47,057 - - 47,057 (74,637)  (27,580)
Dividends paid to EfFERREZ
non-controling RE
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - - - (50,039 (50,039
Transfer to retained :
profits upon expiry of
share options - - - (472) - - - - - - a2 - - - -
Issue of shares upon exercise {TEEMRIEZ
of share options BOED 370 0 210 - (770) - - - - - - - - 2100 - 2100
Equiy-settled share option ~ DAEE&E 2
amangements BRERS - - - 588 - - - - - - - - 588 - 588
Conversion of BRTAREE
convertible notes 37(0) 435 4,261 - - - - - - - - - - 4,702 - 4,702
Final 2012 dividend declred  ER=F—=%
12 - - - - - - - - - - (80)  (45,777) (46,067 - (46,057)
Proposed final 2013 dvidend &5
12 - - - - - - - - - - (or789 57,789 - - -
Proposed specia i
2013 dividend 12 - - - - - - - - - - (346,731 346,731 - - -

At 31 March 2013

15577 1281545 56060 12999  (86230) 162,542 316 581 (15200 66424 1522116 404520 3534930 137991 3,672,921
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Year ended 31 March 2014 #ZE_-F—MFE=H=+—HI FE

Attributable to owners of the parent
BRRBBARE
Leasehold Available-
land and for-sale
Share  building Share Exchange  Capital investment Non-
Issued  premium revaluation option  Goodwill equalisation redemption  Reserve revaluation  Capital ~ Retained Proposed controlling Total
capital account  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve funds  reserve  reserve profits ~ dividends Total interests equity
AELH e
B&f B RE#F EBRE EX -0 REEf FER
Rk BER EfiEE R BERE TORE RORE  BRe B HE4RE REEY  EBRE Eh BE  BEAE
Notes | HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
i3 Tén Thrn  TEn  TEn  TER  TEn  TEn  TER  THn  TEx  TER  TEr  TEn  TER  TER
At 1 April 2013 RZB-Z%
mA-A 115,577 1,281,545 56,060 12999 (86,230) 162,542 316 581 (1,5200 66424 1522116 404520 3534930 137,991 3,672,921
Profit for the year REEET - - - - - - - - - - 195629 - 195620 20685 216314
Other comprehensive income A& £ 12
for the year: WA
Change In fair value AfHEREZ
of avalable-for-sale AFER
investments - - - - - - - - 312518 - - - 312518 - 312518
Exchange diferenceson ~ E BN EHZ
translation of foreign EXER
operations - - - - - 23,264 - - - - - - 23,264 3619 26,883
Total comprehensive income A A2 EMA
for the year - - - - - 23,264 - - 312518 - 195629 - 531411 24304 555,715
Contrioution fomanon-~ FEERREE
controling shareholder - - - - - - - - - - - - - 22,480 22,480
Acquistions/deemed Wi /e
acquisiton of on- REBAAZ
controling interests in FERER
subsdaris - - - - - - - - - e - - (B14) (2% (38697)
Disposal of anon-controlling  HERHBAFZ
nterestin asubsidiarytoa  FEERER T
non-controling shareholder  FERERRARR - - - - - - - - - (1876 - - (1876 314 1,265
Dvidends paid to non- EREERREZ
controling shareholders e - - - - - - - - - - - - - (31676)  (37,676)
Transfer to retaned profits ~ REREERE
upon expiry of share: BRERBER
options - - - M) - - - - - - il - - - -
Issue of shares upon exercise {TEERIEZ
of share options BRi%s 37(0) 279 22,985 - (8,606) - - - - - - - - 719 - 1719
Equity-settled share option ~ JAEREE 2
amangements BREZH - - - 5070 - - - - - - - - 5070 - 5070
Conversion of comverble B TRRER
notes 37(d) 6522 8381 - - - - - - - - - - 90,393 - 90,393
Final and special 2013 EE-F-2%
diidend declared FHREIRE 12 - - - - - - - - - - BTG (4045)  (436,236) - (#36.2%9)
Proposed final 2014 dividend %
1 - - - - - - - - - - (B24%4) 62494 - -
At 31 March 2014 R
= 14869 168350 56060 9302  (G6200F 185806 36 BB 310996 33086 1620606° 62494 3709349 143005 3852354

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves & I 55 5% 45 B8 3,521,966,0008 T ( =& — =
of HK$3,521,966,000 (2013: HK$3,014,833,000) in the % :3,014,833,000/8 7t.) B B L 4r & B 15
consolidated statement of financial position. MRRKZEEHEZN-
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

N Ve EL
SAleRE
Year ended 31 March 2014 #ZE_—F—F=H=+—HILFE

2014 2013
—E-MF —ET—=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ihE=2 FHExT FHET
Profit before tax B B¢ AT 4 7 298,054 213,875
Adjustments for: FER
Bank interest income FRITH) B U A 6 (6,140) (1,516)
Other interest income E A1) B U A 6 (2,684) =
Dividend income from AHHERER KA
available-for-sale investments 6 (13,897) (66,672)
Dividend income from EAFEYERRER
financial assets at fair value FEEZRREWA
through profit or loss 6 (4,757) -
Gain on disposal of HEREYHEZ W
an investment property 6 - (8,000)
Depreciation e 6 34,127 37,827
Equity-settled share NEREE 2
option expense ERERX 5,070 5,828
Finance costs B 15 & A 7 43,194 47,305
Fair value losses/(gains), net AEEEE (W) -
FEE
Financial assets at fair value BATFEYERERR
through profit or loss Bt REz
TREE
— Held for trading -HEEE 6 (13,356) —
— Designated as such upon - RN T ERE 2
initial recognition BRAtEE 6 468 (1,243)
Available-for-sale investments AHEEERE
(transfer from equity on (R ERBEER
disposal) ) 6 (152,315) (38,389)
Derivative instruments PTETH
— transactions not qualifying —TRELHHPER
as hedges 2R 6 51,248 (38,562)
Write-down of inventories to WoR T E = 230 FE
net realisable value 6 3,423 -
Loss on disposal of items of HEME  HBEREE
property, plant and HEB 2 EE - F5
equipment, net 6 221 217
Impairment of trade debtors EUE ZEERZRIE 6 86 1,565
Recognition of prepaid land BB EREBEZ
lease payments R 6 429 409
Share of loss of an associate FE{h B = N A ES 1B 13,889 5,420
Changes in fair value of "EYMEATFE
investment properties, net EE) . HRE 6 (40,466) (70,693)
216,594 87,371
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Year ended 31 March 2014 #ZE_-F—MFE=H=+—HI FE

2014 2013
—E-mEF —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FET FET
Decrease/(increase) in EEMHEZ
properties under development mA () 522,968 (193,299)
Decrease/(increase) in RIEHEMHEZ
properties held for sale B, () (459,895) 36,949
Decrease in inventories FER D 7,401 4,784
Increase in debtors, EYERR e Rk
deposits and prepayments TR FRIBIE AN (49,505) (8,991)
Increase/(decrease) in BB SRR
trade creditors #in, Cmd) 29,422 (23,421)
Increase/(decrease) in sundry HiEMAERER
creditors, accruals and EErERREWIZS
deposits received @, CRd) (234,306) 359,807
Decrease in deferred income EEW A 27D (1,887) (10,350)
Increase in deposits received B U= 18 1,369 1,367
Increase in amounts due from JFE Uk 28 =5 FR T 38 00
directors (1,776) -
Decrease in amounts due to EREEFIAR D
directors (25,408) (8,782)
Cash generated from operations KBS ZIRE 4,977 250,435
Interest element of finance mEREReNHZ
lease rental payments B EB 17 7 (85) (98)
Hong Kong profits tax paid EREBFEHR (328) (649)
Mainland China tax paid B2 15 A B AR X (29,952) (8,997)
Net cash flows from/(used in) IR ERE, (FTA)
operating activities REMEFE (25,388) 240,691
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HABSRKER
Year ended 31 March 2014 #Z_—F—MF=H=+—HIFFE

2014 2013
—E—lmF T—=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET F&T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZH2HRERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BUERTTH B 6,140 1,516
Realised fair value loss PTESRMITAEZE#IR
on derivative financial NEEEE-TEE
instruments PR 5
— transactions not qualifying
as hedges (3,135) (3,104)
Dividend received from available- B HEHERERE
for-sale investments 13,897 66,672
Dividend received from financial BRIRAFEIIERR
assets at fair value through B ‘:F‘ BEZE/ME
profit or loss ER% B 4,757 =
Purchases of items of property, ﬂﬁ)\%% B &
plant and equipment BLRElE (36,436) (26,585)
Proceeds from disposal of HEME - BEK
items of property, plant and FEEIE B TS EIE
equipment 946 131
Purchase of available-for-sale BARHEEIELT
unlisted equity investment RIS E (30,238) =
Proceeds from disposal of HEHEEREMS
available-for-sale investments KA 806,252 239,998
Purchases of financial assets at BARLFEIER
fair value through profit or loss EA BapREZ
PREE (93,196) (10,903)
Proceeds from disposal of HERAFEIIER
financial assets at fair value i Eendacl o EEZ
through profit or loss E B E TS AT 13,356 4,341
Additions to prepaid TEf b7 iEfy’(IEijJD
land lease payments (2,003) -
Deposits paid for purchases of BETHREFZ
land and buildings EffEe (62,986) =
Purchase of an investment BAKREME
property (818) =
Proceeds from disposal of an HEREMEFSENRIEA
investment property - 26,000
Increase in pledged time deposits B E TR ZE M (31,678) (5,890)
Decrease in restricted cash BREIRE 2HD 3,127 4,273
Redemption in structured deposits ﬁ“" B 4 1 IET?T/\ 60,123 —
Investment in structured deposits % |$f RZIGE - (80,244)
Loans to an associate LRSS AT
B (81,960) -
Advances to associates LTEBERNA ZBK (23,731) (1,218)
Net cash flows from investing "E RS2
activities REmEFHE 542,417 214,987
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Year ended 31 March 2014 EZ=F—PF=HA=+—HI FZE

2014 2013
—E—mF T—=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FERT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM METHCRERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares TEIBRERRITRG
upon exercise of share options F1S k18 17,119 2,100
Proceeds from issue of EITA R Hxﬂ%)zﬁ-z
convertible notes P18 #2038 - 80,000
New bank loans 71 BR1T B 2K 455,861 544,103
Repayment of bank loans BRRITE ?ﬁ (550,638) (713,999)
Repayment of other loans BEHEMER (12,599) -
Acquisition of non-controlling W FE FE 12 Hﬂ&
interests (38,697) (27,580)
Contribution by non-controlling FEZERBRFIEE
shareholders 22,480 =
Proceeds from disposal of non- [ — &I R CR &
controlling interests to a non- FE1E th& 5
controlling shareholder P15 3R IA . 1,265 -
Changes in balances with non- R ERERE
controlling shareholders (27,270) (8,900)
Capital element of finance lease BE A AE S RA
rental payments =N (655) (589)
Dividends paid BB 2, (436,236) (46,057)
Dividends paid to non-controlling B SRR A AR
shareholders (37,676) (50,039)
Interest paid 25 F B (49,885) (61,922)
Net cash flows used in MEEBTA 2
financing activities REMEFE (656,931) (282,883)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) BHERBEEEEHE
IN CASH AND CASH #in, CRd)  BE
EQUIVALENTS (139,902) 172,795
Cash and cash equivalents F %HZ HekReEE
at beginning of year 493,278 318,966
Effect of foreign exchange rate 7 BT E  FHE
changes, net 2,988 1,517
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS F#&ZH&R
AT END OF YEAR HE&EEEH 356,364 493,278
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES BHERBEEEE
OF CASH AND CASH HE &SRz DN
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as FREMBRAERRNZEY 2
stated in the consolidated RekRE&FEEE
statement of financial position 29 362,994 479,413
Time deposits with original maturity 4 & R 21| HA B >
of less than three months when =18 A R
acquired, pledged as security 1R —MRIRTT
for general banking facilities and EEREBRITERZ
short term bank loans TE HA1F 3X 29 6,477 13,865
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 31 (13,107) -
Cash and cash equivalents as HREREMERAZYZ
stated in the consolidated RekReFEEE
statement of cash flows 356,364 493,278
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31 March 2014 =F—PF=HA=+—H

2014 2013
—E-mF —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
MIaE FET TAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries LIy EINGIE -3 19 1,561,342 1,548,191
Due from associates JrE L B o N B BR R 21 3,925 3,925
Total non-current assets SEMEBBEERE 1,565,267 1,552,116
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other receivables and deposits HEapmBE R Rize 99 99
Due from a director JEU — B EEFIE 28 1,371 =
Dividend receivable JE Uk % B 350,000 450,000
Cash and cash equivalents ReKRESFHER 29 181 677
Total current assets mMENEERE 351,651 450,776
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Sundry creditors and accruals H b e BRI N BT B (2,167) (2,853)
Due to directors JENESRIE 45(c) (33,023) (12,363)
Convertible notes AR 36 - (69,392)
Total current liabilities mEBERE (35,190) (84,608)
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 316,461 366,168
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT ¥ E#ERABERE
LIABILITIES 1,881,728 1,918,284
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBAE
Due to a director BN —REZFE 45(c) - (15,713)
Net assets BEFAE 1,881,728 1,902,571
EQUITY e
Issued capital BEITRA 37 124,889 115,577
Reserves e 39(b) 1,694,345 1,382,474
Proposed final and BEARERERIRE
special dividends 12 62,494 404,520
Total equity EmRE 1,881,728 1,902,571

Ma Kai Yum
l% fl\ ﬁl’ﬂ
Director

EF

Ng Yan Kwong

SEX
Director

EF
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31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is located
at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12,
Bermuda.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were principally
engaged in investment holding, property investment and
development, and the operations of hotel, restaurant and
food businesses.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

72

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
leasehold land and buildings, investment properties,
derivative financial instruments, and certain financial
assets which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

2.1

o>

a] % K
FEFEEZERERAT (A2 A])
E—ERBREFMNIZBERAR -
KX B 5% = Z A2 A Canon’s Court,
22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12,
Bermuda °

IS

D FF
i

FR AR NRENBAR (5 [ A&
BDNEBXRBAREZER WERE
KB RIA NS EBIE  BE R RS

R E

MBRRTDIZREL GG (BB
SETRIAE ) B2 BRI EREEL
(IFEMBREERN]) (EBEMER
B BHmEER  FEETEL ([FE
SHENDRZRE) BEELAREFR
AR FB RGP 2 WEREREL B
BHRREMBELKADEREL EARF
BEzETHELHMREFT KREY
X TEERTANETESBEERSI -
ZFMBHRRIIABTE Mk 5

GRS MEEEDABREREOZT
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2014. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests,
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described in the accounting policy for subsidiaries
below. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (i) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of
any investment retained and (jii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.
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W it & M sk

31 March 2014 =F—PF=HA=+—H
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RAKE R RRIHEE ARIFERER
BifE & 5| BUF R R AR T R AL -
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WA AR EAREERE AR ZH
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AR E R EWME QR Z I g
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31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

OPERATING CYCLE

The operating cycle of the Group for the property
investment and development business is the time
between the acquisition of assets for processing and
their realisation in cash or cash equivalents. Due to the
nature of such business, the normal operating cycle
is longer than 12 months. The Group’s current assets
include assets (such as properties under development
and properties held for sale) which are sold, consumed
or realised as part of the normal operating cycle for the
property investment and development business even
when they are not expected to be realised within 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Government
Loans

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS
HKFRS 12 Amendments 11 and HKFRS 12 - Transition
Guidance
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

HKFRS 13

HKAS 1 Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)

HKAS 27 (2011)

HKAS 28 (2011)

HKAS 36 Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20

Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

Fair Value Measurement

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements -
Presentation of ltems of Other
Comprehensive Income

Employee Benefits

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures

Amendments to HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets — Recoverable Amount
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets
(early adopted)

Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
issued in June 2012

Other than as further explained below regarding
the impact of HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12,
HKFRS 13, HKAS 19 (2011), amendments to
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 1 and
HKAS 36, and certain amendments included in Annual
Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle, the adoption of the new
and revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect
on these financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised
HKFRSs are as follows:

76

(@)

HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
that addresses the accounting for consolidated
financial statements and addresses the issues in
HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose
Entities. It establishes a single control model used
for determining which entities are consolidated.
To meet the definition of control in HKFRS 10, an
investor must have (a) power over an investee,
(b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount
of the investor’s returns. The changes introduced
by HKFRS 10 require management of the Group to
exercise significant judgement to determine which
entities are controlled.

As a result of the application of HKFRS 10,
the Group has changed the accounting policy
with respect to determining which investees are
controlled by the Group.

The application of HKFRS 10 does not change any
of the consolidation conclusions of the Group in
respect of its involvement with investees as at 1
April 2013.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 @ Bk kB E 2 E 8 (9)
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint
Ventures and HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled
Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers.
[t describes the accounting for joint arrangements
with joint control. It addresses only two forms of
joint arrangements, i.e., joint operations and joint
ventures, and removes the option to account for
joint ventures using proportionate consolidation. The
classification of joint arrangements under HKFRS
11 depends on the parties’ rights and obligations
arising from the arrangements. A joint operation is a
joint arrangement whereby the joint operators have
rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities
of the arrangement and is accounted for on a line-
by-line basis to the extent of the joint operators’
rights and obligations in the joint operation. A
joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
joint venturers have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement and is required to be accounted for
using the equity method in accordance with HKAS
28 (2011).

The application of HKFRS 11 has had no impact
on the Group’s results of operations or financial
position.

(b)
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 @i Bk kB EZEH (9)
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

78

(©

HKFRS 12 sets out the disclosure requirements for
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and
structured entities previously included in HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements,
HKAS 31 /Interests in Joint Ventures and HKAS
28 Investments in Associates. It also introduces a
number of new disclosure requirements for these
entities.

Details of the disclosures for subsidiaries and
associates are included in notes 19 and 21 to the
financial statements.

The HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12
Amendments clarify the transition guidance in
HKFRS 10 and provide further relief from full
retrospective application of these standards, limiting
the requirement to provide adjusted comparative
information to only the preceding comparative
period. The amendments clarify that retrospective
adjustments are only required if the consolidation
conclusion as to which entities are controlled by the
Group is different between HKFRS 10 and HKAS
27 or HK(SIC)-Int 12 at the beginning of the annual
period in which HKFRS 10 is applied for the first
time.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

C

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value
and a single source of fair value measurement and
disclosure requirements for use across HKFRSs.
The standard does not change the circumstances
in which the Group is required to use fair value,
but rather provides guidance on how fair value
should be applied where its use is already required
or permitted under other HKFRSs. HKFRS 13
is applied prospectively and the adoption has
had no material impact on the Group’s fair value
measurements. As a result of the guidance in
HKFRS 13, the policies for measuring fair value
have been amended. Additional disclosures required
by HKFRS 13 for the fair value measurements of
investment properties and financial instruments
are included in notes 15 and 47 to the financial
statements.

The HKAS 1 Amendments change the grouping of
items presented in other comprehensive income
(“OCI"). ltems that could be reclassified (or recycled)
to profit or loss at a future point in time (for example,
exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations, net movement on cash flow hedges and
net loss or gain on available-for-sale financial assets)
are presented separately from items which will never
be reclassified (for example, the revaluation of land
and buildings). The amendments have affected the
presentation only and have had no impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group. In
addition, the Group has chosen to use the new title
“statement of profit or loss” as introduced by the
amendments in these financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

80

AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)
@

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments
that range from fundamental changes to simple
clarifications and re-wording. The revised standard
introduces significant changes in the accounting for
defined benefit pension plans including removing
the choice to defer the recognition of actuarial gains
and losses. Other changes include modifications to
the timing of recognition for termination benefits, the
classification of short-term employee benefits and
disclosures of defined benefit plans. As the Group
does not have any defined benefit plan or employee
termination plan and the Group does not have any
significant employee benefits that are expected
to be settled for more than twelve months after
the reporting period, the adoption of the revised
standard has had no effect on the financial position
or performance of the Group.

The HKAS 36 Amendments remove the unintended
disclosure requirement made by HKFRS 13 on
the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit
which is not impaired. In addition, the amendments
require the disclosure of the recoverable amounts
for the assets or cash-generating units for which
an impairment loss has been recognised or
reversed during the reporting period, and expand
the disclosure requirements regarding the fair value
measurement for these assets or units if their
recoverable amounts are based on fair value less
costs of disposal. The amendments are effective
retrospectively for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2014 with earlier application
permitted, provided HKFRS 13 is also applied. The
Group has early adopted the amendments in these
financial statements. The amendments have had no
impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 & :l ik ki BE 2 &8 (@)
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(i)

Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle issued
in June 2012 sets out amendments to a number
of standards. There are separate transitional
provisions for each standard. While the adoption
of some of the amendments may result in changes
in accounting policies, none of these amendments
have had a significant financial impact on the Group.
Details of the key amendments most applicable to
the Group are as follows:

° HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
Clarifies the difference between voluntary
additional comparative information and the
minimum required comparative information.
Generally, the minimum required comparative
period is the previous period. An entity must
include comparative information in the related
notes to the financial statements when it
voluntarily provides comparative information
beyond the previous period. The additional
comparative information does not need to
contain a complete set of financial statements.

In addition, the amendment clarifies that
the opening statement of financial position
as at the beginning of the preceding period
must be presented when an entity changes
its accounting policies; makes retrospective
restatements or makes reclassifications,
and that change has a material effect on
the statement of financial position. However,
the related notes to the opening statement
of financial position as at the beginning of
the preceding period are not required to be
presented.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(i)  (Continued)

° HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation:
Clarifies that income taxes arising from
distributions to equity holders are accounted
for in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome
Taxes. The amendment removes existing
income tax requirements from HKAS 32 and
requires entities to apply the requirements
in HKAS 12 to any income tax arising from
distributions to equity holders.

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE
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HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,
in the financial statements.

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 9, HKFRS 7 and
HKAS 39 Amendments

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12
and HKAS 27 (2011)
Amendments

HKFRS 11 Amendments

HKFRS 14

82

Financial Instruments*

Heage Accounting and amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 7 and HKAS 39*

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011)
- Investment Entities'

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
in Joint Qperations®

Reguilatory Deferral Accounts®
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKAS 16 and HKAS 38
Amendments

HKAS 19 Amendments

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation®

Amendments to HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions?
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HKAS 32 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities’
HKAS 39 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Novation of
Derivatives and Continuation of
Heage Accounting'
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies'
Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
2010-2012 Cycle issued in January 20142
Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
2011-2013 Cycle issued in January 20142

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2014

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2014

& Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements
beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and not applicable to
the Group

- No mandatory effective date yet determined but is
available for adoption

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2016
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

84

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of
phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely replace
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification
and measurement of financial assets. Instead of
classifying financial assets into four categories, an entity
shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured
at either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both
the entity’s business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the financial assets. This aims to improve and simplify
the approach for the classification and measurement of
financial assets compared with the requirements of HKAS
39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to
HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”)
and incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition
principles of financial instruments of HKAS 39. Most
of the Additions were carried forward unchanged from
HKAS 39, while changes were made to the measurement
of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through
profit or loss using the fair value option (“FVO”). For these
FVO liabilities, the amount of change in the fair value of a
liability that is attributable to changes in credit risk must
be presented in OCI. The remainder of the change in fair
value is presented in profit or loss, unless presentation of
the fair value change in respect of the liability’s credit risk
in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in profit or loss. However, loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts which have been designated under
the FVO are scoped out of the Additions.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

In December 2013, the HKICPA added to HKFRS 9
the requirements related to hedge accounting and
made some related changes to HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
which include the corresponding disclosures about risk
management activity for applying hedge accounting.
The amendments to HKFRS 9 relax the requirements
for assessing hedge effectiveness which result in more
risk management strategies being eligible for hedge
accounting. The amendments also allow greater
flexibility on the hedged items and relax the rules on
using purchased options and non-derivative financial
instruments as hedging instruments. In addition, the
amendments to HKFRS 9 allow an entity to apply only the
improved accounting for own credit risk-related fair value
gains and losses arising on FVO liabilities as introduced in
2010 without applying the other HKFRS 9 requirements at

the same time.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its
entirety. Before this entire replacement, the guidance in
HKAS 39 on impairment of financial assets continues to
apply. The previous mandatory effective date of HKFRS
9 was removed by the HKICPA in December 2013 and
a mandatory effective date will be determined after the
entire replacement of HKAS 39 is completed. However,
the standard is available for application now. The Group
will quantify the effect in conjunction with other phases,

when the final standard including all phases is issued.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

86

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 include a definition of an
investment entity and provide an exception to the
consolidation requirement for entities that meet the
definition of an investment entity. Investment entities
are required to account for subsidiaries at fair value
through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9 rather
than consolidate them. Consequential amendments
were made to HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011). The
amendments to HKFRS 12 also set out the disclosure
requirements for investment entities. The Group expects
that these amendments will not have any impact on the
Group as the Company is not an investment entity as
defined in HKFRS 10.

The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of
“currently has a legally enforceable right to set off” for
offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. The
amendments also clarify the application of the offsetting
criteria in HKAS 32 to settlement systems (such as central
clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement
mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group upon adoption on 1
April 2014.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
statement of profit or loss to the extent of dividends
received and receivable. The Company’s investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the Group’s share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate
or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint
ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest
is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues
to be accounted for under the equity method. In all
other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the
associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount
of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in
profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture
is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope
of HKAS 39 is measured at a fair value with changes
in fair value either recognised in profit or loss or as a
change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is not within the scope of HKAS 39, it is
measured in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of disposed operation and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and equity investments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, financial assets, investment properties,
goodwill and non-current assets classified as held for
sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

24 FEGHBKEZBME )

AFHEEE 8
MIRE BN S REEROEERE
ERES AEMBBRSRERRET
SESE (BN AT ESERENS
BEANSEERASE RTR2ER
EENGET 2

Ik & B % A W

WA PFRBER D BRER AR EEETT
FERENRA (78 SREE REY
X BERDBRABELEZFRDE
ERRSN) - Rl At BE 2 AT YR B 28 -
BEZAKREBEREEXRSELSE
Nz EREERERATFEBMEENL L
Ka®E  YHEREEMEE  BIFFH
BEYEELRSRAA BEBRRKREE
EBIREMEESEERR - ELIT
AT AIREREREENE cREE
A BB T HEE



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for
that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

() has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

()  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(ivy one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

(vl a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after
items of property, plant and equipment have been put
into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as
follows:
Hotel properties Over the lease terms
Leasehold land under

finance leases Over the lease terms
Buildings 2.5% to 3%
Leasehold improvements 5% to 20%
Plant and machinery 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15% to 20%
Motor vehicles 20% to 25%
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating
lease for a property which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of
profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND DISPOSAL
GROUPS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered
principally through a sales transaction rather than through
continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset or
disposal group must be available for immediate sale in
its present condition subject only to terms that are usual
and customary for the sale of such assets or disposal
groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets
and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group
are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether
the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former
subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for
sale are not depreciated or amortised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN
GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful life of intangible asset is
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible asset
with finite life is subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets represent the rights to purchase
pre-determined lots of land pursuant to legal binding
agreements. Intangible assets are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Intangible assets are amortised to properties under
development as land costs in accordance with the future
acquisition patterns of these pre-determined lots of land
within the unexpired periods of the agreements.

LEASES

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the
inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease
payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and
financing. Assets held under capitalised finance leases,
including prepaid land lease payment under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss
SO as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES (Continued)

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable
under operating leases are charged to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land
and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are
included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance
lease in property, plant and equipment.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value and comprise land costs,
construction costs, borrowing costs, professional fees
and other costs directly attributable to such properties
incurred during the development period.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sale.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of
the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets
recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the
near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with positive net changes in fair value presented as other
income and gains and negative net changes in fair value
presented as other expenses in the statement of profit
or loss. These net fair value changes do not include any
dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are
not held for trading or designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation and the loss arising from impairment are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments.
Equity investments classified as available for sale are
those which are neither classified as held for trading nor
designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss in other income, or until
the investment is determined to be impaired, when the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-
for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the statement of
profit or loss in other expenses. Dividends earned whilst
holding the available-for-sale financial investments are
reported as dividend income and are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss as other income in accordance
with the policy set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability
in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,
such investments are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention
to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near
term are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances,
the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due
to inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify
these financial assets if management has the ability and
intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or
until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date
of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and
any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective interest
rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and
the maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining
life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the
asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the
amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears
or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
(Continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been
incurred). The present value of the estimated future
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and
is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with
any associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-
off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

(Continued)

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets
are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a group
of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in the statement of profit or loss, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the
original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against
the period in which the fair value has been below its
original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised
in the statement of profit or loss — is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed through
the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair
value after impairment are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or
loans and borrowings, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the
near term. This category includes derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships
as defined by HKAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or
losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: () the
amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Convertible notes

The component of convertible notes that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in
the statement of financial position, net of transaction
costs. On issuance of convertible notes, the fair value of
the liability component is determined using a market rate
for an equivalent non-convertible note; and this amount
is carried as a long term liability on the amortised cost
basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The
remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion
option that is recognised and included in shareholders’
equity, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of
the conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent
years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the
liability and equity components of the convertible notes
based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability
and equity components when the instruments are first
recognised.

If the conversion option of convertible notes exhibits
characteristics of an embedded derivative, it is separated
from its liability component. On initial recognition,
the derivative component of the convertible notes is
measured at fair value and presented as part of derivative
financial instruments. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the derivative component
is recognised as the liability component. Transaction
costs are apportioned between the liability and derivative
components of the convertible notes based on the
allocation of proceeds to the liability and derivative
components when the instruments are initially recognised.
The portion of the transaction costs relating to the liability
component is recognised initially as part of the liability.
The portion relating to the derivative component is
recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
interest rate swaps, to hedge its interest rate risk. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value on an individual property basis.
Cost includes all development expenditure, applicable
borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to
such properties. Net realisable value is estimated by the
directors by reference to the prevailing market price.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted
as to use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the statement of profit or loss.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the jurisdictions/countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill
or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INCOME TAX (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@)

from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold;

income from the restaurant and food businesses, at
the point of sale to customers;

income from the sale of completed properties, on
the exchange of legally binding unconditional sales
contracts;

rental income, in the period in which the properties
are let out and on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms;

hotel and other service income, in the period in
which such services are rendered;

interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset; and

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants (including the Company’s directors and
other employees of the Group, any consultant, advisor
or agent engaged by or business/joint venture partners
of any member of the Group) who render services and/
or contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including directors) and advisor of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees/advisors render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of
the services received at the date they are received. Where
the market information for the services provided by non-
employees cannot be reliably determined, the fair value of
the share options granted at the date when the services
are received is applied as a surrogate measure. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 38 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

No expense is recognised for awards that do not
ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions
where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting
condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in central pension schemes (the “CP Schemes”)
operated by respective local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their covered payroll to the CP Schemes to
fund their benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the CP Schemes is to pay the ongoing required
contributions under the CP Schemes. Contributions under
the CP Schemes are charged to the statement of profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the CP Schemes.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
DIVIDENDS

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as
a separate allocation of retained profits within the equity
section of the statement of financial position, until they
have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by
the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a
liability.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries,
associates and the joint venture are currencies other
than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Company
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statement of profit or loss are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in a separate component of
equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the
Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately (or leased out separately under
a finance lease), the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
Judgement is made on an individual property basis to
determine whether ancillary services are so significant that
a property does not qualify as an investment property.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and
properties held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and
properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Judgement is made by management in
determining whether a property is designated as an
investment property or a property held for sale. The
Group considers its intention of holding the properties
at the early development stage of the related properties.
During the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties under
development if the properties are intended for sale after
its completion, whereas, the properties are accounted
for as investment properties under construction if the
properties are intended to be held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation. Upon completion of the
properties, the properties held for sale are transferred to
completed properties held for sale and are stated at cost,
while the properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation are transferred to investment properties and
are subject to revaluation at each reporting date.

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount

of goodwill at 31 March 2014 was HK$40,111,000 (2013:
HK$40,111,000). Further details are given in note 17.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The Group engaged independent professionally qualified
valuers to perform the valuation of the investment
properties of the Group at the end of the reporting period.
The valuations were carried out as follows:

In the valuation, the valuers consider information from a
variety of sources, including:

(@) direct comparison approach and made reference to
the recent transactions for similar premises in the
proximity;

(b) discounted cash flow analysis which discounts
the projected free cash flows generated from the
properties at an appropriate market rate of return to
arrive at the present values of the properties; and

(c) a combination of the market and depreciated
replacement cost approach in assessing the land
portion of the properties and the buildings and
structures standing on the land respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties
(Continued)

The carrying amount of investment properties of the
Group as at 31 March 2014 was HK$1,547,416,000
(2013: HK$1,501,351,000). Further details, including the
key assumptions used for fair value measurement, are
given in note 15 to the financial statements.

Estimation of fair value of other intangible assets

The Group engaged independent professionally qualified
valuers to perform the valuation of the intangible assets
of the Group at the date of acquisition of a subsidiary.
Such valuation was based on certain assumptions, which
are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ
from the actual results. The carrying amount of other
intangible assets of the Group as at 31 March 2014 was
HK$399,732,000 (2013: HK$399,732,000).

Corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to income taxes in the People
Republic of China (“PRC”). As a result of the fact that
certain matters relating to the income taxes have not been
confirmed by the local tax bureau, objective estimate
and judgement based on currently enacted tax laws,
regulations and other related policies are required in
determining the provision for income taxes to be made.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts originally recorded, the differences will
impact on the income tax and tax provisions in the period
in which the differences realise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision
for LAT is based on management’s best estimates
according to the understanding of the requirements set
forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The
actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by
the tax authorities upon the completion of the property
development projects. As the Group has not finalised its
LAT calculation and payments with the tax authorities
for certain of its property development projects, the final
outcome could be different from the amounts that were
initially recorded.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested
for impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows for the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets
relating to recognised tax losses at 31 March 2014 was
HK$1,735,000 (2013: HK$1,807,000). Further details are
contained in note 33 to the financial statements.

Recognition and allocation of construction costs
on properties under development

Development costs of properties are recorded as
properties under development during the construction
stage and will be transferred to properties held for sale
upon completion. An apportionment of these costs will
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss upon
the recognition of the sales of completed properties.
Before the final settlement of the development costs
and other costs relating to the sale of the completed
properties, these costs are accrued by the Group based
on management’s best estimate.

When developing properties, the Group may divide the
development projects into phases. Specific costs directly
related to the development of a phase are recorded as the
cost of such phase. Costs that are common to phases
are allocated to individual phases based on the estimated
saleable area of the entire project.

Where the final settlement of costs and the related
cost allocation is different from the initial estimates, any
increase or decrease in the development costs and other
costs would affect the profit or loss in future years.
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has three reportable operating segments as follows:

(@ the restaurant, food and hotel segment is engaged
in restaurant and hotel operations and the provision
of food and beverage services;

(b) the property investment and development segment
comprises the development and sale of properties
and the leasing of commercial and residential
premises; and

(c) the “others” segment comprises, principally,
investment holding and other operations.

Management monitors the results of its operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit
before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except that
bank interest income, certain fair value gains or losses
from the Group’s financial instruments, finance costs
as well as corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.

4.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEHBER @)
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2014 BE-_Z—NE=A=+—HILLEE
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development Others Total
BERREE RER Htt st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TR TER TER TER
Segment revenue: AEUA
Sales to external customers HETIAEP 488,344 524,757 - 1,013,101
Intersegment sales DERE 2 HE 1,609 6,480 - 8,089
1,021,190
Reconciliation: A -
Elimination of intersegment sales #3457 S 2 HEHE (8,089)
Total revenue B 1,013,101
Segment results DEEE 70,386 295,511 (104) 365,793
Reconcilation: 87
Bank interest income HBITH EHA 6,140
Unallocated other income and N LN €
gains, net FE 21,206
Corporate and unallocated expenses 7% kA D e 2 1 (51,891)
Finance costs B AR AR (43,194)
Profit before tax BR % Al i A 298,054
Other segment information: Hih A &R
Changes in fair value of investment &R E¥ ¥ 2 A F{EE
properties, net FEE - 40,466 - 40,466
Fair value gain on financial assets at & /A F{E5IBR KA B+
fair value through profit or loss, net BEZ & REEZ
NEEWE FE
- unallocated VN 12,888
Fair value loss on derivative TETAEZATEER
instruments - transactions not ~NHEHPERZ
qualifying as hedges, net R5FE
— segment — & - 37,234 - 37,234
- unallocated —RAE 14,014
51,248

132




OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)
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4. BEPWER @

Year ended 31 March 2014 (Continued) BE-Z-—NE=A=+—HILEFEE
(%)
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development Others Total
RRRERE RER Hitr @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Other segment information: HitrpHEs: (8)
(Continued)
Share of loss of an associate eI — B & D R BB - 13,889 - 13,889
Equity-settled share option expense AIEZ 48 7 BBk ER %
- segment — & - 459 - 459
- unallocated —-kHH 4,611
5,070
Other interest income HA A BHA - 2,684 - 2,684
Impairment of trade debtors FEUE R 2 Ri(E 86 - - 86
Write-down of inventories tonet ~ MiBFEZ A28 FE
realisable value - 3,423 - 3,423
Recognition of prepaid land lease  HERBN LA EZ0E
payments 429 - - 429
Depreciation e
- segment — o 21,844 9,926 - 31,770
- unallocated VN 2,357
34,127
Interests in associates BenNaER - 347,631 178 347,809
Capital expenditure BARHY
- segment — & 33,021 4,882 - 37,903
- unallocated KPR 1,354
39,257*

*

lease payments.

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant
and equipment, investment properties and prepaid land

* EARXBRABYE BMEERE -
REWERFBAN LB
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BE7HER (9
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2013 HE T =F=-A=+—HItFE
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development Others Total
il MEHRE
RRRBE RER Hith et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TET TET
Segment revenue: ARl ONE
Sales 1o external customers HETIREF 600,821 147,658 = 748,479
Intersegment sales NP HE 1,922 6,526 = 8,448
756,927
Reconciliation: A
Elimination of intersegment sales ~ #l$7 2F 8 2 $5 & 58 (8,448)
Total revenue UGN 748,479
Segment results PIHEE 98,837 194,581 (320) 293,098
Reconciliation: I
Bank interest income RATHEWA 1,516
Unallocated other income and RO BEMUA R
gains, net Yozt FE 8,180
Corporate and unallocated PERRAEXH
EXPenses (41,614)
Finance costs IERA (47,305)
Profit before tax BR AT R A 213,875
Other segment information: ~ Hitt 9 HE# :
Changes in fair value of investment 1% & #1% 2 A FEE
properties, net Pk - 70,693 = 70,693
Fair value gain on financial assets &2 FEFIE
at fair value through profit or loss, FMEZRTERIE 2
net FREEYL
A EYE FE
- unallocated Sl 1,243
Fair value gain on derivative ITHETRZ R EEKR
instruments - transactions not ~ — A A
qualifying as hedges, net HERZR S FE
- segment — D = 32,477 = 32,477
- unallocated —ROHE 6,085
38,562
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BE7HER (9
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2013 (Continued) BE-_ZT—=F=-ZA=Z+—HILEE
(%)
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development Others Total
- MERE
R KB 5 RER Hith @at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT THT THT THET
Other segment information: ~ Ht1 9 HEH: (&)
(Continued)
Share of loss of an associate (L —FlE R R BE - 5,420 - 5,420
Equity-settled share option DEREE  BRER S
expense
- segment N - 652 - 652
- unallocated - RO 5,176
5,828
Impairment of trade debtors ERESERRE 270 1,295 = 1,565
Recognition of prepaid land lease  #EATE (T + 37 & 28
payment 409 - - 409
Depreciation E
— segment -nE 27,012 8,486 = 35,498
- unallocated R 2,329
37,827
Interests in associates BMENTER - 253,165 158 253,323
Capital expenditure BARRX
- segment — D 14,344 11,419 - 25,763
- unallocated —ROHE 3,534
29,297
**  Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant  BARRYBERNBEYE  WE RS-

and equipment.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4., BETHER (@)

INFORMATION (Continued)

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION Hh 38 %

(a) Revenue from external customers (@ kRKEAFREPFZRA

2014 2013
—F-mF —F—=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT AT
Hong Kong BB 45,712 45715
Mainland China GlEN S 967,389 702,764
1,013,101 748,479

B AERTIRIRER P AIE 2

The revenue information above is based on the

locations of the customers. % i1 5E °
(b) Non-current assets (b) R E E
2014 2013
—Z—mEF —F—=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT TAT
Hong Kong BB 186,598 182,565
Mainland China A B K 3,401,068 3,280,774
3,587,666 3,463,339

RSB EEDNRIBEEEMEL
Mol M E (/T ARRIN)

The non-current asset information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments.

BHE_Z—NEER-_ZFT—=ZF=H
—t+—HIFEE WEKGRAETHAERP
HE ZWAMAEEBIRA Z10%3% A
J:o

No revenue from sales to any customer accounted for
10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for the years
ended 31 March 2014 and 2013.
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REVENUE

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents
gross restaurant and food business income and net
invoiced value of goods sold, net of relevant business
tax and allowances for trade discounts; income from
rendering of hotel and other services; proceeds from
sale of properties; and gross rental income received and
receivable during the year.
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5. WA

WATNEBAREB 2 EX£B EFABE
FLREGEBBALEREEEMEEF
BEREEEERLE ST RER

JE R E MRS 2 WA HEMEMER
H: REWRERz HE WA BEE-

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA :
2014 2013
—E-F —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET

Income from the hotel, restaurant and B & « JBE1E R & @ E B WA

food businesses 488,344 600,821
Gross rental income He W ABEEE 81,905 67,143
Proceeds from sale of properties HEMEFTS A 442,852 80,515
1,013,101 748,479

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

6. Fr B A & Al
AEEBRBAEFIE MR, (FHA)

2014 2013
—E-F —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FET
Cost of inventories sold and EEFERERERE
services provided DN 560,288 401,851
Depreciation e 14 34,127 37,827
Recognition of prepaid land MERIAN L FH & s
lease payments 16 429 409
Lease payments under operating & @ £ b M AE F4E LT 4
leases for land and buildings: ZHE:
Minimum lease payments =EHE 28,745 27,475
Contingent rents FAMEE 413 1,069
29,158 28,544

137



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2014

Notes to Finapcial Statements
W% ) & Mt sk

31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. BB A0 A s
2014 2013
—E-MF —T—=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Auditors’ remuneration 12 E A = BN 3,121 2,850
Employee benefit expense EERMAXZ
(excluding directors’ (E=HM (KizE8)
remuneration (note 8))*: BRON) #
Wages and salaries TERF® 108,552 105,487
Equity-settled share option UHESEE 2
expense R R 1,505 787
Pension scheme contributions 3Rk 4 5T 2| 5
(defined contribution (FREMKEED)
scheme) 13,129 10,390
123,186 116,664
Equity-settled share option BB AIRE R T
expense in respect of —HEREERE
share options granted to AR EE 2
a consultant for services R R i 7 2
rendered - 2,678
Foreign exchange differences, [ X =% /FE
net 87 835
Impairment of trade debtors EUE SRR ZRIE 86 1,565
Fair value losses/(gains), net: ~NEEEE (W) -
FEE
Financial assets at fair value BEATFEYERRER
through profit or loss HFREZEHMERE
— Held for trading —RBEEE (13,356) —
— Designated as such upon — RN HEREE 2
initial recognition BEHEE 468 (1,243)
Derivative instruments — PTETE-TFE
transactions not qualifying HHER IR S
as hedges 51,248 (38,562)
Available-for-sale investments AHBEERE
(transfer from equity on (REER
disposal) B ) (152,315) (38,389)
Write-down of inventories to WMomFEZ A #35FE
net realisable value 3,423 -
Gain on disposal of an HEREYE 2 W
investment property - (8,000)
Changes in fair value of SEMENTEES  FEE
investment properties, net (40,466) (70,693)
Gross rental income HeWAEE (81,905) (67,143)
Direct operating expenses BOHe s REWMEESE
(including repairs and LEEEETY
maintenance) arising on rental-  (BIEEE LIRS )
earning investment properties 1,367 4,526
(80,538) 62,617)
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. BB i Al s
2014 2013
—E-mF —ET—=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FET
Bank interest income RITH B YA (6,140) (1,516)
Other interest income H b A B HA (2,684) -
Dividend income from available- ] it i €% & ~ f& B A
for-sale investments (13,897) (66,672)
Dividend income from financial & 8% A F{EH IR &
assets at fair value through RERFEEZ
profit or loss ETRMEEZIREBA (4,757) -
Loss on disposal of items of HEME  WE R
property, plant and HAZEE F8
equipment, net 221 217

BESHEABEFERBRERSE 2
X 276,166,000 T ( Z & — = :
78,429,000/ 7T ) °

7. BB A

# Inclusive of an amount of HK$76,166,000 (2013: #
HK$78,429,000) classified under cost of inventories sold
and services provided.

7. FINANCE COSTS

Group
rEE
2014 2013
—F-lEF —F—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Interest in respect of: FME:
Bank loans, overdrafts and ARAFRNBEEES
other loans (including convertible RERERZBITER
notes) wholly repayable within FHEEREMER
five years or on demand (BIERT AR EE) 56,553 63,825
Bank loans not wholly repayable BERAFRNEBHEE L
within five years RITE 426 232
Finance leases BEMEA 85 98
Total interest expense on I IR R FEFIERE R
financial liabilities not at fair value REGZPREECZERAEL
through profit or loss BT Bz 57,064 64,155
Less: Interest capitalised B BEMEFE (13,870) (16,850)
43,194 47,305
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the Rules Governing the Listing of the Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:

EEMe
BREEEHAXBHERARES LT
RA(TEBRA)) REB DTS
16 ERBAFEEEMBMT

Group

REH
2014 2013

—F-HmF —F—=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FTBT
Fees B 600 600
Other emoluments: E (B < -

Salaries and allowances e MoERL 9,636 8,636
Bonuses paid and payable* B RIERTEAT* 8,409 7,978
Equity-settled share option expense AR E 2 BERRHER 2 3,565 2,363
Pension scheme contributions RIRFTEIH R 198 194
21,808 19,171
22,408 19,771

Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to
bonus payments which are approved by the Remuneration
Committee with reference to the Group’s current year
profit and the individual’s performance.

During the year, certain directors were granted share
options, in respect of their services to the Group, under
the share option scheme of the Company, further details
of which are set out in note 38 to the financial statements.
The fair value of such options, which has been recognised
in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current year is
included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8.

(Continued)
(a) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

The fees paid to independent non-executive

directors during the year were as follows:
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252 9

(a) B JEHATHEF

RNEEEMNBUERITESTEEN
T

2014 —E-0F
Fees
wsE
HK$’000
FExT
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles LA S 200
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B XA 200
Mr. Wong See King mRELE 200
600

2013 —E—=F
Fees
HK$’'000
TETT
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BLBA %S ST AR 200
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B XL 200
Mr. Wong See King BERBEE 200
600

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year

(2013: Nil).

NEEWERNBIUIIFNTEEZ
HEple (ZF—=F 8) -
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2
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. ®EHEM 2w
(Continued)
4= 3k an 4=
(b) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND b) HITEFR NN TESE
A NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Salaries Bonuses Equity-settled Pension
and paidand  share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense  contributions  remuneration
e 2 NEGZEE Bie
& RES ZBRE 3 e
ne 41 A 253 f#t Fok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
T T T T T T
2014 —E-m&
Executive directors: WIES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung*™* ENBELE™ - 1,775 2,608 - 39 4,422
Mr. Ma Kai Yum ENREE - 1,980 2,608 - 52 4,640
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai, Jimmy* & 472 % 4= - 2,589 1,715 2,437 15 6,756
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong REKEL - 1,932 1,449 97 62 4,414
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SBRHEEE - 690 29 157 15 891
Mr. Yuen Wai Man** REXRE” - 78 - - 2 80
- 9,044 8,409 3,565 185 21,203
Non-executive director: FiTES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung*™* ENBRE™ - 592 - - 13 605
- 9,636 8,409 3,565 198 21,808
2013 —E-=F
Executive directors: WITES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung™* ENBRAE™ - 2,347 2,499 - 52 4,898
Mr. Ma Kai Yum ENREE = 1,956 2,499 - 52 4,507
Mr. Chan Sheung Lai, Jimmy*  BR1& % £+ - 968 758 988 4 2,718
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong REK &L - 1,929 1,389 825 62 4,205
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BRHEE - 659 833 550 12 2,054
Mr. Yuen Wai Man** REXRE” - 777 - - 12 789
- 8,636 7,978 2,363 194 19,171

Appointed as executive director on 22 October
2012
Resigned as executive director on 10 June 2013

*k

Redesignated as non-executive director from 1
January 2014

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four (2013: five) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration
of the remaining one (2013: Nil) non-director and highest
paid employee are as follows:

9.
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Lfi# e sz kA

RAEE AEEBLUSRFESEHE
ME(ZE—=F -1A)EF HHMH
AEEIIN EXES T —% (=F
——F B UNEERELFHREZH
ISR NE

Group
rEE

2014 2013
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT

e MoEE

Salaries and allowances
Equity-settled share option expense

VAR A7 #8 E F AL S o

1,058 =
728 =

1,786 -

The remuneration of the non-director highest
paid employee for the year fell within the band of
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000.

FEFEZERHEENAFE 2 HME
741,500,0017% 7T 22,000,000/ 7T &5 B
W o

INCOME TAX 10. Jir 5 i
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of BEENEBEIBRBFAREBEE 2
16.5% (2013: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits SHRERBREFIZ16.5% (T —=4F:
arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits 16.5% ) 2 W Rt E 8 - P BIRREER
assessable in Mainland China have been calculated at the Mt Al 2 B I8 Th iR R B KB 2 BT X
rates of tax prevailing in Mainland China. &
Group
rEE
2014 2013
—F-DNF —F =
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Current — Hong Kong BNER — B8
Charge for the year RFEEZH 309 528
Current — Mainland China BUER — A B K e
CIT EMSH 73,932 29,132
LAT T IR ETR 10,091 3,718
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBERE (27,278) (46)
Deferred (note 33) IERE (FfF5E33) 24,686 12,969
Total tax charge for the year AFEEMIBS BB 81,740 46,296
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. Bf f—gf ﬁé (%)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit TR ST 59 BR 38 A A AR AT A B AR 15 0%
before tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in EMEFE UARBREETENER
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries is T 7 e M DA B B s M i 2 B RS  &
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rate, and STERBERY  WASBEHEEER (B2
a reconciliation of the applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax EEMER)EERME LR AT
rate) to the effective tax rate, are as follows:
Group
x&
2014 2013
“E-lmE “E-=F
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
TER T

Profit before tax R 25 A gt A 298,054 213,875
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory BREBEENEFE

tax rate I 49,179 16.5 35,289 16.5
Higher tax rates of specific REAESEENERS

provinces in Mainland China 1 & 19,928 6.7 2,465 1.1
Adjustments in respect of RBEHE

current tax of previous periods 2T AR (27,278) 9.2) (46) -
Loss attributable to an associate (L& A RIEE 2,292 0.7 894 04
Income not subject to tax BRETH WA (22,445) (7.5) (34,055) (15.9)
Expenses not deductible for tax R AI{ERS B3R 2 & 38,106 12.8 30,317 14.2
LAT T EER 11,022 3.7 3,590 1.6
Tax losses utilised from EBRBTHRL

previous periods BEER (357) (0.1) (45) -
Tax losses not recognised AERZHIEEE 11,293 3.8 7,887 3.7
Tax charge at the Group’s BRASEERH X

effective rate AEZHIERX 81,740 274 46,296 21.6
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11.

12.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the
parent for the year ended 31 March 2014 includes
a profit of HK$80,591,000 (2013: HK$114,414,000)
which has been dealt with in the financial statements
of the Company. In addition, the Company also
recorded dividend income of HK$222,220,000 (20183:
HK$314,987,000) from a subsidiary attributable to
previous years’ profits. In aggregate, the Company’s
profit for the year ended 31 March 2014 amounted to
HK$302,811,000 (2013: HK$429,401,000) (note 39(b)).
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11. BEA G 8 A A\ JE 1) 6 A

BHE—_ZT-WE=B=+—HIt=
B -BRREREABGESRNEE
i 780,591,000 L (T — =& :
114,414,000 7T ) ' ER A2 7) B % )
KPP ARBEE Lo KRB I ER15 FE
H—HERNBRARBEFE RN KA
W A222,220,0008 T (ZF — = :
314,987,000 ) - E T —MF =
A=Z+—BLEFE ARAZHMNE
# A302,811,000 T (ZE—=

429,401,000/ 7t) (FI5E39 (b)) °

DIVIDENDS 12. Ik &

2014 2013
—E—-NF —E—=%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT

Proposed final - HK5 cents (2013: & A - SRR E BRSE
HK5 cents) per ordinary share —E—=F:5%(l) 62,494 57,789

Proposed special — Nil (2013: EEER -\ (ZZE—=%F:
HK30 cents) per ordinary share &% BR300 1l) - 346,731
62,494 404,520
Additional final #RHNRHR 4,531 280
Additional special BE AN R 27,185 =
31,716 280

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to
the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

REE 2 EBRPBEBAFARBBR
REGARZRBEAS LHtE-
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 1,217,403,547 (2013:
1,149,564,913) in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, adjusted to reflect the interest on
the convertible notes and fair value change on derivative
component of the convertible notes. The weighted
average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation
is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year,
as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
are based on:

13. B 2 5] % i B 6 5 A O\ JEAh
i ik & A

BREREFTIRES QR L BRER
EABGEAFERARFANECEITER
B 2 IR 801,217,403,6470% (==&
— =% :1,149,564,913/% ) st & -

FREERN IR ES QR T BRERS
BABIEARFE RN E - WA FHE
PR BR AT # A SR 48 2 ) B I AT R A R AR
ZUETEBD 2 AFEES -HEE
B P ER A 2 BB 8RN T B
BRERBFFRA 2 FRAERTERK
BB AR RITELERTA TR
AR AT BRRRREEEEITH
EERNE -

)

#

5
i3

PRERN N EE R TIRE AT SR E

b
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2014 2013
—F-HNF =%
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FH&ET
Earnings 7
Profit attributable to ordinary equity ~ Bt EZIREAREF 2
holders of the parent, used in the NAERARERBA
basic earnings per share calculation &1 3% 195,629 153,427
Interest on convertible notes AR EE 2 FE 8,148 2,600
Less: Fair value loss/(gain) on the B A RBREBRCITET R
derivative component of iz AFE
the convertible notes B8, (U 14,105 (8,041)
Profit attributable to ordinary equity — FABR A1 IR [% 2R = A 2 B1 7%
holders of the parent before BN AR B E
financial effect arising from B ARG
convertible notes 217,882 147,986




13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
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13. B2 5] % 8 Bk B F5 B O\ JE 4G
5Kk & A )

(Continued)
Number of shares
RO A
2014 2013
—E-IF —=—=

Shares IR 4
Weighted average number of ordinary AR st B ERERZEF 2

shares in issue during the year FADBITLBER

used in the basic earnings kg5

per share calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted average ## 2 £ — @R
number of ordinary shares: DA T £

1,217,403,547 | 1,149,564,913

Share options HE i A 14,371,903 13,407,964
Convertible notes Al AR E iR 12,852,890 8,266,826
1,244,628,340* | 1,171,239,703

. Because the diluted earnings per share amount is AATRRERARSSREFTRF 2

increased when taking convertible notes into account,
the convertible notes had an anti-dilutive effect on the
basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 March
2014 and were ignored in the calculation of diluted
earnings per share. Therefore, diluted earnings per share
amount is based on the profit for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent of HK$195,629,000
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
1,231,775,450 in issue, after adjusted for dilution effect of
share options, during the year.

HEE TRREEHEHE—_Z Y
FZA=+—HUEFERZERERR
P EE ST ET N A E TR E R
B ARSI ET e Bt SRR A S8
TR AR LB A AT
JE % #1195,629,000/% 7T & £ A E 21T
A% 2 HAE 15 1,231,775,4508%
(RARBREZBEY 2% )TE-
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT

14. W ¥~ Wk B & &

Group RE
Furniture,
Hotel Landand  Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor Construction
properties buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
HE BER B
EENE THRET NEEE #E RERRE EH EEIR ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TERT TET FERT TET FET TET
31 March 2014 —Z-mE=A=t-A
At 1 April 2013: RZE-=FmA—H:
Cost or valuation BRAEREE 408,644 107,099 108,219 29,708 79,756 30,704 1,195 765,325
Accumulated depregiation and 2T ELAE
impairment (58,591) (32,764) (96,102) (12,677) (68,946) (16,329) - (285,409)

Net carrying amount REFE 350,053 74,335 12,117 17,031 10,810 14,375 1,195 479,916
At 1 April 2013, net of accumulated R=F—=FEA—A"

depreciation and impairment BMR R TERRE 350,053 74,335 12,117 17,031 10,810 14,375 1,195 479,916
Additions NE 447 7,862 5,248 2,864 2,838 1,189 15,988 36,436
Depreciation provided during the year £ 3472 &4 (Hizt6)

(note 6) (11,858) (5,949) (4,247) (2,111) (5,501) (4,461) - (34,127)
Disposals HE - - - (U] (50) (1,110) - (1,167)
Exchange realignment EXAZ 6,386 1,079 228 131 201 162 3 8,190
At 31 March 2014, net of RZE-NEF

accumulated depreciation ZA=t—-HB ENk

and impairment ZEERAE 345,028 77,327 13,346 17,908 8,298 10,155 17,186 489,248
At 31 March 2014: i S 3

=A=+-H:
Cost or valuation BB (A 416,530 116,113 115,183 32,935 82,792 29,256 17,186 809,995
Accumulated depreciation and ZEERRE
impairment (71,502) (38,786) (101,837) (15,027) (74,494) (19,101) - (320,747)
Net carrying amount REFE 345,028 77,327 13,346 17,908 8,298 10,155 17,186 489,248
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14. W% - W B Kk s =)
EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Group rEH
Furniture,
Hotel Land and Leasehold Plantand  fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
properties buildings - improvements machinery  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
nE Ak
EENE LHRET  VERE BERER 2ERR B ERIE 2%

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TER TiER TR TEL TER TET TER

31 March 2013 —E-=f£=fA=1-H
At 1 April 2012: RZE-Z£MA—-A:
Cost or valuation TN EERRT 401,382 95,323 121,633 28,671 79,706 28,654 - 755,369
Accumulated depreciation and 2 ERAE
impairment (46,729) (27.967) (106,339 (10,311) (63,866) (14,359) - (269,571)
Net carrying amount REFE 354,653 67,356 15,204 18,360 15,840 14,295 - 485,798

At 1 April 2012, net of accumulated R=F——FMA—H"

depreciation and impairment BB RHTE RAE 364,653 67,356 15,294 18,360 15,840 14,295 - 485,798
Additions NE 4,522 11,355 4,391 1,084 1,747 5,010 1,188 29,297
Depreciation provided during the year & FIi7 E# 4 ([fiz£6)

(note 6) (11,480) (4,731) (7,656) (2,430) (6,794) (4,736) - (37,827)
Disposals e 5 - - 33) (60) (255) - (348)
Exchange realignment R AR 2,358 35 88 50 7 61 7 2,99
At 31 March 2013, net of WZZ-=%

accumulated depreciation ZA=+-B ENk

and impairment ZETELRE 350,053 74,335 12,117 17,031 10,810 14,375 1,195 479916
At 31 March 2013: RZZ—=%

=A=t—A:
Cost or valuation BRAESRBE 408,644 107,099 108,219 29,708 79,756 30,704 1,195 765,325
Accumulated depreciation and 2T ELRE
impairment (58591)  (32,764) ©,102)  (12677) (68,946) (16,329) - (285409)
Net carrying amount BHEE 350,053 74,335 12,117 17,081 10,810 14,375 119 479916

149



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2014

Notes to Financial Statements
W% ) & Mt sk

31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

14.

150

PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The net carrying amount of the Group’s items of property,
plant and equipment held under finance leases included
in the total amount of motor vehicles at 31 March 2014
amounted to HK$1,821,000 (2013: HK$2,397,000).

Certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings were
revalued at 31 March 1995, by independent professionally
qualified valuers at an open market value based on their
existing use. Since 1995, no further valuation of the
Group’s leasehold land and buildings has been carried
out, as the Group has relied upon the exemption, granted
under the transitional provisions in paragraph 80A of
HKAS 16, from the requirement to carry out further
revaluations of its property, plant and equipment which
were stated at valuation at that time.

Had these leasehold land and buildings been carried
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, their total carrying amounts
would have been approximately HK$1,249,000 (2013:
HK$1,351,000).

At 31 March 2014, certain of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$371,106,000 (2013: HK$377,071,000)
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 44).

14.

JERN &3 AC D

R-_ZTE—NME=ZA=+—8 REM
EHERABTAAERSE I AEE
ME - BEERZRECHEEZE@DFER
1,821,000 7T (=& — =% : 2,397,000
EIT) o

BYUBXCERMGEMERBGAE
ZEERAATER-ANAREF=HA
=t RAYARKEETHELHWRET
ETER B NANAFE ~AEEZHE
ELHMEEFTUEETE-TER R
ARAEEFEREE B ERIZE16
5 R SR B0AR Z IR IR IR th 2 T ¥t
ZERERREBIGRZIVE BE R
REETE-FERZIAE-

W 5% ST & Lt I F LA £ B AR &
AMEREMREBEAR HEKT
BEFEX)A1,249,0008 L (ZE— =4
1,351,000/ 7 ) °

R-_ZE—ME=ZA=+—H A&£H
HEBRE®FEXI71,106,0008 7T (=
T—=4:377,071,0008 ) 2 & T ¥
% B REREERR  EATEEER
—RIRITEE 2R (KizEd4) o



14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The analysis of the cost/valuation of the Group’s land and
buildings and hotel properties by geographical location
and lease term is as follows: T
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31 March 2014 =F—PF=HA=+—H

14. % 5% > BB R ak fir (80

AEE LR MNEAOFERE D 2 LR
BFMEEMEZRAE HES TN

2014 2013
—ZE—mE —F—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Medium term leasehold land and REBZFHPBEE T RIEF -
buildings situated in Hong Kong, E—hNAFHE
at 1995 valuation 23,991 23,991
Medium term leasehold land and KB KRR FEAEE LR
buildings situated in Mainland China, 15 » &5k A&
at cost 92,122 83,108
Medium term hotel properties situated 7 F1 Bl A FE 2 F BB JE 4 5 -
in Mainland China, at cost B ANME 416,530 408,644
532,643 515,743
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. % &Y ¥

Group
rER
2014 2013
—E-mEF —ET—=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FERT FHET
Carrying amount RE 2 BREE  R&E
at beginning of year,
at valuation 1,501,351 1,446,897
Addition (from acquisition) RE (REKE) 818 =
Disposal HE - (18,000)
Net gain from fair value R ERAEREE ZFRA
adjustments 6 40,466 70,693
Exchange realignment b 5 7 4,781 1,761
Carrying amount R=RA=+—HZE@EE"
at 31 March, at valuation RiGE 1,547,416 1,601,351
Analysis by geographical Zi = &l o
location:
Hong Kong BB 131,552 130,159
Mainland China A B K R 1,415,864 1,371,192
1,547,416 1,501,351
Group
rEH
2014 2013
—E—-F —ET—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT TET
Analysis by lease term: BHEAFEE S -
Long term leases KHIFE A 193,907 183,024
Medium term leases H HARE 4Y 1,353,509 1,318,327
1,547,416 1,501,351
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The directors of the Company have determined the
Group’s investment properties into different classes of
asset based on the nature, characteristics and risks
of each property. The Group’s investment properties
were revalued on 31 March 2014 based on valuations
performed by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited,
independent professionally qualified valuers, at
HK$1,547,416,000. Each year, the Group’s management
decide to appoint which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group’s properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group’s management have discussions
with the valuers on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed for
annual financial reporting. The investment properties are
leased to third parties under operating leases, further
summary details of which are included in note 42(a) to the
financial statements.

At 31 March 2014, the Group’s investment properties
of HK$1,122,777,000 (2013: HK$1,270,226,000) were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 44).

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties
are included on pages 230 to 232.
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15. &K & W % (s

ARREZERBEZMEZIMEE  FiE
kEBERNEEREMEETRTRE
EERN-RZTE—HWF=A=+—8"
REBZREYERBEHRHBYEXEGE
B EMEE T EET GERERAF
1T 2 (HEER A1,547,416,00078 7T ©
BFEE AEBZEEEREZEIND
HEMABERASBEMEZINSEE B
BAERBIETISME B8 Bu ke
CHRIEEERE - AEEERERF
[E B 75 BR SR 1T (B S SR (E AT 5 s 1
BEREIMGEER - REMEIRLEE
MERTE=LF E—THMEFHEDH
B 75 R 2R Bt s 42(2) A ©

R_TE—NE=ZA=+—H &x&H
1,122,777,0008 . (=& — = F:
1,270,226,000/% 7T ) < I8 E M % 2 1EE
A EARAEBME—RRITEEZE
R (H5E44) -

AEEREMEZ E—THBEEHIR
5230%232H °
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. L&YW ¥ (@)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY AR
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRINTAEBREYHE 2 A TFEFE
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: ZoH

Fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2014 using
RZE-ME=A=+—H

FRAUATEEETZAYETE

Quoted

prices Significant Significant

in active  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REBTE BATER EATAEE

ZHE BAE BAE

(F—%) (F=8H) (F=8) #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET TET
Hong Kong: BB
Commercial properties EEXIES - - 59,900 59,900
Industrial properties IT#9% - - 71,652 71,652
Mainland China: iy
Commercial properties HENE - - 1,396,611 1,396,611
Industrial properties T£9% - - 19,253 19,253
- - 1,547,416 1,547,416
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RER BEESEBERNEMNE -—REF =
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no W2 ATFEAERTERFE=FHEA
transfers into or out of Level 3. S EE I o
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised BENRE="FGATEREANZ AFET
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: 2 5ER
Hong Kong Mainland China
B RE KK
Commercial Industrial Commercial Industrial

properties properties properties properties

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL FET FET
Carrying amount at 1 April 2018~ RZZE—=FWA—AZE
HfE 59,500 70,659 1,356,584 14,608
Addition (from acquisition) AE (RBUE) - - 818 —
Net gain from a fair value adjustment N BZER 2 A FERE
recognised in profit or loss Gt 400 993 34,689 4,384
Exchange realignment I - - 4,520 261
Carrying amount at 31 March 2014 R=ZT—NE=A=+—H
ZEHE 59,900 71,652 1,396,611 19,253
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

Valuation technique(s)

EE R
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15. &K & W % (s

2 1R 80
TR IR EMEGEMRA 2 HERM
REZBHAE:
Significant
unobservable inputs Range
EAFUBEBAR gE

Hong Kong:
BiE:

Commercial properties
Industrial properties
TEN%E

Mainland China:

PEIARE:

Commercial properties

Industrial properties

IEM=%

Under the direct comparison approach, fair value is
estimated by making reference to the recent transactions
for similar premises in the proximity with adjustments for

Direct comparison approach

BERIEBE

Direct comparison approach

BRLEA

Direct comparison approach
BEREHEE

Investment approach

RER

Investment approach

REX

Estimated market price
(per square foot)
fhEmE (BFHER)

Estimated market price
(per square foot)
fhetmE (BT HER)

Estimated market price
(per square metre)

fhErmE (8¥IK)

Estimated rental value

HK$4,090 to HK$11,350
4,090/ L £11,36078 7T
HK$1,160 to HK$2,300

1,1607%8 7T 22,300/ 7T

HK$16,990 to HK$77,410
16,990/ TE77, 4108 T

HK$66 to HK$299

(per square metre and per month)

fhstRE (B ¥ RRER)

Discount rate
R E

Estimated rental value

6678 7L £29975 7T
10.5%

HK$15

(oer square metre and per month)

st RE (B FIREEAR)

Discount rate

B

the differences in transaction dates, building age, floor o

area, etc.

15387
7.5%

RIEBERLEE RFELDZEMRIOR
DM E AR B AR LR
BH- Bk BEEESZEZRELH
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15.

16.

156

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Under the investment approach, fair value is estimated
by taking into account the current rent passing of the
property interests and the reversionary potential of the
tenancy.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental
value and the estimated market price per square foot/
metre in isolation would result in a significant increase/
(decrease) in the fair value of commercial and industrial
properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the
discount rate in isolation would result in a significant
decrease/(increase) in the fair value of commercial and
industrial properties.

15. &K & W% )

NEEERE
RIBIEE AP EEER Y ERERS
CEMMESKIRBEZERENSE
EO

At RERGTHE (FFTR K E
BAEEM, ORD) SEBEERT %
MEBRFEREEN ORD) R
REBAREM, Ofd) BEBEER
TEWENRFEREBRD, (HF) -

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. T ft + b & 3% 16
Group
rEE
2014 2013
—E-mF —EF—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERx FH&ET
Carrying amount at beginning of year R &4 2 BREE 13,462 13,780
Addition during the year RERRE 2,003 =
Recognised during the year (note 6) R & AR (i z£6) (429) (409)
Exchange realignment BE 5, 58 B 243 91
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—HZEEE 15,279 13,462
Current portion included in debtors, — B1E3E8{D &2 15 7E FE UK BR 7K »
deposits and prepayments e RBEAFKEBEZA (459) (411)
Non-current portion JEBNHREL 1D 14,820 13,051

The leasehold land is situated in Mainland China and is
held under medium term leases.

S 3 7 7 Fp B R IE AR R 40 %5
ﬁo



RSB AR WA R AT | 201448 H

Notes to Financial Statemeqts
W it & M sk

31 March 2014 =F—PF=HA=+—H

17. GOODWILL 17. v &
Group rEH
HK$’000
FHT
At 1 April 2012, 31 March 2013, R-_E—-——_FHWHA—AH-
1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014: —E—=f=ZA=+—H8"
—E-=FWMA—-B8kK
—E-—MWFE=A=+—8:
Cost B AR 45,062
Accumulated release upon sale of HECERMEZRAEL
developed properties (1,288)
Accumulated impairment ZERE (3,663)
Net carrying amount AREEE 40,111

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has
been allocated to the following cash-generating units for
impairment testing:

° Restaurant, food and hotel cash-generating unit;
and

° Property investment and development cash-
generating unit.

Restaurant, food and hotel cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the restaurant, food and hotel
cash-generating unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved
by senior management. The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 7% (2013: 7%) and cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a
growth rate of 7% (2013: 5%) which reflects the long term
average growth rate of the industry.

R FAU YR
MEBA GRS BBESEEAT
REBEEERUERENR

s ER RENEERCELBEM:
&

s MERBENERRSELE(-

A~ & m R il s B & EE B A
BE - -REEMBEREEESM 2K
CZHBEEEBEESREEABAEZR
FHYKEEFERRESREBAFTE

FREEET -Ren=fal@EA 2
BWRAET% (ZT—=F:7%) NBAR
FHREREUEERTR (ZT—=
F5%)ETHEA ZIERRRBZIT
EANRBFHERER.
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17.

158

GOODWILL (Continued)

Property investment and development cash-
generating unit

The recoverable amount of the property investment and
development cash-generating unit has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering the
expected development project period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 17% (2013: 15%)).

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the
cash-generating units are as follows:

Restaurant,
food and hotel

17. 58 ()

WERE RS &L R

MERERBERRSEELEM 2 KD
HHECEBESREREASHAEZ BE
EHEEBREFHYKBEEFRRS
REBAGE2FREEEBEE -RER
EEAERACHTRERITR (ZE—=
F:15%) o

BECRAE AT EREELE
Rz R

Property investment

and development Total

B BRRERE NERERER )
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
—E-mF —E-=f —Z-mE —E=F —E2-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEx TR THEx THT TR FTHT
Carrying amount of goodwil BEZEEE 8,721 8,721 31,390 31,390 40,111 40,111

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the restaurant, food and hotel cash-generating unit
and the property investment and development cash-
generating unit for 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2013.
The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwiill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the
average gross margins achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements and expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

FE_ET--MEZf=+—HBHEK_-Z
—ZFZA=Z+—HBEEZ RALBE
REELESBN VMEREREERSE
EEZFREBR BFEARRK B
BRERSREBAETEERERH
FTRIEZ S EB/\ELT

BEEREN -REEEREZHEERN
PEEEBECERE REEREFER
—FRBZFHEREN YEREH
MR LE T K T8 A T 35 3% R T 4 A AR FE 58

=
=) °©

IR R — A A 2 IR R B ARFH BRI A
KRREREEN AR FERR L



18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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18. 3 it % B % &

Group REE
HK$’'000
FAET
Cost at 1 April 2012, 31 March 2013, RZE——FMWA—H"
1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014, —E—=F=ZA=+—HEK
net of accumulated amortisation TE—=FNA—HZKA
B R 5T 8 399,732
At 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2013: RZE—WNWF=A=+—H8BK
—F-=#=A=+-8:
Cost B 2R 533,559
Accumulated amortisation SET (133,827)
Net carrying amount IREDFEE 399,732
e As further described in note 2.4 to the financial * B0 B A SRR B 52 4P — S E A

statements, the amortisation has been included in

properties under development as land cost.

19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

19. W &8 2 =) # &

BIECER TR ARGT ABRTYE

Company
FINYNE|
2014 2013
—2-nmF —T=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Unlisted shares, at cost FE LA - A AE 61,990 61,990
Due from subsidiaries JrE U B B8 A B 5K 3B 1,903,895 2,024,123
Due to subsidiaries AN NGRS (385,196) (518,575)
1,580,689 1,567,538
Impairment* B (19,347) (19,347)
1,561,342 1,548,191
# An impairment was recognised for certain amounts Hﬂﬁé%?ﬁ?%@ﬁﬁé‘ﬂ%%i?ﬁZ%ﬁ

due from subsidiaries with a total carrying amount of
HK$137,428,000 (2013: HK$137,398,000) as such
subsidiaries have suffered losses over the years and the
amounts are considered as not recoverable. There was no
change in the impairment account during the current and
prior years.

The amounts due from/to the subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and not repayable within one year.

IEE%EETTHX@ B it % F e Uk
&:Pﬁ% RIA 7 AR ED R
2»&@7%137 428 00078 7T (= ;af:
£ : 137,398,000/8 7T ) < N A E Rl
FEFERRERE LR EAES-

JEU, FE AT B B 12 ) 2 TR ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ
TEHH B K 2 —FREE

TNa
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19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

19.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company

are as follows:

Wt B 2 5] HE 2 (s
KRB EEWBARZ BT

Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and Class of equity registered interest attributable
Name business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
TR BRITEE/ ERFEGRE
A% AR E FrisRERR R AHEE BAk FEBEK
2014 2013
“E-mEF ([ ZT-=F
Amica Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 100 100  Property investment
SEMEXFERAF B LiEk 10,0007 MERE
Carrianna (BVI) Ltd.* British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
REELHE LER 1% RAEER
Carrianna (Chiu Chow) Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$8,000,000 73 73  Restaurant operations
Restaurant Limited?
EER G ERERAR BE EER 8,000,000/ 7 i Fd
Carrianna Chinese Food Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$900,000 89 89  Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited
EERRARE (FE) BE EER 900,000/ 7T REZK
BRAT
Carrianna Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$25,000,000 100 100  Property investment
and development
EEPEEFRAA BE EER 25,000,000/ 7 NERBRER
Carrianna (Shenzhen) PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$80,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd.*® and property
development
EEH (R RE HE R AR i & R 80,000,000/ 7 REZRRDEE R
BRAR
China East International Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000,000 83 72 Investment holding
Materials City Limited
EZREARMRAER R A BE EER 1,000,000/ ¢ REZK
Crown Tech Investments Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited
ERREBRARA BB LER BT RAER
Earn Fame Group Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
AEEEBRAR RERLHE LER = RAER
Elite Brave Development British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
BEERBRAA KBRS EER E REER
Goldfield Properties Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100  Property investment
FEEXARLA BE EER 28T MERE




19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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19. Mt B 2 5] #E &5 (#)

Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and Class of equity registered interest attributable
Name business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
ML, BRITEE/ AN A EGRE
£ AR E FrisRERR R A E Aok FTEER
2014 2013
—E-ME | =%
Huge Moral International British Virgin Islands  Ordinary shares US$1 100 100  Investment holding
Limited*
EEERERA A HERLHE LER e REER
Kunming Carrianna Chaozhou PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$12,000,000 60 60  Restaurant operations
Restaurant Ltd.*@
ERERHANER E/REAE ERER 12,000,000 7T Bege
BB AR
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$200 100 100  Property investment
BE Limk 20077 MERE
Non-voting HK$1,000,000 - -
deferred
shares
BREE 1,000,000/ ¢
B
Tak Sing (Panyu) Fashion PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$51,000,000 100 100  Property investment
Company Limited* (!
BNTERREFRAR O RE/ REKXE FHER 51,000,000 7T MERE
E2 (i) B PRG/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB14,700,000 100 100 Hotel and restaurant
BRA™O operations
HE/REARE HMEA AR 814,700,000 EEREREE
REZEEMPEHRERAF*®  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB1,000,000 90 70 Restaurant operations
HE/REARE A A AR#1,000,0007 il Hd
REEEMEESE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB3,000,000 65 53  Restaurant operations
ERAF
HE/EAE AR AR#3,000,0007 il Fdey
AIEEBERER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB5,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
HRAFCE
HE/EAE FEA B AR AR #5,000,0007 i
BEEEHRABMAF®  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB31,000,000 65 55 Food business
HE/EAE FEA B AR AR 31,000,007 RmiEE
wHEEPEREEERE PRC/Mainland China ~ Registered capital  RMB100,000,000 80 80  Hotel operations
BB AR
HE/REAKE A A AR #100,000,0007C ilde
Carrianna (Hunan) PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB385,000,000 87.5 87.5  Property investment
Enterprise Co., Ltd. and development
(“Hunan Carrianna”)®©
EERBORE)EXERAR HRE/ REKRE FEff B AR AR 385,000,000 NERERER
(MHEEER]) o
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19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)  19.

Wt B 2 5] HE 2 (s

Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and Class of equity registered interest attributable
Name business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
TR/ BRTLE/ AR R ELRE
£#18 AR E £ s REER EMERAEE Aotk TEER
2014 2013
—E-ME ([ Z2—=F
ER R R R PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital 1US$46,000,000 83 72 Property investment
(BEER)ERRAN and development
HE/REAKE FHEA 46,000,000 7T NERBREE
T REEHBEER PRGC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB12,000,000 100 75  Restaurant operations
BRAR
HE AR & A AR #12,000,0007 i
FIEZHPRRAFMAES  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB6,000,000 68 68  Restaurant operations
HE/EAKE A A AR #6,000,0007 il Fdey
BHEERBERRE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB50,000,000 65 - Restaurant operations
BRARFO
HE/EAE FEAf B AR AR H50,000,0007C i
EHREZEHRABMAFY  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital US$2,000,000 75 75 Food business
HE/EAE FEAf B AR 2,000,000 7T RmEB
* Direct subsidiaries of the Company * ZAN/NCIRE A TN VNG

*k

55% of equity interest is directly attributable to the
Company

# The statutory financial statements of these companies
were not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

(1)  Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises

(2)  Sino-foreign joint venture companies

(8)  Domestic enterprises

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.
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19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continuedy 19. [ff /B A 5 HE 35 (@)

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non- REBBEBEAFERER 2B AT
controlling interests are set out below: ZEBEEINAT
2014 2013
—E-ImF —T—=
Percentage of equity interest held W EE 2 IR S
by non-controlling interests of FiEREZ B DL
Hunan Carrianna 12.5% 12.5%

2014 2013
—F-mF —T=%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to 7 Bt &= i s (= Z 4 &
non-controlling interests of HKtBAR]
Hunan Carrianna and (A EEPEE]) 2
its subsidiaries PR M A 2
(the “Hunan Carrianna Group”) REEmF,/ (E8) 11,246 (5,175)
Accumulated balance of R¥ERH 2 HEEEPE
non-controlling interests of IR 2 BET AR
Hunan Carrianna Group at
the reporting date 142,208 129,828
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19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continuedy 19. [ff /B 2 5 HE 35 (&)

TRINHRAEERER 2R EHBE
B E - EZ2RAEMARRE

The following tables illustrate the summarised
consolidated financial information of Hunan Carrianna
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Group. The amounts disclosed are before any inter- SHAI < £ 58 :
company eliminations:
2014 2013
—E-mE —ZE—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Revenue WA 404,105 12,643
Profit/(loss) for the year REE R, (EBE) 89,970 (33,528)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ~ ANFEZEWRA
for the year (B8R 99,038 (30,545)
Current assets mEBEE 756,221 802,546
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,046,041 1,033,403
Current liabilities mBEE (305,518) (476,896)
Non-current liabilities EmBBE (359,080) (320,427)
Net cash flows from/(used in) KEEBE, (FA)
operating activities REMBFE (118,033) 59,796
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEFEFE, (FTA)
investing activities HEME TR 66,520 12,744
Net cash flows from/(used in) MEESHE, (FTA)
financing activities REMBFE 49,995 (49,743)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and & kR E&EEIEE
cash equivalents #n Crd) #5E (1,518) 22,797
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20. INVESTMENT IN A JOINTVENTURE 20. P& B 8 zH B

Group
rE
2014 2013
—E—-F —T—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Share of net assets R EEFE - 1,790
Amount due to the joint venture EfT & & A EFKIE - 612)
Provision for impairment VERIEREL ] - (1,178)
The balance with the joint venture as at 31 March 2013 E/\ 2 —=F=A=+—H HEZAQ
was unsecured, interest-free and was not repayable EHRBERBRTEHE Hﬁ?ﬁ? B
within one year from the end of the reporting period. The EAiﬁ HFHREFT —FANEER - ZERE
balances were written off upon the deregistration of the REBEE-_T-—MNF=A=+— EI IEFE
joint venture during the year ended 31 March 2014. WEUE & & A 7] 2 53 i B 8 o
Particulars of the joint venture were as follows: BERNAIZFBHOT
Percentage of
AEEEEED L
Place of
Business registration/ Ownership Voting Profit  Principal
Name structure business interest power sharing  activity
258 ERERE BV E FrERERR REE FEIE FZEHR
Chengdu Carrianna Chaozhou Corporate PRC/Mainland China 51 50 51 Dormant
Restaurant Co., Ltd.
R EMER AN EEER D A AT R AR ERER
As at 31 March 2013, the investment in the joint venture RZE—=F=H=+—H Reaat
was indirectly held by the Company. ¥ ERARRIEERES -
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

o1, NEEE AT 2 %

Group Company
rEH RAF
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E-NE | Z2—=F | ZE-0NFE | ZT—=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FHET FERT FAT
Share of net assets DMHEEFE 52,247 66,136 -
Due from associates P L Bt 5 A ] 181,174 154,645 3,925 3,925
Due to associates JE T B 2 R A (4,145) (4,031) - -
Loans to an associate wY—EEBERGZER 129,161 47,201 - =
358,437 263,951 3,925 3,925
Provision for impairment 3l (& & (10,628) (10,628) - -
347,809 253,323 3,925 3,925
The amounts due from/to associates are unsecured, FEU FER B S N E 2 RIBY A ER

interest-free and not repayable within one year.

Included in the loans to an associate of HK$82 million
(2013: Nil) is secured by the pledge of the entire
share capital of South China International Purchasing
Exchange Centre Limited (“SCI”), interest-bearing at
12% per annum, and is repayable in December 2015.

The remaining loans are unsecured,

interest-free and

not repayable within twelve months from the end of the

reporting period.
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 21.

Particulars of the principal associate are as follows:
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Akl f— Al s Y
i RN A EEE )
FEHENFFBOT

Percentage of

Particulars Place of equity interest
of issued Business incorporation/ attributable
Name shares held structure business to the Group Principal activity
AL,
A8 RECROTROFE XBEE EESiE AEEELERERAL  TEXE
2014 2013
ZE-QNE | ZE-=F
SCI* Ordinary shares of Corporate Hong Kong 50 50  Investment holding
HK$1 each (unlisted)
EHER BREEIETL NG| £ REER
L@k (3F L)
i Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another G BIRBEBRKEET Em%ﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬁ%
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network Jr M EB R c EMmKES
qu e T4 3

The above table lists the associate of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other associates
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars
of excessive length. All associates were indirectly held by
the Company.

SCI is considered as a material associate of the Group
and is accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements. SCI and its subsidiary
(collectively, the “SCI Group”) are mainly engaged in the
property investment and development.

EERA LERMIIARE 2B L QR
RIBFEARGENAFE 2 EEHA
KRAEEEEFEIZMH2BER
Bl A R FIIEMRE S L 2B E
REZER A @SHERBRITE.
PrAEMENRHAARIRERA -

EHERERAARE—REBEBER
Bl WA M B RRAERIEAR
EEBEREEKEB LR (5 [ FEr R
KB ETERFVERRERBERER -
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21. R B A E Z R ()

TRINTEFBEREEZMBERRE
(ERESBRZEMNEREHAR)Y
HEAPMHBAAIREABEYRA T

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of SCI Group adjusted for any differences
in accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying

168

amount in the consolidated financial statements:

2014 2013
—E—-F —_F—=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET TAET
Current assets MENEE 203,530 67,614
Non-current assets FEREBEE 622,865 539,695
Current liabilities mENEE (525,443) (393,004)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (201,344) (86,919)
Net assets EEFE 99,608 127,386
Reconciliation to the Group’s EAREEREE AR Z
interest in the associate: e 75 ¥ B
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 2N 52 B B & #E 2 Lt {7 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of REBEEBERRZ
the associate BEFE 49,804 63,693
Amount due from the associate FE UG B & N B SR IE 172,816 146,308
Loans to the associate BT EEE N TZEM 129,161 47,201
Carrying amount of the investment & & iREE 351,781 257,202
Revenue WA - -
Loss and total comprehensive AEEHEREZHEBERRE
loss for the year 27,778 10,840

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s associates that are not Z

individually material:

THRIFAEEAZNFEAL HEAT
AR

2014 2013
—E-NEF —F—=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Aggregate carrying amount of the AEERBERRIZERZ
Group’s interests in the associates ~ A2BREIE (3,972 (3,879)




22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
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22, W fit i} & & &

INVESTMENTS
Group
rEH
2014 2013
—E-F —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FExT FET
Listed equity investments in REBEMBRAEE EHE
Hong Kong, at market value 491,942 954,368
Unlisted equity investment, at cost ~ FF E TR ARG E - A A 30,202 —
522,144 954,368
Less: Available-for-sale investments & : 2 48 A EH & 2 Al it
classified as held for sale HEXRE - (773,711)
Non-current portion FEBNERER 1 522,144 180,657

The listed equity investments represented the Group’s
entire equity interests in China South City Holdings
Limited (“CSC”) which were designated as available-for-
sale financial assets and have no fixed maturity date or
coupon rate.

During the year, the gross gain in respect of the
Group’s available-for-sale listed equity investments
recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to
HK$464,833,000 (2013: HK$260,951,000), out of which
HK$152,315,000 (2013: HK$38,389,000) was reclassified
upon disposal from other comprehensive income to the
statement of profit or loss for the year.

HRARE A EER R ERE
R (TR 2 2 5AHE - HiEE
AR ESREERSETH AR
=R -

FR - REMEZERATERZASE
Boa#EE EmRAKRE 2 WER
%8 /464,833,000 L (=2 — =4 :

260,951,000/ 7T ) » E 152,315,000/
7T (— = — =4 : 38,389,000/ 7T ) Jh A
HERBEMEEKAETIBEEARSF
EzE&mEKe

169



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2014

Notes to Financial Statements
W% ) & Mt sk

31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

22

170

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
INVESTMENTS (Continued)

On 6 February 2013, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group (the “CSC Vendor”), Chen’s International
Investment Limited (the “Purchaser”, an independent
third party), Mr. Chen Hong Tian (the “Guarantor”, an
independent third party) and the Company entered into
a sale and purchase agreement (the “S&P Agreement”),
pursuant to which the CSC Vendor has conditionally
agreed to sell and the Purchaser has conditionally
agreed to acquire 750,000,000 shares of CSC (the
“Sale Shares”), representing approximately 12.39%
of the issued share capital of CSC at the date of
the S&P Agreement, at a total cash consideration of
HK$1,162,500,000 (i.e., HK$1.55 per Sale Share).

At 31 March 2013, the disposal of 154,838,000 Sale
Shares was completed and the disposal of the remaining
595,162,000 Sale Shares was to be completed by 30
June 2013. Accordingly, the carrying fair value of these
remaining Sale Shares was classified as held for sale on
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2013. Further details of the S&P Agreement were
set out in the Company’s circular dated 13 March 2013.
The debit available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
in relation to the Sale Shares yet to be disposed of as at
31 March 2013 amounted to HK$1,232,000. During the
year ended 31 March 2014, the disposal of the remaining
595,162,000 Sale Shares was completed.

The fair values of these listed equity investments are
based on the quoted market price.

As at 31 March 2014, the unlisted equity investment
with a carrying amount of HK$30,202,000 (2013: Nil)
was stated at cost less impairment because the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the
directors are of the opinion that its fair value cannot be
measured reliably. The Group does not intend to dispose
of it in the near future.

THHERE @

RZE—=F"AXB Ar&EEz—HE
2EWNBAA (TEMMES]) Chen's
International Investment Limited ([ &
Al BAYE=F) BROAREE (TER
AN BIE=F) RANRABIEIZEE®
= ([BEEm=R]) Bt -ZEERELES
ERHRELHEMELSEEKERE
5 B%750,000,0001% = Fa 3 2 B 1 ([
ElRH]) HERERKRREEHZEB
HIE B 1TRR AN 4912.39% - & N E4%E
731,162,500,0007% 7T (B8 IR & IR 15
1.55%7T) °

RZE—=F=ZA=+—H - HE
154,838,000k fF ERME T - RHEE
#42 1595,162,000/ FE R D TR R =
T-ZFXNAZTHATEK Bt %5
BTHERONDZEDAFER-_Z—=
FZRA=+—ARKREAVBRARAS
EARBERE -BEEMRCE— DB
ENARATBEHAE-_E—=F=/A1+=
AZBHA RZE—=F=RA=+—
BEBNEFLEZHFERND 2 AT #iE
ERBEEGHHEEHE 2B H S5 A1,232,000
BT - REBE-_Z-—NWNE=A=1+—8
IFFER - HE# T595,162,00008F &
PR B 7Rk ©

ZFHBRARE 2 AFETIZT SR
)

Z
BtE -

RZZE—NFE=A=+—H0 KEEA
30,202,000/%75 (ZE—=F:E)23
ERRAIEE TR AR BES BR
FRAAGERAFEMTHEEBNERZ N
HEERBERATFEEEURAE X
SEB TN ] AR E5ZIE L ARAR
BE -
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22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE o fit i & & &

23.

INVESTMENTS (Continued)

At 31 March 2013, the carrying amount of the Group’s R-ZE—=F=ZA=+—H A~E£BR
interests in the listed equity investments classified as DEAAHBERE EMRAIEE 2 #
available-for-sale investments exceeded 10% of the total m REEBARNSEREE 210% °
assets of the Group.
Percentage of
Particulars equity interest
of issued Business Place of attributable
Name shares held structure incorporation to the Group Principal activities
A L AEEELRE
£ FEEBRTRAFE XBES bk BOk FEER
2014 2013
—E-ME | Z2—=F
CSC Ordinary shares of Corporate Hong Kong 2.01 12.13  Property development,
HK$0.01 each investment and
management
Zi SREECOETLZ  AFA BE NEER RER
TR B

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23. % 2 P 5 R Bt B g5 h R

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS Wz emmEE
Group
rEE
2014 2013
—E-nmE —T—=F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FExT TFAET
Hong Kong listed equity investments, &5 ETRERE R E
at market value 48,350 -
Singapore listed debt investment, g FEKIRE  EmE
at market value 1,267 -
Unlisted investments, at fair value ELEMRE  ZRAFE 55,452 15,313
105,069 15,313
Less: Current portion B - BNEREB 17 (100,415) -
Non-current portion JEENEAER 1 4,654 15,313
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23.

24.

172

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The listed equity and debt investments at 31 March 2014
were classified as held for trading.

The unlisted investments at 31 March 2014 and 2013
were, upon initial recognition, designated by the Group as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they
are managed and their performance are evaluated on a
fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk
management and investment strategy, and information
about the investments is provided on that basis to the
Group’s key management personnel.

The fair values of the above investments were based on
the market values provided by financial institutions or
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.

At 31 March 2014, the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of HK$29,975,000 (2013:
HK$15,313,000) were pledged to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 44).

STRUCTURED DEPOSITS

Structured deposits were stated at fair value and
represented several deposits placed in banks. The Group
designated the structured deposits as investments at fair
value through profit or loss in accordance with HKAS 39.
As at 31 March 2014, the aggregate fair values of the
structured deposits at approximately HK$24,993,000
(2013: HK$81,643,000) and total realised and unrealised
fair value gains of HK$2,972,000 (2013: HK$1,399,000)
were recognised by the Group during the year.

At 31 March 2014 and 2013, a structured deposit with a
value of HK$12,250,000 was pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 44).

The fair value was based on the market value provided by
financial institutions at the end of the reporting period.

24.

=] '3Eiﬁ?§i§ﬁﬁ§\?ﬂ*ﬁﬁwﬁj?ﬁzﬁﬁ
BT RIEAFEIIRMNESETERE
LEBMEE REBZIFIRENIRER
)IZJ—LAMEE&&,%%W BAFEEE

EERRFTMERE MBEBZRERE
ZERNDEZEERASE TEER
ABERf-

QZTEETEHM%&H%TET Z
SR MG ME/ELE-

iz‘mxiéfz
m{ES N

R-E—NF=A=1+—H A%EH
B8 529,975,000 L (= —=F:
wmsmw&ﬂZE@¥ﬁﬂ%&ﬁ
Bt EEBEZERmEECERE EA
AEBME—RBTEEZER(HiE
44) °

R R

RBETERRATFEIRERETFER
fﬁﬂz;&z%ﬁm AEBEREESS
5122 R 5305 18 45 B 1= 7 3 I8 & B IR
AFEIEREENRIEZTEEZEE R
—E-NE=ZA=+—H #BHEEX
2 48N {E 5 #924,993,000/ 7T ( — =

— =% :81,643,00087T) AR EEH K
IR N FE U S 48 582,972,000 7T
(ZZT—=%:1,399,000/7T) ERNFR
AL EER -

R-E—MER - TE—=F=F=+—
B - E{E £&12,250,0005 Tt 2 & & M 17
RERIF EAXEERTER —MRIETT
1:1%2%}*17'?% (Hf3E44) -

RNHETIRMERENRERREMHRZ
mESEE-
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25. PROPERTIES UNDER 25. BRI ¥
DEVELOPMENT
Group
rEE
2014 2013
—E-mEF —E—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
At beginning of year REA) 1,568,811 1,351,972
Additions NE 246,564 209,935
Transfer to properties held for sale ~ BEEEH{EFE 2 WE (755,662) —
Exchange realignment ME W SR 22,512 6,904
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,082,225 1,568,811
Properties under development TEEIR A AR % T 2 B R
expected to be completed: ER
Within normal operating cycle BERRBEECHBLE
included under current assets PEREEIAN 99,507 604,216
Beyond normal operating cycle BEERBEEZHBLE
included under non-current assets i HA 982,718 964,595
1,082,225 1,568,811
Properties under development FEHRUATEEREERA
expected to be completed within T N Al Ug (o] 7 3 R A ) %
normal operating cycle and
recovered:
Within one year —F R 99,507 577,371
After one year —F1& - 26,845
99,507 604,216

The Group’s properties under development were located
in Mainland China.

Included in the Group’s properties under development as
at 31 March 2014 were land use rights with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$229,056,000
(2013: HK$572,046,000) held under medium term leases.

AEB 2 BRPYEMRHBIARE-

AEER-_T—NF=ZA=+—BERE

Y% B BREE ) /229,056,000 7T
—E— =4 :572,046,0008 7T ) A Hf

MHEaz L EmkE-
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25. PROPERTIES UNDER
DEVELOPMENT (Continued)
At 31 March 2014, the Group’s properties under
development with a value of HK$411,374,000 (2013:

HK$903,477,000) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 44).

Further particulars of the Group’s major properties under

25. BB YW E (m)

R-_ZE—WMFE=ZA=+—H8 &x&H
B{E411,374,000 T (ZF—=

903,477,000 7T ) 2 BERHPYE D EE
B ERAREBME—RBITEECE
R (FzE44) »

AEBZIBRRPYEE—THIF

development are included on pages 237 to 240. N FE237E240H o
26. INVENTORIES 26. 7 &
Group
AEE
2014 2013
—E—-OF —E—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT THTT
Finished goods BUPK - 3,358
Food and beverages R kg 37,148 43,774
37,148 47,132
27. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND 27. MEWCER 7% ~ % & e T8 ft 2k

PREPAYMENTS
Included in the balance is an amount of HK$50,446,000

45 £ 8 $550,446,0008 70 ( Z & —

g |

(2013: HK$40,203,000) representing the trade debtors of F : 40,203,000/ 7T ) AAEE 2 EKE
the Group. SRR
Group
AEE
2014 2013
—E-MF —T—=%F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Trade debtors U E Z R 70,891 60,236
Impairment BE (20,445) (20,033)
50,446 40,203
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27. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

An aged analysis of such debtors as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
provision, is as follows:

7. [
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B K~ @ & T A Ak A
)

RO K A5 B R AR R B 2 B
BB AEZERAITNT

w o

Group

REE
2014 2013
—E—-mF —E—=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Current to 30 days BIHRZ=30H 6,214 8,410
31 to 60 days 31260H 5,833 5,272
61 to 90 days 61290H 18,323 2,149
Over 90 days B0 A 20,076 04,372
50,446 40,203

CREDIT TERMS

For hotel, restaurant and food business, the Group’s
trading terms with its customer are mainly on cash
and credit card settlements. For property sales, credit
terms vary in accordance with the terms of the sale and
purchase agreements. All trade debtors are recognised
and carried at their original invoiced amounts less
impairment of debtors which is recorded when the
collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad
debts are written off as incurred.

In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the
Group’s trade debtors relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances. Trade
debtors are non-interest-bearing.

5 Bk

B ERASEBTE - ARME
HEF 2 EHHR—BRUAS REAT
BHRE  RMEMET S - EEHERA
B B A 2 R T B - B B
ESEADEARERL BNRATE
pE=a TEPEEONPd IS £ 1
ORI RS  HRRELH T
A

ZREE| L ER kAR B RIKE 5 R
BRRENZBEBHEFP2EE RE
ERZEERRES - AK B 85 %
ERHBFEEMERSIEBEERA-
BHRMERIE REFH R -
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27. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND 2.

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade
debtors are as follows:

ME R BR 3K - 4% @ R TR A AR
()

BHRYIRR CREREBEZEB T :

Group

rEH
2014 2013
—E-mF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
At beginning of year NG 20,033 18,576
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) #ER N EE1E (M :E6) 86 1,565
Amount written off as uncollectible ~ {E&-~ A Uk [B] 2 it 4 & %8 - (226)
Exchange realignment bE W A 326 118
At 31 March R=A=+—H 20,445 20,033

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
debtors is a provision for individually impaired trade
debtors of HK$20,445,000 (2013: HK$20,033,000) with
a carrying amount before provision of HK$21,306,000
(2013: HK$20,557,000). Such provision was determined
after taking into account the ageing of individual debtors’
balances, the creditworthiness of the debtors, the
repayment history and historical write-off experience.
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FRBTREREZERZRERES
BRENERERRKEZERIELZ
B {%20,445,0008 L (ZE — =&
20,033,000 7T ) * 2 F MR 2 BB
Al BR [ 18 /521,306,000 7T (—FE— =
£ : 20,557,000/ 7T ) - Z B 2 BRI &
KBERMEREFPEREREHR R
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27. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND 27. MW R K -t @ I TE A K
PREPAYMENTS (Continued) (%)
The aged analysis of the trade debtors that are not BAERRE 2 FEW AR FRERE AT 4T

considered to be impaired is as follows:

Group
rEE
2014 2013
—E—-mF —T—=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Neither past due nor impaired R HA ok R ORUE 6,214 11,792
Less than 1 month past due mH DR —1E A 5,791 2,090
1 to 3 months past due mHEl—ZFE = A 18,364 3,214
Over 3 months past due 7% HAER @ = & A 19,216 22 583
49,585 39,679
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate R8BS AR OR B 2 FE MR BR 08 K3 BRI
to a large number of diversified customers for whom there BRPEHEIREDHZIER
was no recent history of default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate BERBERREZERERTIEERZ
to a number of independent customers that have a good ZRAEERFROITECHEIBIYR
track record with the Group. Based on past experience, PoREBELR KXRARESERA #
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no ZEEBNE AR EEERITRESE
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these BEREY BzEE DA BEkE -
balances as there has not been a significant change in B 7B h VR B R AT R (B H 4 o
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.
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28. DUE FROM DIRECTORS

Particulars of amounts due from directors, disclosed
pursuant to Section 161B of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, are as follows:

8. JME Yy # % 3k 18

RIBEFB R EHIE161BIFHE 2 EUR
FIBFIBZFHBWOT

Group rER

Maximum

amount
31 March outstanding 1 April
Name 2014 during the year 2013
—g-mE | FAKKER 2=
i =ZA=+-H ZERER mA—A
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FEL
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung BNERE 776 2,920 -
Mr. Ma Kai Yum SNMREE 727 5,006 -
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SEH L 273 278 -
1,776 8,199 =

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the minimum
amount outstanding for the amounts due from Messrs.
Ma Kai Cheung, Ma Kai Yum and Ma Hung Ming, John
was a credit balance of HK$11,504,000, HK$727,000
and a credit balance of HK$2,537,000, respectively.

The amounts due from directors are unsecured, interest-
free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

RBE-_Z-—MNME=A=1+—HItEE
N ERENELE BEBNREERS
B ERIB MAREERESED T
BIEE&8411,504,00058 7T~ 727,0005
TC M AS B 45 842,537,000/ 7T ©

FEWE £ 2 IR E IR - 5 8 K [E
SEERE -

Company NN
Maximum
amount
31 March outstanding 1 April
Name 2014 during the year 2013
—B-QmF FARAKER —T-=F
i =A=t+-H ZEREH mMA—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT THET
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BBkt 1,371 1,371 -
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28. DUE FROM DIRECTORS (Continued) 28. JEUr & H %K TE (@)

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the minimum REE-_Z—NF=ZA=Z+—HLFE
amount outstanding for the amount due from Mr. Ma W LRSS BEE A RIB 2 HAREER
Hung Ming, John was a credit balance of HK$1,439,000. =KX A= EA#1,439,000/8 T ©
The amount due from a director is unsecured, interest- R —R2EEFEAEKR 28 KE
free and has no fixed terms of repayment. EEERE -

29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 20. e kB L2EFMHEE - ZRH
RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED Bl & K Bk 77 5K
DEPOSITS

Group Company
N | ¥ NG|
2014 2013 2014 2013
ZE-NE | —T-=F| ZEB-NF| —T-=F
Note HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 TER FAET THER BT
Cash and bank balances Re RBTER 372,569 370,350 181 677
Time deposits EHER 68,589 165,602 - -
441,158 535,952 181 677
Less: Pledged time deposits for & : AR HRTE
long term bank loans HEHZ
EHTE (61,564) (29,661) - -
Pledged time deposits for B—HRRTE
general banking facilities EREHR
and short term bank loans TEFER
L EBFR (6,477) (13,865) - -
Restricted cash ARHIRE (a) (10,123) (13,013) - -
Cash and cash equivalents RekHeEER
H 362,994 479,413 181 677
Note: Bt 5T
(@)  According to relevant contracts, property development @ IERAEBAYN AEBRNEBEYEER
companies of the Group are required to place at ZRABATR—ELEREERTA
designated bank accounts certain amounts as deposits for AIBE R IR 2 M E B RIBMHE
potential default in payment of mortgage loans advanced R ZIBIRAE S TR ERITES A
to property purchasers. Such guarantee deposits will only EEEREERBNZMEERBRTT
be released either after the property ownership certificate B2 BN RIBHRE 7 TR

is submitted to the banks as collateral or when the
property purchasers have repaid the full mortgage loans to
the banks.
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29,

30.

180

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and
bank balances (including time deposits) of the Group
denominated in Renminbi amounted to HK$187,277,000
(2013: HK$129,784,000). The Renminbi is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange Renminbi for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

TRADE CREDITORS

An aged analysis of trade creditors as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

29.

30.

BerkBe%HEEH - ZMRH
He ke | EX @

RBEBR AEE RS RASET
F(REEHER)EARKEBEREAM
H1F 2 K82 B E187,277,0008 T (=2
— =4 :129,784,000% 7T) - A R ¥ K
RREEBARAEMEE BREFEX
BE 2 SNEE B AR 1 K A5 BE - &5 0B K BB
ERKOEE AT AEEE BT E
TINEXER ZRITRBARB BHEME
ﬁ’g o

RITASRMZF B TRE BRITER
MEZZFBHMERME - RBATERFRZ
HRA— N F—HZ=EATE 8
BFEAEE 2 EREHFR LRTF
Z R HITE AR SRR B« SRIT A 17 ]2
BEHEREFRRNEERFBNTEPREE
HIRCER 2 SRTT

ME f & 5 Bk 3K

RBEHR BNEZFERRREZAH
ZRREDMAT

Group

rEE
2014 2013

—E-NEF ===

HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Current to 30 days BNHEAZ=30H 122,954 91,211
31 to 60 days 31E60H 3,272 5,879
61 to 90 days 61290H 6,350 4,540
Over 90 days B3890 H 6,851 6,434
139,427 108,064

Trade creditors are non-interest-bearing and repayable
within the normal operating cycle.

ENEZERRTEAMNERBERLERE
ERYNEE-
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 1. B Z AT R H A1 &
OTHER BORROWINGS
Group RE
31 March 2014 31 March 2013
—E-NEZA=1+-H —E-—=%#=-A=+—H
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$°000 rate (%)  Maturity HK$'000
ERFZE  FHA TEx | ERFIE  3HA BT
Current
B
Bank overdraft — secured 48-55 Ondemand 13,107 - - -
BOBES - BER REX
Bank loans - secured 22-6.9 by March 2015 303,318 | 2.0-8.3 byMarch 2014 207,009
TEF-HHA “2-IF=R —T-ME=A

Current portion of long term bank 1.2-7.8 by March 2015 190,137 | 1.2-7.9 by March 2014 239,965
loans - secured

HHRBRTER-FER “Z-1%ZH —T-MmE=A
Long term bank loans repayable on | 2.2-3.2  On demand 52,601 | 22-7.9 Ondemand 248,369
demand - secured (note)
RERHEERBRTER REX REKR
— B (Hi3)
559,163 695,343
Non-current
F B
Bank loans - secured 1.2-7.8 2015-2025 315012 | 12-78 2014-2025 252,492
TER-HER —Z-1fZ “T-MEE
ZEChF ZTCRE
Other loans - unsecured 8.5 by December 37,752 8.5 byDecember 2014 49,436
2015
At ER—EER “E-IF+ZA “E-MEFTA
352,764 301,928
911,927 997,271
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND

OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

31. MR 2 AT R K fb fa & (a0

182

Group
AEE
2014 2013
—E—-F —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Analysed into: WA
Bank overdrafts repayable within AR —FARRERFEEL
one year or on demand RITHE XL 13,107 =
Bank loans repayable: IRITEFENRS:
Within one year or on demand —FANRERFEER
(note) (M%) 546,056 695,343
In the second year F4F 150,462 135,617
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=FEFRE
(BEREMERRBEN) 116,287 106,115
Beyond five years AFEMNE 48,263 10,760
861,068 947,835
Other borrowings repayable: ZKMT%WWE%Z
HiEE
In the second year %:¢ 37,752 49,436
911,927 997,271

Note: The Group’s term loans with an aggregate carrying

amount of HK$136,476,000 (2013: HK$398,072,000)
containing on-demand clauses have been classified in
total as current liabilities. Accordingly, a portion of those
term loans due for repayment after one year with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$52,601,000 (2013:
HK$248,369,000) has been reclassified as current
liabilities. For the purpose of the above analysis, the loans
are included within current interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and analysed into bank loans repayable within
one year or on demand.

Based on the maturity terms of the loans, the amounts
repayable in respect of these term loans are: within
one year or on demand HK$83,875,000 (2013:
HK$149,703,000); in the second year HK$16,352,000
(2013: HK$75,744,000); in the third to fifth years, inclusive
HK$12,120,000 (2013: HK$101,725,000); and over five
years HK$24,129,000 (2013: HK$70,900,000).

B 5L -

REE a%ﬁ—lﬁﬂﬂﬁmﬁt{
HEEE NEJ%M@‘%%Z
RARAR Efﬁtﬂemmo o%‘
—=f: 398,072 ooo,%fn)

LD 2 T I AR —

2 488K ™ & 552,601,0007
=% : 048,369,000/ 7T ) 7
?ﬁmiﬁﬁmugﬁf o kb it
= REERREE— EW&
i%Z/MLEjJBﬁngTT&/H'@f BR-

%Xr
a

ﬁﬁ%“@nwﬁm

_m
i‘mEIAH}
A I 3

F—“+>+
S0 =H e b gl -

FEl
L) %
BN E

i Dilf

75, 744 ooo,%ru) :”k:

M4 B IE1E M) 512,120,0005

(=—Z&—=4:101,725,000/% Jt. )

&ﬁiuttzzngoooﬁ%x(:
— =4 : 70,900,000/ 7T ©



31.

32.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND
OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Included in the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings as at 31 March 2014 were borrowings
with a carrying amount of HK$322,828,000 (2013:
HK$479,464,000) which were denominated in Renminbi.
The remaining interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings were secured by the pledge of certain of
the Group’s assets as further detailed in note 44 to the
financial statements.

FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

The Group leases certain of its motor vehicles for its
property investment and development business. These
leases are classified as finance leases and have remaining
lease terms of three years.

31.

32.
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8z AT &3 b fe B (a0

R-_ZTE—WME=ZA=+—8 &A%
BERECRITEREMEEREREE
#£322,828,0008 L (=T — =& :
479,464,000 70) 2 B E A ARG
B HSfWEZRITREMEENAET
HRER

AEBETHWEZRITREMEERTIA
BHAKRBETEERER £E—FF
BN SRR 744

ME £F b 8 LB
AREREYELERERLEHEE
ETHAE - REHEREAREESE
BTEEFHA=F-
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32. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES (Continued)

At 31 March 2014, the total future minimum lease
payments under finance leases and their present values

32. EMMEME ()

R_E-—NE=A=+—HB ®EHE
BT ZARZERENRERLARE

184

were as follows:

T :

Present value | Present value
Minimum Minimum of minimum of minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
2014 2013 2014 2013
EREEMNR | REHRENK
BEHEENR | REHEERNRK ZHE ZHE
“E-mE | —F—= ZE-OF | T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Group PN | TER FTHT TER FTHET
Amounts payable: T ER BT 2 508 -
Within one year —ER 825 825 776 740
In the second year E_F 619 825 607 776
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZEFRF
(BREEMF) - 619 - 607
Total minimum finance lease payments &IXE &M E R 45 1,444 2,269 1,383 2,123
Future finance charges ARBEER (61) (146)
Total net finance lease payables ERRERERIBEFE 1,383 2,123
Portion classified as current liabilitles 248 AR 2N & &2 0 (776) (740)
Non-current portion JEENEER 607 1,383
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33. DEFERRED TAX 33. i & B
The movements in deferred tax during the year are as REZRLERIB 2 ZHHOT
follows:
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES i B TE B R
Group rE
2014
—B-mE
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in  adjustments
excess of  arising from
related acquisition of Revaluation
depreciation  subsidiaries  of properties Total
W Bt
BARBITE AREER
MITERBE - ATERR MEER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET THExT
At 1 April 2013 RZE-—=50A—H 2,903 262,737 173,248 438,888
Deferred tax charged/(credited) o~ AEEEFRP
the statement of profit or loss %/ (GtA)Z
during the year (note 10) ERFIE (fi3E10) 21,437 (2,375) 5,552 24,614
Exchange realignment B 5 R - C)] 525 516
Gross deferred tax liabilities at RZZE-mE=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2014 ZEEHEERLE 24,340 260,353 179,325 464,018

185



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2014

Notes to Financial Statements
W% i & M sk

31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

33. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 33. % 2 A I;i (&)
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS i A B B
Group rEE
2014
—E-UE
Losses available
for offsetting
against future
taxable profits
o] F LA ER 5K 3R
PESR B 5= A
K2 B8
HK$°000
FET
At 1 April 2013 W —=FWA—H 1,807
Deferred tax charged to the statement of REEBEEKRP R ZBELER IR
profit or loss during the year (note 10) (MI3E10) (72)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 March 2014 RZE—NNF=A=+—HZ
REHIEEERE 1,735
Deferred tax assets and liabilities at the end of the REHR EEREEERBEE T
reporting period, presented after appropriate offsetting: EEHH:
HK$’000
FET
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE SRR R FER Z
consolidated statement of financial position EEIBAE 462,283
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33. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 33. % i A E (@)
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES % R E B R
Group rEH

2013
—T—=F
Depreciation Fair value

alowance in  adjustments
excess of arising from
related  acquisition of Revaluation

depreciation subsidiaries  of properties Total
AU B
HEEHETE ARAELEZ
MTERNE ATERE MEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TAT THT
At 1 April 2012 RZE——FNH—H 3,179 263,465 159,214 425,858
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to ~ AEEFBERF
the statement of profit or loss nh/ (GtA) 2
during the year (note 10) ERTIE (MizE10) (276) (728) 13,851 12,847
Exchange realignment i AR - - 183 183
Gross deferred tax liabilities at R-ZE—=%=A=+-H
31 March 2013 ik L*RIEE BB 2,903 262,737 173,248 438,888
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33. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 33. i % B 1 (40
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS % A B & E
Group - |
2013
—FE—=F
Losses available
for offsetting
against future
taxable profits
A] FA LA B 2R 3R
JE R T 42
5 2 B 18
HK$’000
FET
At 1 April 2012 R-—Z——#mA—Q 1,029
Deferred tax charged to the statement of REEBmERFPHGRZ
profit or loss during the year (note 10) EIERIE (FiFE10) (122)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 March 2013 N—_E—=F=H=+—HZ
BIETHIAEERE 1,807
Deferred tax assets and liabilities at the end of the REEHR EERBEERBED T
reporting period, presented after appropriate offsetting: HEHH:
HK$’000
FET
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE TR A RERZ
consolidated statement of financial position RERHIBE R 437,081
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33. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$211,874,000 (2013: HK$202,157,000), subject
to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department, that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose. The Group also has estimated tax
losses arising in Mainland China of HK$126,581,000
(2013: HK$99,038,000) that will expire in one to five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rates are 5% and 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

At 31 March 2014, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately HK$668,459,000 at 31
March 2014 (2013: HK$530,706,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.
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33. % M A IE (@)

AEEEBRBEEAZHIEBIE
211,874,000 L (=% — = F:
202,157,000/ 7T ) " BB BT B 1%
FE ML EE BT &R B DA SR A S
B2 BHR B2 R E R 5 A K 8 o
AEBETNEAEREPREKRE ZGEEFHIE
E518126,581,0008 L (=T — =%
99,038,000 7T) * Mt FEEAER —
FERFRINET - AT A ABE R R ERT
A - ARRBRATAIREEERHZ
FERTL s K R E SH AT Bh AR 2 I H 18
BB R SEERRELEHEE
%Eo

BE (PRLEMSTOR) - NP BEARE
R 2 HNERBIMIEET R 2R -
ARBKI0%EHNH - BEAREE -F
ENF-A-—HBER WEAR-F
TLtFET _A=+T—"RBMELZAR
) o fiaf P B K B BRI SMR B P8 B
R EEARBRG Al RBER
TR - NEB 2 BA LR R5% K
10% ° Bt - NE BB L% F R R B K
R B AR — ST NF—H—
B EL 2 BFM DK ISR IEN
o

R-ZT—MNE=ZA=+—H8 AEBEIL
R B RERY B ASRBIRZ
MEBAR 2 RKELRFMEREN 2 TE
MR -FEERE ZEMBRARIRAR
REDEZERINZEE IR - R ZFE
—MFE=ZA=1+—H H#HEFEKEY
MBARZIREREB 2 ERMEEZES
H #9668,459,00078 JT A & T R A& &
FIBEE (—T— =4 :530,706,000/
JL) °

AN B 60 £ PR ROR A 3 4 2 4 T 15
G
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34.

190

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 34. fiE e L H
INSTRUMENTS
Assets Liabilities
BE =4
2014 2013 2014 2013
“2-mE | ZF-=F| ZB-RE| ZT-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
Group N | TERT THT TRET TET
Interest rate swap 7| o 1R - - 4,044 7,270
Forward contract RHBEH - 32,477 - =
- 32,477 4,044 7,270
Portion classified as non-current: 238 & IEENH 2 2517
Interest rate swap | 2 HA - = (1,536) (4,224)
Current portion ANERER {7 - 32,477 2,508 3,046

The Group uses an interest rate swap to minimise its
exposure to movements in interest rate in relation to one
of its floating rate term loans with a nominal amount of
HK$200,000,000 (2013: HK$200,000,000). Such swap
did not meet the criteria for hedge accounting.

The forward contract was in relation to the S&P
Agreement (note 22) whereby the Group had conditionally
agreed to sell and the Purchaser had conditionally agreed
to purchase the Sale Shares at a predetermined price of
HK$1.55 per Sale Share.

These derivatives are not designated for hedge purposes
and are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Fair
value loss of these derivatives of HK$37,143,000 (2013:
gain of HK$30,521,000) was recognised in the statement
of profit or loss during the year.

The above derivatives were measured at fair value at the
end of the reporting period and were determined based
on discounted cash flows model.

7N £ B {# F & % £ %8200,000,000/%8 7T
—=— =4 :200,000,000/& 7T ) 2 & =&
EHEDURER =B E —BAREZ R
ERZ B ZERAU TS EH ARG
=2

EHEHNNEREE S (HE22) 66
Bt AEBECERERELEERET
ERGRHREBEEGERD BEER
BRFERN1.558TT

ZENMET AV EETEETRER
EAFEREBETRREARNGTE -%ZE
PTHET B2 AF{EE1E37,143,0007 7T
— T — = :g35£30,521,000/% 7T ) B
REANFTABRRK-

BAET 4 T AR & EAR 2 A TR
BESHEERGE



39.

36.

DEFERRED INCOME

The deferred income represents cash subsidies received
from a government authority in respect of a property
development project in Mainland China. No deferred
income was released to the statement of profit or loss
during the years ended 31 March 2014 and 2013.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 1 February 2013, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with an independent placing
agent to issue convertible notes that are convertible into
ordinary shares of the Company in the principal amount of
HK$80,000,000.

On 15 February 2013 (the “Issuance Date”), all convertible
notes were issued in full to the subscribers. The
convertible notes were unsecured, bore interest at 5%
per annum and were due for repayment at 100% of the
outstanding principal amount on 14 February 2014 (the
“Maturity Date”). The convertible notes were convertible
into ordinary shares of the Company at any time from
the Issuance Date up to five business days prior to (and
excluding) the Maturity Date at a conversion price of
HK$1.15 per share (subject to adjustment). Upon full
conversion of the convertible notes, a total of 69,565,208
new ordinary shares of the Company would be issued.

During the year, convertible notes with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$75,000,000 (2013: HK$5,000,000)
were converted into 65,217,383 (2013: 4,347,825) new
ordinary shares of the Company at a conversion price of
HK$1.15 per share (2013: HK$1.15 per share). All of the
convertible notes were converted as at 31 March 2014
and the outstanding principal amount of the convertible
notes as at 31 March 2013 amounted to HK$75,000,000.

35.

36. 1]
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02 WA

RS IR BV BUR 2P BR — TR

BAENABRI D2 REMY BE
—MER=F-=#=A=+—H

¢¢r'ﬁﬁ%¢1ﬂ TEWA ©

i ik 3

R-T—=F"A—H AQAE—%
BUREREIUREHZUAEITEAS
%8 /580,000,0007% 7T I A 8 #6052 )
LW 2 AR R o

RZTE—=F-_A+HAB([%47H
H]) FEAETRREBEBHETT
REA-TERERNEER ZEF
5%t B R AN _ZT—NFE_A+MWA
(TRER D RERITEAREL T 2100%
BE -AIMREBTBERTEHREIES
B (R TE#EZB) B A EE % B ERR
EREZRIA5BT (A THAE)EnA
RRABZ LB - NBHE BB
%1% - & $£69,565,208% A &) 1 & @
B F LA B AT

F A& 8% 575,000,000 7T (=
T — = 4 : 5,000,0005 7T ) Z Al 2 iR =
BEREBREFERII5ET(ZE—=
F:F1.158 70 ) 1% 565,217,383
T T —=1F:4,347,8250% ) RARIF
AR -FMAEABRREBENR T —NF=
A=t+—BREREABRREEN_F
—=F =A==+ —HZHRTELASE
/75,000,0007% 7T °
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36.

192

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The conversion options were recognised as derivative
financial instruments and were measured at fair value
on initial recognition. The respective excess of proceeds
over the amount initially recognised as the derivative
component of the convertible notes were recognised as
liability component which were subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

The movements of the liability component and derivative
component of the convertible notes issued by the
Company are as follows:

36. 1] i % =

WAMERAATESBIA YR
SRR RATESE - SRR
MR A ARRERE 2 67 T A1
Sz AMER DR AR EBOLHE
CELh LIRSS e

ARBBEIT A BMBRER 2 BERD R
TET AR 2EFHWT

Liability Derivative

component component Total

BERs MEIAHS et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FET TET

At 1 April 2012 R-ZE——&#mA—H - - -

Issuance during the year RERELT 59,029 20,971 80,000

Conversion during the year RERNEHR (3,753) (949) (4,702)

Fair value change NEEE - (8,041) (8,041)

Interest expense MEFAX 2,135 = 2135
At 31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013 R=-ZT—=4F

=RA=t—-HkK

“E-=F1H—H 57,411 11,981 69,392

Conversion during the year EA$ LA (64,307) (26,086) (90,393)

Fair value change RNEES - 14,105 14,105

Interest expense MEFAX 6,896 = 6,896
At 31 March 2014 R_T—OF

=A=+—H - - _
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37. SHARE CAPITAL 37. k&
Company
PN/
2014 2013
—E-NE —E—=4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TET FAETT
Authorised: JETEREA
2,000,000,000 (2013: FREECI10E T Z
2,000,000,000) ordinary shares &3/ A% 2,000,000,0000%
of HK$0.10 each (ZEB—=%:
2,000,000,0000% ) 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BET R
1,248,887,536 (2013: R EECI10E T
1,155,770,153) ordinary shares & A%1,248,887,536/%
of HK$0.10 each (ZZE—=%:
1,155,770,153%) 124,889 115,577

HE_FT-DNER-F-—=F=F
=t HIEFER RAZHNOT

During the years ended 31 March 2014 and 2013, the
movements in share capital were as follows:

B B& 747,000,00017 B8 A% 7 2 R BE
BEREFEREEER0.3E
TP LATTE (MI5E38) - BE B 1T
7,000,000 AR EI{EO. 18 7T 2 ¥
TimAR - MR (BT A2,100,000
PE T o TR BB AR #E 1% - £%8770,000
BTEREFHEREREERS

P tn gt (B R o

(@ The subscription rights attaching to 7,000,000 (@)

share options were exercised in the prior year at
the subscription price of HK$0.3 per share (note
38), resulting in the issue of 7,000,000 new ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each for a total cash consideration
of HK$2,100,000. An amount of HK$770,000 was
transferred from the share option reserve to share
premium account upon the exercise of the share
options in the prior year.

N 4 48 %8 /55,000,0005 JT 2 A
REBEREAFRER1158T2
B 154 (B 2 i 54,347,8250% K A A)
AR o

(b) The convertible notes with an aggregate principal (b)
amount of HK$5,000,000 were converted into
4,347,825 new ordinary shares of the Company at
a conversion price of HK$1.15 per share in the prior
year.
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37. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(c) The subscription rights attaching to 27,900,000
share options were exercised during the year at the
weighted average subscription price of HK$0.61 per
share (note 38), resulting in the issue of 27,900,000
new ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each for a total
cash consideration of HK$17,119,000. An amount
of HK$8,606,000 was transferred from the share
option reserve to share premium account upon the
exercise of the share options.

(d) The convertible notes with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$75,000,000 were converted into
65,217,383 new ordinary shares of the Company at
a conversion price of HK$1.15 per share during the
year.

A summary of the transactions during the year with
reference to the above movements in the Company’s
issued share capital is as follows:

37. Ik A& can)

(€) 27,900,00017 & B 1 b 7 2 SR B #E
ERAFEANRMETFHRERE
FAR0.618 7T (K1 7E38) BITE
% £27,900,000/% & I% M (& £0.1
BooHERKR BESRER
17,119,000/ 7T ° & %88,606,000/%5
TLE R TR ARER BB R
ERERMDEER-

(d) A& %% 575,000,000/ 7T 2 7]
REERENAFERNIEZTRI15E
TUZ BB i 565,217,383 A&
NEIFE B -

FARR LARRBEBTRAZS) 2
RHBMEWT:

Number of Share
shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
BT
RH#E ERTRE ROEER @it
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
P& TET FET THT
At 1 April 2012 W_F——F
mA—H 1,144,422,328 114,442 1,275,108 1,389,550
Share options exercised [mERy:d ¢ (a) 7,000,000 700 2,170 2,870
Conversion of convertible notes A A iR Z 1% (b) 4,347,825 435 4,267 4,702
At 31 March 2013 and RZE—=F
1 April 2013 ZA=+-8k
—T-=F
mA—A 1,155,770,153 115,577 1,281,545 1,397,122
Share options exercised BT E () 27,900,000 2,790 22935 25,725
Conversion of convertible notes B A iR Z 1% (@) 65,217,383 6,522 83,871 90,393
At 31 March 2014 RNZE—MF
=A=+—H 1,248,887,536 124,889 1,388,351 1,513,240
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the Group and consultants of any member of the Group.
The Scheme became effective on 10 October 2005 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is
an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director are subject to
approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company, or to any of their associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price
of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of
HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer. The amount payable
on acceptance of an option is HK$1. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors.
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ARBIRAE - HBBRESS ([Z5H
g REAKEEBIELERZEE
RSEERHEBLRER -ZHEZA
BERSEZARARAES BREBY
FATEF AKREEMBETIRAKE
EAKE AR ZER Zf BN _FF
hFETATHEAR HRIFETHKE
R ZETEISNE BT +EARRH
2 o

RiFZET S ERMER D 2 HARITE
BRE LRI SBENEITERARR]
T B BTN BB 210% ° R Z=T 2
HT2BHaER2EEREBRER
TITRD LR AEMN12E A RE S
BARBNHEETRMDBEZ1% °1E
s — F R 2 BIRAEE B LR - 8
FRBREBRASG LHEHE -

RTEERRELFRALESEARRE
VIFHITES (REBBAL#E:F
FRB AN R 2 B 1TRD0.1% R IAME
f12fE A B - 2 EE (RER T B HK
AR A 2 BB ) 8 385,000,000/ 7T - Bl
FERLEBRRINBIRAS L&

BRECRLE BB28RAEKXRE
EMNBERERTNREARIET - XRTE
BRNTESNHESETE -
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38.

196

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on the offer date, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and
(i) the nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meeting.

The following share options were outstanding under the
Scheme during the year:

38.

i M st B a0

BREZTEENHRESET VEAR
NT&BEZESE: (\RHORERBH
(ZRAVEREXB)RBABHMAERIF
BRAR ([BRF]) BEERERMAYZ
WmE: (MO REZEEZ BB AE
EEBARBRMBERERMNZFY
UG T {8 - R (i) A% 1D EI1E »

PR IR T 15 A AR ERURE 3K
RERAEERE-

ERFEAR ZAETHARITRZER
R

2014 2013
= Lk —F-=%

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price of options

mELY IETH

TRE BREHA TEE BREHE

HK$ HKS

per share per share

ShRiER SRAET
At beginning of year RE] 0.75 47,100,000 0.68 36,000,000
Granted during the year RERR T 1.51 12,000,000 0.76 18,800,000
Exercised during the year RERTTE 0.61  (27,900,000) 0.30 (7,000,000)
Expired during the year RE R 2w - - 2.15 (700,000)
Forfeited during the year RERRIK 1.30 (150,000 = -
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1.10 31,050,000 0.75 47,100,000

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for share options exercised during the year was HK$1.54
(2013: HK$0.82) per share and the weighted average
closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before
the exercise date of the share options was HK$1.52 per
share (2013: HK$0.83).

REANITERBRER 2 MEFHIRESR
BR154B T (ZFE—=F:082%57T)
REBITEEREANARQRRG Z
MEFEHRTEREBRIL2BT(=ZZ
—=%:0.8387L) °
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 38. HE % HE st & (a0
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share RIEBRRBARITECBREZITERE
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period NATEERRI T

are as follows:

2014 —E—NF
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BRERE TEE TEHE
HK$ per share
BRET
4,150,000 1.300 18-12-2006 to 17-12-2016
1,000,000 1.080 3-1-2014 to 2-1-2016
1,000,000 1.080 3-1-2015to 2-1-2017
1,000,000 1.030 3-1-2016 to 2-1-2018
2,900,000 0.710 31-12-2013 to 11-5-2017
3,000,000 0.824 22-10-2013 to 21-10-2017
3,000,000 0.824 22-10-2014 to 21-10-2017
3,000,000 0.824 22-10-2015 to 21-10-2017
7,000,000 15610 2-7-2013 to 1-7-2016
5,000,000 1.510  Note ik
31,050,000

197



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2014

Notes to Financial Statements
W% ) & Mt sk

31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

W M g ) ca)

2013 —_EF—=
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BRERE TEEr TEHE
HK$ per share
BRET

14,000,000 0.300 26-10-2005 to 25-10-2015
7,300,000 1.300 18-12-2006 to 17-12-2016
3,000,000 1.080 3-1-2012 to 2-1-2014
1,000,000 1.030 3-1-2013 to 2-1-2015
1,000,000 1.030 3-1-2014 to 2-1-2016
1,000,000 1.080 3-1-2015to 2-1-2017
1,000,000 1.030 3-1-2016 to 2-1-2018
2,900,000 0.710 31-12-2012 to 11-5-2017
2,900,000 0.710 31-12-2013 to 11-5-2017
2,000,000 0.710  15-8-2013 to 11-5-2017
2,000,000 0.710  15-2-2014 to 11-5-2017
3,000,000 0.824 22-10-2013 to 21-10-2017
3,000,000 0.824 22-10-2014 to 21-10-2017
3,000,000 0.824 22-10-2015 to 21-10-2017

47,100,000

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other
similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

Note: The Company has granted share options to an external
consultant for service to be rendered to the Company.
The commencement of the exercise period of the share
options will depend on the date of service rendered. As at
31 March 2014, the consultant has not yet rendered the
service to the Group.

The fair value of the share options granted during
the year was HK$10,890,000 (HK$1.56 each) (20183:
HK$8,346,000, HK$0.44 each), of which the Group
recognised a share option expense of HK$5,070,000
(2013: HK$5,828,000) during the year ended 31 March
2014.
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FRNEERLELEREZATEA
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 38.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year was estimated as at the date of grant,
using a binomial model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
following table lists the inputs to the model used:
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Y3 S NE D)

RER R 2BREEEZBREZR
FEEAETHZ ZHARL IE
TR 2 IR R AR R (MR TR
S FTE ARRR R 2 B A B Y

2014 2013
—E—mE —_F—=

Dividend yield (%) BB & (%)

Expected volatility (%) iﬁ\ Hi B 08 (%)

Historical volatility (%) JFE SE R 1 (%)

Risk-free interest rate (%) 2 LR A 2K (%)

Expected life of options (years) B 2 TRRA RS (F)
Weighted average share price IHEF R E (BBET)

(HK$ per share)

The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects
the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the
actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

The 27,900,000 (2013: 7,000,000) share options
exercised during the year resulted in the issue of
27,900,000 (2013: 7,000,000) ordinary shares of the
Company and new share capital of HK$2,790,000 (2013:
HK$700,000) and share premium of HK$22,935,000
(2013: HK$2,170,000), as further detailed in note 37 to
the financial statements.

2.72 2.55 - 2.68

42 60 - 73
42 70-73
0.545 | 0.333-0.510
3 42-5
1.51 0.76

BRETEHRAMARREBERELERE
TEALETEERNERME - FBEK
ﬂlaaLAJ‘EE?)HEf’Ei%%E%ITEEHﬂEi%%@*
WHrRERER-

WER T AR FEEFE 2 LMBLUE
e -

FRNBITE 227,900,000 (ZE—=
17,000,000 ) B8 A% & B E 1T

27,900,0008% <_ T — = 4 : 7,000,000)
B%) 2N A \) 2z 5 A% K I AN 2,790,000
BT (2 — =4 : 700,000/ 7T ) LA &

A% 17 3% 822,935,000/ £ (Z & — =
12,170,000/ 70 ) (40 BA 7% R 2% MF 5
S7AT#E—HFa) °
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38.

39.

200

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
31,050,000 share options outstanding under the
Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure of the
Company, result in the issue of 31,050,000 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of HK$3,105,000, and share premium of
HK$32,975,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 30,050,000 share options outstanding
under the Scheme, which represented approximately
2.41% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

RESERVES
(a) GROUP

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 65 and 66 of the
financial statements.

The reserve funds of the Group represent the non-
distributable statutory reserves of the Group’s
subsidiaries operating in Mainland China. The
transfers to these reserves are determined by the
boards of directors of the subsidiaries in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations of Mainland
China. The reserve funds can be used to offset
against future losses or to increase the capital of the
subsidiaries.

38.

39.

s e st B a0

REBHR BRIEZAE A2a8
26,050,00017 & % # 181 K 17 5 - 1R IR
RARBITRALE 2EITERR
TEZEREEBER AR A EIINE
1726,050,000/8% & @ I% - BN AN B
2,605,000/ 7T * % {7 & (B 425,925,000
BT (FBREITHRZAT) ©

Rt EHSEMBRERE B BIEZTE
AN 7 30,050,00017 B IR #E & K 1T
(AR ARE BEEITIRMNA2.41% °

fif

(a) A& E
AREBEHBIRFE MRIFEE 2 HE
RN REEEED 2R EHRE
FEO5M0E AR EB)R o

REBEZ FHEEA/NEERFTEA
EEEZMBRATEED IR IEE
fEw-MBARzEZTSRRET
BREZBBERIEREEZE
6 o L FREEE P BRI BB
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39. RESERVES (Continued) 39. kM ca)

(b) COMPANY (b) 7 % 5]
Share Capital Share
premium Contributed redemption option Retained
account surplus reserve reserve profits Total
Rip i ER ERan BOEE  BRERE REEH #t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mzt T FHEL FET T FEL FEL
At 1 April 2012 R-Z——£WA—H 1,275,108 59,759 316 8,413 2,782 1,346,378
Profit for the year and total ~~ AEFERF| RAEE
comprehensive income FEEETON
for the year 11 - = - - 429,401 429,401

Transfer to retained profits ~ FEMEE M A EERE &7
upon expiry of share

options - - - (472) 472 -
Issue of shares upon exercise  [R17 {5 IR 7 f 217 AR 7

of share options 2,170 - - (770) - 1,400
Equity-settled share option I8 2 BIRHER 5

arrangements - - - 5,828 - 5,828
Conversion of convertible SRAREE

notes 4,267 - - - - 4,267
Additional final 2012 SRBHN T —FERERE

dividend declared 12 - - - - (280) (280)
Proposed final 2013 dividend SERERE 12 - - - - (57,789) (57,789)
Proposed special 2013 = ERRIRE

dividend 12 = = = = (346,731) (346,731)
At 31 March 2013 and F=ZA=+-AK

1 April 2013 - EMA—A 1,281,545 59,759 316 12,999 27,855 1,382,474
Profit for the year and total ~~ AEFRF| R R AEE

comprehensive income B2EHA

for the year 11 - = - - 302,811 302,811

Transfer to retained profits ~ FEAEE M A EERE &7
upon expiry of share

options - - - (7) 71 -
Issue of shares upon exercise  [R17 {2 5 R 7 & 17 AR 7

of share options 22,935 - - (8,606) - 14,329
Equity-settled share option ~ bAEZ &S 2 BIREL H

arrangements - - - 5,070 - 5,070
Conversion of convertible SRARER

notes 83,871 - - - - 83,871
Additional final and special ~ BINER=Z-=FXRHK

2013 dividend declared KRR S 12 - - - - (31,716) (31,716)
Proposed final 2014 dividend & =F—HERHRE 12 - - - - (62,494) (62,494)
At 31 March 2014 R-E-ME=A=+—A 1,388,351 59,759 316 9,392 236,527 1,694,345
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39. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) COMPANY (Continued)

The contributed surplus of the Company arose as
a result of the Group reorganisation on 12 August
1991 and represented the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital issued by
the Company and the combined net assets of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group
reorganisation, less the effects of the bonus issue of
shares in previous years.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus is distributable to
shareholders under certain specific circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for
share-based payment transactions in note 2.4 to
the financial statements. The amount will either be
transferred to the share premium account when the
related options are exercised, or be transferred to
retained profits should the related options expire or
be forfeited.

40. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group entered
into finance lease arrangements in respect of property,
plant and equipment with a total capital value at the
inception of the leases of HK$2,712,000.

39. it (a0
(b) A& 2w (#)

ARRIZEBEHRBTIR—NN—F
NA+ZBzEEEEMEL B
ARRBEITRA 2 EERRIEEE
EEMKEBZMBRRIZAHEE
FEZER REBEFEZAR
BITITE-

BREERE-NN—FRFE (K
ER])  BERBRAIIRETRERS
D IR T RR ©

BREREEERRLBRRITEREZ
BREATE FHE—THNY
BHRERMF2LANBPD X NRZH 2
BRTERER - ZEFERANEBER
RETRERERERMEERIN
ERBREB R AR EREER

Bm A e

40. &5 Bl @ w8 & M et

BEAEIHEXSH

KRE-F—=F=A=+—
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41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41. A A&
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not RI|MEBAR RINAMBHRE 2R E
provided for in the financial statements were as follows: (R ENE
Group Company
xEE b NG|
2014 2013 2014 2013
ZE-NE| —T-=F| ZEB-NFE| —T-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET THL TET FET

Guarantees given for mortgage REABEMEER L
loan facilties granted to property ~ &IEEZRBEMIEH

purchasers R R 206,997 229,194 - -
Guarantees given for banking BB A RERRTT
facilties granted to subsidiaries EEMmELNER - - 1,797,287 1,822,357
206,997 229,194 1,797,287 1,822,357
The banking facilities granted to subsidiaries subject RARIGEH B AR ERBRITEEMEL
to guarantees given by the Company were utilised to ERE FREE 4 4768,865,000/8 7T ( =
the extent of approximately HK$768,865,000 (2013: = — = :828,149,000/8 7T ) °

HK$828,149,000).

42. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 42. 8 &M & % #

(a) AS LESSOR (@ fEBHMA

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) AEBERBELEHELHDEER
under operating lease arrangements, with leases B (H:E15)  KEHELH
negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 15 years. The BEKZHBAN T —ZETHE M
terms of the leases generally also require the tenants EBRF—RNTBEEE A FER
to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent 1% & Al & & B T 50 M e B B
adjustments according to the then prevailing market Meo

conditions.
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42. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS  42.

- A )

(Continued)
(a) AS LESSOR (Continued) (@ fEBHHA (5
At 31 March 2014, the Group had total future R-ZE—WE=Z/=+—H &%
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable BRI EE PR R 5 AR 2 2R
operating leases with its tenants falling due as 2 NAI A S T E A B 18 AT UER
follows: ZIEBESEEELNT
Group
rEE
2014 2013
—E-mEF —ET—=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Within one year R—F R 75,409 68,279
In the second to fifth years, RE_ZERF
inclusive (BIEEEME) 152,926 130,213
After five years RERF%E 57,117 57,714
285,452 256,206
(b) AS LESSEE (b) fERBAMA

The Group leases certain of its properties under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties
are negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 5 years
and rentals are normally fixed in accordance with the
respective tenancy agreements.
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42. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(Continued)
(b) AS LESSEE (Continued)

At 31 March 2014, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:
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2. 8EMEZH @

b) fEBAMA (8)
A—T—mE=A=+—H 4%
@ﬁﬁﬂTﬂ%ﬁU%Z?Tﬁ%
RUBEEAEBSNZ RIERS

BRI

Group

rEE
2014 2013
—E2-mF —T—=F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FET
Within one year R—F R 44,658 31,934

In the second to fifth years, RE_ZERF

inclusive (BREEMF) 93,085 105,921
After five years NERFE - 873
137,743 138,728

The operating leases of certain properties also
called for additional rentals, which would be based
on certain percentage of turnover of the operations
being undertaken therein pursuant to the terms
and conditions as stipulated in the respective
rental agreements. As the future turnover of these
operations could not be accurately determined
as at the end of the reporting period, the relevant
contingent rental has not been included.

RIS THE B BIERK R
H BETYENKEHOKERE
Tﬁﬁ\/\ﬂPPﬁﬁ%a%ﬂ‘%EﬁﬂkﬁT&E@%F

DHRWEIMNEE - AR F R
%W%KH&?&%@%&%HBX%FE@%
BE Y ARFTARBEIAES -
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43.

41

206

COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed
in note 42(b) above, the Group had the following
commitments at the end of the reporting period:

43.

i

¥R EBR - BR 5 £ B eE42(0)7F it
I ETHEASEIN  REEBG AT ALE

Group

&g
2014 2013
-k —T=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Contracted, but not provided for: B RT %M 18 AR B

Property, plant and equipment M WE K& 2,411 2,543
Purchases of land use rights B A i (FE AR 278,429 292,543
Properties under development BERAYE 78,223 417,347
359,063 712,433

In addition, the Group has rights to purchase pre-
determined lots of land in the PRC pursuant to legal
binding agreements. The commitment under such legal
binding agreements amounted to RMB221 million (2013:
RMB237 million).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company did not
have any significant commitments.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, properties under development, properties
held for sale, time deposits, structured deposits and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss with a
total carrying value of approximately HK$2,589,636,000
(2018: HK$2,734,460,000), were pledged to secure
general banking and other facilities granted to the Group.
In addition, rental income generated in respect of certain
investment properties of the Group was assigned to
bankers to secure loan facilities granted to the Group.

44.

BRIt AEEHEE R LR 2 HE
EREPHBEEBRLFEN L
REZEAZIRROIBESEAARE
221,000,000 (ZZE—=F: AR¥
237,000,0007T ) °

R¥E IR - NAF IR A F 7 E KA

= o

& E 4

RBERR AEBEXFAERED
2,589,636,000 L (=T —=
2,734,460,0008 L) 2 A T B E

BE REYE CEYE BEFD
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BEff \BERZERMEECEER L
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group had the

RSB AR WA R AT | 201448 H
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45. iR EANLE R S

(@) FRECEHRMBHRR MM TR
RN REBEBRAEALNE

following transaction with a related party during the AT IR 5
year:
2014 2013
—E-MOF —T—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Rental paid to a director (note) NHESHE—NES (M) 48 48

Note:

The rental paid to a director was determined based
on mutually agreed rental rate. In the opinion of the
directors, the above transaction was entered into
by the Group in the normal course of business.

Other transaction with related parties:

M

In the prior years, the Group acquired a
55% equity interest in Hunan Carrianna (the
“Acquisition”) from Messrs. Ma Kai Cheung
and Ma Kai Yum, the substantial shareholders
and directors of the Company. In respect of
the Acquisition, Messrs. Ma Kai Cheung and
Ma Kai Yum have given an undertaking to
indemnify the Group against monetary losses
up to RMB216 million arising from the failure
of Hunan Carrianna to acquire any portion of
the pre-determined lots of land and the excess
of Hunan Carrianna’s cost of acquisition of
any portion of these pieces of land over the
pre-determined price.

fisE: RIBEEFTRBZES LR
TIAREERBEEBRETL

b) HMEGHESEALETZIRS:

i) RBEFE AKEERAAF
CEEREEBITEESEN
BAERSNREEWER
mMIEEss%E R ([HEE
B HWEEEMS BN
BAERBNREERBE
# i A R #216,000,0007T HY
FRBEASERMAEE
0 AR S HH AR T A
] B8 10 e U A &=
HEYE ] BR 0 WO RK AR RB H 2

FEBRERLD °

207



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2014

Notes to Financial Statements
W% ) & Mt sk

31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

208

(b)

(Continued)

(i)  On 19 April 2013, equity transfer agreements
were entered into by the Group and Mr. Yuen
Wai Man (the “Vendor”), a then director of the
Company, pursuant to which the Group had
conditionally agreed to acquire, and the Vendor
had conditionally agreed to sell, the non-
controlling equity interest held by the Vendor
in each of six target subsidiaries of the Group
at a total cash consideration of RMB32 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$40 million).
Further details of this transaction were also set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 19
April 2013.

The above transactions also constitute connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

(i)  Except for amounts due to directors of
HK$22,492,000 by the Group as at 31 March
2013 which were not repayable within one
year, the remaining balances of amounts due
to directors are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

(i) Except for an amount due to a director of
HK$15,713,000 by the Company as at 31
March 2013 which was not repayable within
one year, the remaining balances of amounts
due to directors are unsecured, interest-free
and have no fixed terms of repayment.

45. FHEANE RS ()

(b)

(%)

i) HRZZT—=FWA+NLH &
SEEREXSRE([BH]
RREERES)FLREE
EiE Bt AEBAKG
REWE mMESBGKER
EHEETHIRAEEZ
AREBEWNBARFHEZIE
TR E e BREAA
R #32,000,0007T (&R
40,000,000 L) c kR 5 2
E—HHBTHENAQAEAR
HeE—_FT—=F1WA+hIH
ZRER-

EA R Z IR ER £ R RIS+ A
EMAELBERS-

HBEBEAT 2 REESH:

) BRZ_ZZFT—=Z%4=ZA8
=t BAXRSEENES
22,492,000/ T < i& 5K B R
B—FIN ERNESEFIEZHE
RERASERT 28 WE
EEERA -

iy BR-_ZE—=FE=ZA=+—
HARQRRERN—RES
15,713,000/ JT 2 2 3k B 8
B—FIN ENESFEZE
MEHRAEERR 28 IE
EEBRA -



45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(©

(Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Except for amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders of HK$17,441,000 (2013:
HK$47,083,000) which are not repayable
within one year, the remaining balances of
amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed
terms of repayment.

Details of the amounts due from/to associates
and loans to an associate as at the end of the
reporting period are included in note 21 to the
financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of the

©
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45. GHEAN LR S ()

(%)

(i)

(iv)

Br B OIE =R KRR
17,441,0008 L (= E — =
4 1 47,083,000/ 7T ) Z B &K
HARR B — F N B IEERR
BRFRIE 2 HpE8r RER
B el EETERD-

RREIREY, R
NAIFRERGE T —EEEA
Al ERFE R E N B 75 R 3R
BFzE21 o

AEBTEEEAR ZHH:

Group:
2014 2013
—E-NEF —ZE—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Short term employee benefits EHE B & A 20,680 18,925
Post-employment benefits ERIREF 196 194
Equity-settled share option NS AENERERS
expense 4,669 2,969
Total compensation paid to key MEZEEAB 2 BRI
management personnel 25,545 22,088
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included EEMe 2 E—TFFIBEEHNATB

in note 8 to the financial statements.

RIS

209



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2014

Notes to Finapcial Statements
W% ) & Mt sk

31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

46. 1% f k2 @t T H

MRE-—RENERTARKREHR

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period Y BR E 1A
are as follows:
2014 —E-mF
Financial assets THEE
Group rE
Financial assets at
fair value through
profit or loss
BATEIRR
RERTEENSRERE
Designated Available-
as such for-sale
upon initial Held for  Loans and financial
recognition trading receivables assets Total
RERX
i EXRk AHEEZ
BRETE BEEE PR R SREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FET FET T T
Due from associates, net of impairment e AR B RE - - 172,989 - 172,989
Loans to an associate (note 21) BT —RBERRZER
(BEE21) - - 129,161 - 129,161
Available-for-sale investments AL ERE - - - 522,144 522,144
Financial assets at fair value through RATEFIRRR BT
profit or loss RENEREE 55,452 49,617 - - 105,069
Financial assets included in debtors, FARKERR R &k
deposits and prepayments BRFECEREE - - 244,269 - 244,269
Due from directors EhES - - 1,776 - 1,776
Structured deposits EBETER 24,993 - - - 24,993
Restricted cash BRHIRE - - 10,123 - 10,123
Pledged time deposits EHREHEFR - - 68,041 - 68,041
Cash and cash equivalents ReKReEEEE - - 362,994 - 362,994
80,445 49,617 989,353 522,144 1,641,559




46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows: (Continued)
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46. % Mkl 2 & TR (a0

MRE-—RENERTARKREHR
MRRE{E : (4&)

2014 —E-MF
Financial liabilities SREE
Group rEHE
Financial
liabilities
at fair value
through Financial
profit or loss liabilities at
- held for amortised
trading cost Total
BN EESE
kREEH
EEH LA 85
cHEE BARGTHEMN
-BEEE cHEE HE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TERT FTHET FTHERT
Due to associates (note 21) JE B = A 7]
(HiEE21) - 4,145 4,145
Trade creditors e E SR - 139,427 139,427
Financial liabilities included in AT AE At A RR
sundry creditors, accruals and EErERA KB
deposits received Resemas - 185,299 185,299
Due to directors ENES - 3,070 3,070
Due to non-controlling shareholders  J& - JEF2 AR A% R - 25,716 25,716
Interest-bearing bank and BB Z8R1TR
other borrowings Hibtg & - 911,927 911,927
Finance lease payables ENmMEHRE - 1,383 1,383
Derivative financial instrument TEemITE 4,044 - 4,044
4,044 1,270,967 1,275,011

211




Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2014

Notes to Finapcial Statements
W% ) & Mt sk

31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows: (Continued)

46. BNz 2 T H @

MRE-—RENERTARKEHR
MRRE{E : (4&)

2013 —E—=f
Financial assets cREE
Group RE
Financial assets at
fair value through
profit or loss
BRRFETIRR
RNEGFRENERBEE
Designated Available-
as such for-sale
upon initial Held for Loans and financial
recognition trading receivables assets Total
RER
Te e Bk AEHEZ
RILIETE HEBEE FEW AR 3 PREE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT T THr THx
Due from associates, net of impairment EWE A DR HBRRE - - 146,460 - 146,460
Loans to an associate (note 21) LT -EBERRZER
(HzE21) - - 47,201 - 47,201
Avallable-for-sale investments A HERE - - - 954,368 954,368
Financial assets at fair value through RATEFERR BT
profit or loss RENCREE 15,313 - - - 15,313
Financial assets included in debtors, FABKERR  Re K
deposits and prepayments BAREZEREE - - 189,668 - 189,668
Derivative financial instrument fTEEBIA - 32,477 - - 32,477
Structured deposits HERER 81,643 - - - 81,643
Restricted cash BB HIRE - - 13,013 - 13,013
Pledged time deposits EREBRFR - - 43,526 = 43,526
Cash and cash equivalents RekH&EBEER - - 479,413 = 479,413
96,956 32,477 919,171 954,368 2,002,972




FESEURSE I EE AT IR 7] | 2014478

Notes to Financial Statemeqts
W i & M sk

31 March 2014 =F—PF=H=+—H

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 46. HEEH Nz T H @)

CATEGORY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows: (Continued)

MRE-—BENERTARKREHR
MRRE{E : (&)

2013 —E—=4F
Financial liabilities SREE
Group PINCS
Financial
liabilities
at fair value
through Financial
profit or loss liabilities at
- held for amortised
trading cost Total
BAFEY R
K8z
BRI DA% S8
TRBE BXAETHE R
—FBEEE ERAE 1
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET TET
Due to a joint venture (note 20) & &7 (fz20) - 612 612
Due to associates (note 21) FERTEE & A] (Fi7E21) - 4,031 4,031
Trade creditors eI & 5 BR3K - 108,064 108,064
Financial liabilities included in sundry 5T A EL A FE T BR 7K -
creditors, accruals and EErEARER
deposits received EezemAaRE = 143,409 143,409
Due to directors ERNES - 28,478 28,478
Due to non-controlling shareholders ~ J& < JEH2 A% % R - 52,916 52,916
Interest-bearing bank and MEZRITREMBEE
other borrowings — 997,271 997,271
Finance lease payables ENRERE - 2,123 2,123
Derivative financial instrument TEemIA 7,270 - 7,270
Convertible notes AR SRR 11,981 57,411 69,392
19,251 1,394,315 1,413,566
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 46. BNz e T H s
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of Ty A —REMNERTARHKERRK
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period FEREE: (&)

are as follows: (Continued)

Financial assets SREE
Company
b NN
2014 2013
—E-NE T—=4F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FETT
Loans and receivables: BRI 9% /T/\
Due from subsidiaries, JIH&Z B B A
net of impairment B ﬁf}f?ﬁifﬁ 1,884,548 2,004,776
Dividend receivable Eds 350,000 450,000
Other receivables and deposits H A g Hﬁlﬁﬁ Mize 99 99
Due from associates V U B 2 X ) 3,925 3,925
Due from a director Bl —%E =S 1,371 =
Cash and cash equivalents He MRS EEEHR 181 677
2,240,124 2,459,477
Financial liabilities =L
2014 2013
—E-mE S =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TETT
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: LASE §H X AN ET (B AY
THAaE:
Due to subsidiaries FEAT BT B A &) 385,196 518,575
Sundry creditors and accruals Hh FE S BR R K
EstER 2,167 2,853
Convertible notes Al AR E iR - 57,411
Due to directors JEfTES 33,023 28,076
420,386 606,915
Financial liabilities at fair value through &2 A F(E 5 ER &
profit or loss — held for trading: RERPERENE M
BE-—RFIEEE:
Convertible notes Al AR E iR - 11,981
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47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities
of the Group and the Company which are due to be
received or settled within one year are reasonable
approximation of their respective fair values. As disclosed
in note 22 to the financial statements, other than the
unlisted equity investment of the Group stated at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses because its fair value
of which cannot be reasonably assessed, listed equity
investments of the Group are stated at fair value based
on their quoted market prices. For the remaining non-
current financial assets and liabilities of the Group and the
Company, in the opinion of the directors, their carrying
amounts are not significantly different from their respective
fair values.

The Group’s management is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, the management analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed
and approved by the management. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice
a year for interim and annual financial reporting.
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47. e TR Z2 AP k2 FE

L

AEBRARRZ AR —FRUERSLIE
NeeREERERBERmEIE
HEBRAEMGEZAFERE AL
TSR M E22FT IR - R AR B 2 3F
EHRARERE A FEEEAEFE
M AR R REtRERB IR 2550
AREE 2 EHRARE TREEFriRm
EBEATFEZI -RAKRBRARFZ
HTFERBDEREENERABMNS
EE2RR REREEEEZAQTE
WHEERER-

AEEEEERABESRITARNTE
AAEZEREEF REREEH B
BrofieMTAZEEESIEFHE
RERAZIERARBE -AEREEE
BRI - HEBRRERERBEZER
EeSFRPHRFERNBEREETHR

N = =A
IR 5 ©

215



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2014

Notes to Finapcial Statements
W% ) & Mt sk

31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 47. et T H 2 APl k2P
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL Ly AE P
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY ARy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRERAEEEMITAZATENE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: i
Assets measured at fair value: EATFHFAEZEE:
Group rE
As at 31 March 2014 R-E—H{F=F=+—H
Fair value measurement using
AVENEBER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RERTS EEUEE EERFUEE
ZHfE BARE BABE

(5—-F8) (5=F8) (5=8E) Fob ]
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Avallable-for-sale equity investments A HERERE 491,942 - - 491,942
Structured deposits EEEER - 24,993 - 24,993
Financial assets at fair value through BATFEYRERRERT
profit or loss REZEREE 49,617 55,452 - 105,069
541,559 80,445 - 622,004
As at 31 March 2013 RZE—=F=A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ATEFEFER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RGBS EZWER EZTUER
ZHE BAHE AR
(F—E) (F=8) (E=E) k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
Avallable-for-sale equity investments A ERERE 954,368 - - 954,368
Structured deposits HEEEER - 12,250 69,393 81,643
Financial assets at fair value through RATESRERRBET
profit or loss RE/GHEE = 15,313 - 15,313
Derivative financial instrument PTESRIA - 32,477 - 32,477
954,368 60,040 69,393 1,083,801
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47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE A7. e M TR AFHE KA FHE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL W (8)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) AP (8
Assets measured at fair value: (Continued) HEAFHEGEZEE : (8)
The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 FER FZEBZAFEFEEHNT

during the year are as follows:

2014 2013

—F-mF —F—=%

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHET

At beginning of year F 1) 69,393 =

Purchases BE - 68,794

Redeemed EfE D (72,707) =

Total gains recognised in RIBR KRR 2 W 58

the statement of profit or loss 2,178 207

Exchange realignment B 5, 38 2L 1,136 392

At 31 March R=A=+—H - 69,393
The Company did not have any financial assets measured RZE—MOE=A=+—RAk=Z—=
at fair value as at 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2013. F=ZA=1+—H ARAIEEEHIE

ANFEFEZEMEE-
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47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Liabilities measured at fair value:

Group
As at 31 March 2014

47. e TR 2 AP k2 FE

W s)

AFEERE -
B P R 2
FEE

R-ZFE—mHE=/F=+—H

)
Ffig:

Fair value measurement using

AFEHEER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REBNS EZUBEE EEZTUHE
ZHE BAE BARE
($5-F) (%5=FE) (5=FE) BE
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TET TR
Derivative financial instruments: PTESRTIA:
Interest rate swap Fl& =5 - 4,044 - 4,044
As at 31 March 2013 RZE—=ZF=HA=+—H
Fair value measurement using
AT EEFER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERTS BEABE EETUBER
ZHE BARE AR
(F—E) (B=E) (B=FE) bl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT TR THx
Derivative financial instruments: PTESRTA:
Interest rate swap & 5 - 7,270 - 7,270
Derivative component of MAREE 2 TE3R
the convertible notes - 11,981 - 11,981
- 19,251 - 19,251
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48.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Liabilities measured at fair value: (Continued)

Company
As at 31 March 2013
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47. 2 WM ITRAZAFHEREAFHE
W (8)

~

AR ()
EAFHFEZA
NN

R-F—=#=H=+—A

f&: ()

Fair value measurement using

AT EHBER

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RERM % EZWHE EERTUHE

8B BAHE WA
(F—FE) (5=E) (=) Fk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THx THET TEx

Derivative financial instrument: fTHEEmMIA:
Derivative component of AHRREE 2 TEHH

the convertible notes - 11,981 - 11,981

The Company did not have any financial liabilities
measured at fair value as at 31 March 2014.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets
and financial liabilities (2013: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, and cash and bank balances. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade debtors and
trade creditors, which arise directly from its operations.

48.

RZE-—ME=A=+—R AAH
REEARAFES B2 SMEAE-

REA e EERERBEMNS

ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁé%—éﬂ% —ERZAYE
AERYEBEAZ=EBPRNE=E+H
BH(ZZ—=%: ??é)

B R B PR H RE R BK

AREBZTELRT A (BRITAETIEI)
BREWBZRITREMEE UERS
RiR{T#HBR - ZEeRMIACEEZEN
ZHERREBEECEMSREER
BE DIUNEKREZRIRENE SR
e
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risks relates
primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings with floating interest rates. The effective
interest rates and terms of repayment of the interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group are
disclosed in note 31. Interest rate risk is managed on an
ongoing basis with the primary objective of limiting the
extent to which net interest expense could be affected by
adverse movements in interest rate.

The Group has put in place an interest rate swap
arrangement for one of its floating rate term loans to
limit the variability in cash flows attributable to changes
in interest rates. This involves fixing portions of interest
payable on its underlying borrowings through derivative
instruments. Details of the interest rate swap are
disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements.

Assuming the amount of bank borrowings outstanding
at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for
the whole year, a 100 basis point increase/decrease
in interest rates would decrease/increase the Group’s
profit before tax for the current year by HK$7,264,000
(2013: HK$7,144,000) and finance costs capitalised by
HK$1,869,000 (2013: HK$2,334,000).

A8. W5 A By i B H R R BOR

(%)

$¢I‘£F&EIH¢F&Z£KH R 7 ) 2
B SNERR - EERR  REE SR
ﬁ&ﬁ%%@kl&w EgEMEAEER

ZERB 2 HE BT e

N

AEBEEY ANERRBEESIRAS

B2 EF R B ZIRITREMBEE -
REBE M BRITEEREMEEZE
BRFI 2 K 57 R R SR B AT 731 o IR &R

BIIERFEREERE TEEZERRH
ﬂ BRYFHEIMNETFEBTE R
J‘go

AEBERHEF —EFBHNERFHER
ER R RiEHZ g URFIFEERER
MEZEFHMAE - WEBITETESR
HIBEE 2 BN HFLE Z B E 2B o 7
17 BEF BN B S SRR I s34 N H B% ©

BENBRERRAREEZRITEES
BERBEFE W AEE BFI=EMN
BWMAOI00EESHSAEERAFEE 2
B &% A& F R 4> 48 I17,264,0007% T
(ZZT—=%:7,144,0008 7T ) R E XK1t
BTSRRI A,/ H01,869,00058 7T (=
T — =4 : 2,334,000/ 7T ) °



48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
INTEREST RATE RISK (Continued)

For the interest rate swap contract, a 10 basis point
increase/decrease in interest rates would increase/
decrease the Group’s equity as at 31 March 2014 by
HK$333,000 (2013: HK$456,000) as a result of fair value
changes on derivative financial instruments.

The sensitivity to the interest rate used above is
considered reasonable with the other variables held
constant. The sensitivity for interest rate swap contract is
based on the assumption that there are parallel shifts in
the yield curve.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland
China with most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities
and transactions principally denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi, respectively. Majority of the sales,
purchases and expenditure incurred by the operating
units of the Group were denominated in the units’
functional currencies and as a result, the Group does not
anticipate significant transactional currency exposures.
The Group has not used any derivative to hedge its
exposure to foreign currency risk.

CREDIT RISK

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk.
The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, which
comprise cash and bank balances, time deposits, debtors
and deposits, amounts due from associates, loans to an
associate and quoted and unquoted financial instruments,
arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade debtors are
disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements.
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A8. W5 A By i B H R R BOR

(&)

Al %= A B ()
RAEBHEOME  ARTESRT
B2 AFEEE F=EN, K A100E
A BERAEERN_T—NE=A
=+— Rz R 333,000
T (ZZT—=4:456,000/&7T) °

B EEBTEZERT - b LA
A2ZAERBEDRAAR . FIT Y

A12 SUBE HERBRIKE BRTE
TR

o ¥ B

AEEERLEETB LT BEKEMA
%lﬁiﬁ’“‘"”ﬂgéﬁ BERRSHEIE

DRIAE TR AREFE - NEEEE

BRELZABMNEHE BRI
ZEBEM 2 NEEERE Rt AL
) 78 HA 3 48 55 K SN EE [ o A 5% [ 3R
BRBEMITETRE R EINE R o

fs B A by
REBUYEEASETHEERR A&
EemEE(EPeERe RRITE
7 THFH - BRER IR - B
ERRIRIEBE LT BBEQRRZER
NEERERAREzZCHTE)EAE
FHEAMELEEERR ERKRER
HERZETAMNKRAE-

ERAANKEEUKRARBEZRRZE
ERRE—FELBE RUMBHRR
B 5E27 R 4K R
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT A8. M ¥ A By B H B K BOK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (#)
LIQUIDITY RISK REE2 AR

AEEZBRERFARRELREF
BEE REBRITREMEERE

The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and
cash equivalents and have available funding through

bank and other borrowings to meet its working capital

requirements.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

HEEES 2FKe

TERAEERHEHRNEREE
A KRR EO ] HIFR -

Group rE
2014
—Z-|mE
Within 1 year
or on demand 1to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—E5TF —FN0E
HRERE ZREUT EENLE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET TET
Due to associates FEfTHE = A A 4,145 - - 4,145
Trade creditors ERE SRR 139,427 - - 139,427
Financial liabilities included in sundry creditors, ~ f A Bt FERBEST - [EZT B F
accruals and deposits received kEWEZeZeREE 178,099 5,614 1,586 185,299
Due to directors ERES 3,070 - - 3,070
Due to non-controling shareholders ERFEERRR 8,275 17,441 - 25,716
Interest-bearing bank and ez BTREMEE
other borrowings (note) UES 559,163 304,501 48,263 911,927
Interest payments on interest-bearing MEZRITREMBEEZ
bank and other borrowings FlEX 19,971 31,399 5,410 56,580
Finance lease payables ERRERE 825 619 - 1,444
Derivative financial instrument TESBTA 2,508 1,536 - 4,044
Guarantees given to banks in connection ROEEREREEM
with facilities granted to property RRITIEH AR
purchasers 206,997 - - 206,997
1,122,480 361,110 55,259 1,538,849
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 48. B % B & E H B R WK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (#)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) mE &2 ER (9
Group (Continued) AEE(E)
2013
—T-=%
Within 1 year
or on demand 1105 years Qver 5 years Total
—EHUT —FE
FRE KR ZRENUT AFEMNE @Er
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THx FHL TEx
Due to a joint venture AN R=R=G] 612 - - 612
Due to associates FEfTHE A A 4,031 - - 4,031
Trade creditors ERE SRR 108,064 - = 108,064
Financial liabilities included in sundry creditors, st A Ef fEfTBR N~ et B B
accruals and deposits received kEWRezeBAE 135,182 6,398 1,829 143,409
Due to directors ERES 5,986 22,492 - 28,478
Due to non-controlling shareholders R IR AR R 5,833 47,083 - 52,916
Interest-bearing bank and 8z BT REMEE
other borrowings (note) (Fi3E) 695,343 291,168 10,760 997,271
Interest payments on interest-bearing ez RITREMEEZ
bank and other borrowings FlEZf 14,909 7,844 595 23,348
Derivative financial instrument PTESRIA 3,046 4,224 - 7,270
Finance lease payables ENRERE 825 1,444 - 2,269
Convertible notes TAREE 75,465 - - 75,465
Guarantees given to banks in connection RNEEREREEM
with facilities granted to property RRITIELER
purchasers 229,194 - - 229,194
1,278,490 380,653 13,184 1,672,327
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

224

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

A8. Bt 5l b B H AR R BOK

(#)

W& L A @)

Note: Included in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings MieE: B ZRITREMEETBERAE
are term loans with an aggregate carrying amount of 136,476,000 L2 EHER (=ZF
HK$136,476,000 (2013: HK$398,072,000). The loan — = £ : 398,072,000/ 7T ) * B X #
agreements contain repayment on-demand clauses giving = BE—TE— L E KRR R IR
the banks the unconditional right to call in the loans at any 1T RIT AR FRE R 2R R o
time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity Eit gt Eat EHE R T S - 2 FR0E
profile, the total amount is classified as “on demand”. Ty THRESK] -

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not BEBULEGER EFATTRAEZKE
believe that the loans will be called in entirety within 12 EFER2EARNEEREHGE-
months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid SERAEZEERIREER B
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the Fr#l < B B B 5738 o s 7L (A AE = B AR
loan agreements. This evaluation was made considering: SEEHEM B RKRE B 2B
the financial position of the Group at the date of approval T AEEBETFERRELY WEEN
of the financial statements; the Group’s compliance with TR MEELE AEE—HIRKERE
the loan covenants; the lack of events of default, and the TSR BN HEmIEDL -
fact that the Group has made all previously scheduled
repayments on time.
In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain RIRE S —IH— K Z KANR B TR
repayment on-demand clauses, the maturity profile of WERGEIT RBEMAR ZEER
those loans as at the end of the reporting period, based on AE RARITIR AT ARG E K 28 25K AN
the contractual undiscounted payments and ignoring the i 0 2 R 2 B R EI BB R
effect of any repayment on-demand clauses, is as follows: e
Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—EpE
—FENT ZHEEYUT BENLE @zt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER THET THT THERT
As at 31 March 2014 RZE-—NE=A=+—H 87,003 31,441 25,417 143,861
As at 31 March 2013 WoF-=#=A=1-A 163,761 204,128 74,609 442,498
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 48. M % by & H R R R
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (&)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) REE2ERE e
The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities TERAEARARBEHRANESRAE
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the AE A RIS ETE RN EIHE R -

contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Company VNN
2014
—E-mF
Within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Total
—ENTF —FHE
RRERE ZRENUT @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THEx TET THET
Due to subsidiaries LG 385,196 - 385,196
Sundry creditors and accruals EtEMER R ESER 2,167 - 2,167
Due to directors ENES 33,023 - 33,023
Guarantees given to banks in connection ~ FLMB LA BEREEM
with facilities granted to subsidiaries MRITIEL ER 768,865 - 768,865
1,189,251 - 1,189,251
2013
—E-=%
Within 1 year
or on demand 110 5 years Total
—EPT —FEp
RN E KK EREUT BEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TAL THL
Due to subsidiaries ARG 518,575 - 518,575
Sundry creditors and accruals EEMESRRESER 2,853 = 2,853
Due to directors ERES 12,363 15,713 28,076
Convertible notes QR ES 75,465 - 75,465
Guarantees given to banks in connection BB A RIEREEM
with facilities granted to subsidiaries MRITIE LR 828,149 - 828,149
1,437,405 15,713 1,453,118
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48.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of
equity indices and the values of individual securities. The
Group was exposed to equity price risk arising from equity
investments classified as available-for-sale investments
(note 22) and listed equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note
23) as at 31 March 2014. The Group’s listed equity
investments were listed on the Stock Exchange and were
valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period.

48.
(#)

fx 18 B

B A B 18 R 2

NE T B Z R

=t—8:

Bt 5 B i P E KR R BOK

% ¥ A A% 22+ EUK I & @
FBEFEECEIMEBRAZS 2

cRRZE—F=H
RNEBEFEE 2 RAERR

TJ?K B RAAHEHERE ZBAK

& (MizEe2) RO B AR A
SR 2 FRAKE (HiFE23) °

?a

FEIIRER

R|EMR NEB 2 EHRARE T
KRB P E IR Pl 2 T Efh1E -

The market equity index for the Stock Exchange, at the MR sMZESFER (RFAERSE
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to HEEEZE—&LX% AEERRERE)
the end of the reporting period, and the respective highest REAZ &S RHEESHOT :
and lowest points during the year were as follows:
High/low High/low
during the during the
year ended year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2014 2014 2013 2013
REZ REZE
—Z-mF —T-=F
=ZA=+-H =RA=t—H
—Z-mF LEER [ ZT—=F IEFER
=ZA=t-H z®/ & =A=+-8 &/ {&
Hong Kong - Hang Seng Index EB—BERY 22,151 24,112/19,426 22,300 23,945/18,056




48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

EQUITY PRICE RISK (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the
end of the reporting period. For the purpose of this
analysis, for the listed available-for-sale equity investment,
the impact is deemed to be on the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve and no account is given
for factors such as impairment which might impact on the
statement of profit or loss.
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A8. W5 A By i B H R R BOR

(&)

ik 18 Jal B )
TREURFTA E 02 8RR A8 SORET
BEABRBECEZED REBRARER
SHRZREE BRARE 2 RF
ﬁiﬁ@%%“%Zﬂ JE o BLAD AT

A E EHBRAERE ﬁﬁmﬁw
ﬁ%%%Tfﬁﬁ&éiﬁ%ﬁ%
ﬁ“ﬁlﬂ%?EmWMﬁ#T%%
BaRkzHE-

Carrying Changes Increase/
amount of equity in profit decrease
investments before tax in equity*
RERE
REE BREARNEE BRAE/ B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT TAT
2014 E-IF
Investments listed in Hong Kong ER LM RE-FHEE
- available-for-sale (note 22) 22 491,942 - 24,507
Investments listed in Hong Kong BELMRE
- financial assets at fair value through —BATERERREETR
profit or loss (note 23) REZeRERE (M:E23) 48,350 2,418 -
2013 —E-=F
Investments listed in Hong Kong BRELMZRE
- available-for-sale (note 22) — A HE (f322) 954,368 - 47,718
* Excluding retained profits * TEERENE
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements except for the undertaking by the Company
under a banking facilities letter granted to a subsidiary
of the Group to maintain a minimum consolidated
tangible net worth of HK$1,500,000,000, which has been
complied with during the year. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 March 2014 and 31 March
2018.

48.

Bt o5 R B i O BE R R
(40)

%A

AEEEAREENERZAR RERA
SEABREZRNEN BEFRRE
MBERL R U FEEFERE  FEUR
RV R(EE -

AEERBEBEBELINEE EEHEE
REBWEHAE - BEIFAFARER
HERE S AEERAERRRIRERS [
AR ERIR 8 B ANk 1T H AR - B AN A R 5t
AEBZ —MEBR R ERZIRITERE
REMRH2AFAEFRESGEEN
& % 1E1,500,000,000/8 7T (RERNT
E5F) AN AEE W EEMIMEFENZ B
AERK-BEZZT—NF=A=+—H
N _E—=F=A=t+—BItFER"
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 48. M % by & H R R R
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued) ,‘é:' Zli %’ M oom)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which REBUEBRBEL REIRERNIS
is net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt M- BRBELERFAGBRNAERRE
includes trade creditors, sundry creditors, accruals FREZM O FEEBERNEZEREN
and deposit received, amount due to directors and HEMEMNERER ETERAREWES
non-controlling shareholders, interest-bearing bank and JEfTE = R IR AR R R IE - it B 2 R
other borrowings, finance lease payables, convertible TREMEE EANEHERE THREKRE
notes, deposits received less cash and cash equivalents. B Bk EReMREeEEIER -
Capital represents total equity. The gearing ratios as at the BARKERAR RBEHRERNEE
end of the reporting periods were as follows: EEET
Group rEE
2014 2013
—E-F —T—=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FHET FET
Trade creditors JENE S BRM 30 139,427 108,064
Sundry creditors, accruals and  E b fEHBEFK - BT B
deposits received kB WL & 377,504 723,072
Due to directors JEfRtEE 3,070 28,478
Due to non-controlling FE T IEFERR AR 3R
shareholders 25,716 52,916
Interest-bearing bank and B2 RITREMEER
other borrowings 31 911,927 997,271
Finance lease payables ERmERE 32 1,383 2,123
Convertible notes GIE:Y €2 36 - 69,392
Deposits received BBz e 9,772 8,227
Less: Cash and cash BREeRRNEEEIRE
equivalents 29 (362,994) (479,413)
Net debt HEE 1,105,805 1,510,130
Capital fi& 75 3,852,354 3,672,921
Capital and net debt BRARFEE 4,958,159 5,183,051
Gearing ratio BEARBELE 22% 29%
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 49. M % wE Z

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 23 June 2014.

MBHRRENR_ZT-—HFFA-_T=
AREZSHETREE M-

g
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Particulars of the investment properties held by the Group asat R -Z—UFE=A=+—HAEBEZHFNK
31 March 2014 are as follows: BYEFBWT

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion
BERER
£/ HRAKE Al AEBROE Bt THER
(m?)

(FHK)

Hong Kong
BE

Unit B, 26th Floor Medium term 1,568% 100 Completed
Wyler Centre, Phase I, lease

200 Tai Lin Pai Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories

#ARER HERFR A T BI&RK
KB HEE2005%

EfmHOE_H

2612BZE

Ground Floor and Cockloft, Medium term C 87* 100 Completed
61 South Wall Road, lease

Kowloon City, Kowloon

NENEHHEE H ERFR 4 ] BI&RK
61573 T R Eig

Tak Sing Alliance Building, Medium term C 7807 100 Completed
1/F-3/F, 15/F-18/F, lease

115 Chatham Road South,

Tsimshatsui, Kowloon

NEXDHE R4 ] [mh:354
RBE 1155

EXEERE

112238

158 21818

Notes: B

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial PIFELER: I-T%¥ R—FE C—%
# Gross floor area *RIE T E AR
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Particulars of the investment properties held by the Group as at

31 March 2014 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location

LV

Tenure

ERAKE

Type

bl
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Schedule of Principal Properties

T EEME

31 March 2014 =F—PF=HA=+—H

R-ZE-NF=A=1t—BAEEFANR
BYEFHBWOT : (&)

Approx.
gross area

BEBROE

(m?)

(F5%)

Effective
% held
BEREE
Bt

Stage of
completion

52 B Pl B

Hong Kong
'R

15th Floor and

Car park space No. 5,
Young Ya Industrial Building,
381-389 Sha Tsui Road,
Tsuen Wan, New Territories

S

) IH 78381-3895%
BTTERE
158 &

T B RS

Mainland China
B K BE

Units 9D-F, 10A-F, 22C
Man Wah Mansion,
Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RYEEER
PEFN 7Y
9D-F, 10A-F, 22C

Carrianna Friendship Square,
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RYEEER

AREREERBRIA
TR RERES
Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

# @Gross floor area

Medium term
lease

R4

Medium term
lease

REFEA

Medium term
lease

REFEA

C/R

w/

2,594

1,881%

28,339

GEE

100

100

100

Completed

& ot
2%

Completed

Completed

MEFER: I-TE R—EE C—HHE

"RIBE E AR

2l



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2014

Schedule of Principal Properties

31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

Particulars of the investment properties held by the Group asat R _-Z—MNE=/=+—HAEBFENK

31 March 2014 are as follows: (Continued) BYEFBWOT: (8)

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion

BEREE
&8/ HRAME XAl AEBOH Botk THEEBR
(m?)

(FPH¥)
Mainland China
B K BE
A building at Shi Lien Road, LLeasehold 822 100 Completed
Chiu Tien Industrial Park,
Shi Lou Town,

Panyu District,
Guangdong Province

fURERE BEH T B &K
Za]: 5
B TN

MmER L —EET

A building at Gowtong Leasehold 14,754% 100 Completed
Village, Panyu District,
Guangdong Province

fURERE BFH T B&RK
XEN BT

Imperial Palace, Long term C/R 4,899* 100 Completed
Hong Vi Cun, lease

Baoan South Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RIS B RETEHD B/ E B&RK
H—H

REZEH

BER

14 Zu Miao Road, Leasehold C 6,838" 100 Completed
Foshan Municipal

G BFH ] B &K

18 B B& 1457

Notes: B

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR 1-T% R—F=E C—mm%
# Gross floor area # 42 4 TH [F A8
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Particulars of the properties held as property, plant and
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2014 are as follows:

Name/location Tenure Type

LV ERAKE ]

FERIBRE MR ATRA A | 201447 4K

Schedule of Principal Properties

31 March 2014 =F—PF=HA=+—H

R-ZE-NF=ZA=1+—"BAEEFHAER
ME BELRRBIOERFBO:

Approx. Effective Stage of
gross area % held completion
BEREE
AEBENH Bl THER
(m?)

(F5%)

Hong Kong
'R

Unit A, 26th Floor and LLeasehold
Car park space Nos. 19, 20, 21,

22, 39 and 40 on 2nd Floor and

Lorry Parking Space No. L21

on 1st Floor, Wyler Centre, Phase II,

200 Tai Lin Pai Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories

R BEH I
REHEB2005%

BfmF O 5

26IEAR K2 E195

205% + 215 + 225 »

39%% - A0SR B &

1L BB IRE L

Mainland China
B KB

Nos. 3-6, 5/F, Leasehold C
Carrianna Friendship Square,

Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic

Zone

RIS B = BFH ]
AREE K

B2 R

EEMRERES

A 183-65%

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial
# Gross floor area

812* 100 Completed

1,068* 100 Completed

Wi :

MEER: I-T% R—EE C—H%
*ARIE T R
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Schedule of Principal Properties

31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

Particulars of the properties held as property, plant and RZ-Z—MNE=A=+—HBAEBEEIEA
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2014 are as follows: ¥ -BEMEREZWEFBOT: (&)
(Continued)

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion
BEREE
£/ HRAKE 5l AERNE Bl THER
(m?)
(FHX)
Mainland China
B K pE
2 Zishan Road, Yiyang Municipal Leasehold C 34,490* 100 Completed
@ 5 TR L BR255% BEH ] B &R
14 Zu Miao Road, Leasehold C 12,954¢ 100 Completed
Foshan Municipal
AN BFH ] BI&RK
18 BA K 1457
Sales Centre, Leasehold C 1,739% 83 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road C section
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
ETERERGAERR BFH ] BI&RK
BB R A BB mECER
LD
Notes: B 5 -
Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial MERR I-T%¥ R—EE C—H%x
# Gross floor area RIS E R

234



Particulars of the properties held for sale held by the Group as

FERIBRE MR ATRA A | 201447 4K

Schedule of Principal Properties

T EHEME

31 March 2014 =F—PF=H=+—H

RIZE-MF=ZA=1t—BAEERFELE

at 31 March 2014 are as follows: WEFIBWT :
Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion
BEREE
&8/ HRAME 5l AEBENH Bl THER
(m?)
(FHK)
Mainland China
B K pE
Carrianna Friendship Square, Medium term C/R 8,582 100 Completed
Junction Renmin Road South lease
and Chunfeng Road,
Shenzhen Special Economic Zone
RN B (=  ERAR 4 B/ BI&K
ARBERERERERA
SEMRERES
Imperial Palace, Long term C/R 1I&8 100 Completed
Hong Vi Cun, lease
Baoan South Road,
Shenzhen Special Economic Zone
RN B (= REAMA [EVEs BI&K
H—FF
RE MK
BERE
Residential units and car parks Long term C/R 36,558 87.5 Completed
of Grand Lake City, lease
Yiyang Road, Hunan
W=k K& RHEAEAY B/ BI&RK
LTI EE R E AL
Shopping street of Medium term C 31,487 87.5 Completed
Grand Lake City, lease
Yiyang Road, Hunan
TR YN H ERAR 4 ] BI&RK
RELAET A % 4
Notes: B & -

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

# Gross floor area

MEFER: I-ITE R—EE C—HHX

TRBEEIE
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31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

Particulars of the properties held for sale held by the Groupas R -_ZE—NFE=A=+—BAEEFELE

at 31 March 2014 are as follows: (Continued) MFEFRWOT: (&)
Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion
BEREE
&8/ HRAME XAl AEBOH Botk THEEBR
(m?)
(FEAXK)
Mainland China
B K BE
Leather Trade Centre Medium term C 36,483" 83 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of lease

Da Gang Road B section,

Lin Gang Industrial Area,

Lianyang Eco & Tech

Development Zone,

Lianyungang

EEERERGAERRE AR 4 ] mP:394
B R K8 B FIBER

RARERZSH 0

Building Materials Trade Centre Medium term C 52,104# 83 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of lease

Da Gang Road C section,

Lin Gang Industrial Area,

Lianyang Eco & Tech

Development Zone,

Lianyungang
EEEHERGBERRE R EIA A ] B &
FR B RAB R ACR

EMZHH 0

Notes: B2
Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial WIFERER: |- T%¥ R—FE C—%
# Gross floor area *RIE T E AR
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Particulars of the properties under development held by the

FERBRE MR AT RA A | 201447 4K

Schedule of Principal Properties

T EEME

31 March 2014 =F—PF=HA=+—H

R-ZE-NF=ZA=1t—BAEEFAER

Group as at 31 March 2014 are as follows: RYEFBRAT:
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BREE
it B RA® THER 75 P R BOt BEIEZHRAH
(m?)
(FFHXK)
Mainland China
B KR
Chaoyang Road to the Commercial/ 16,026 Foundation work 87.5 N/A
north, Zishanhu to residential in progress
the south, Yiyang
a5 1 20 5 B DA - mE/EE METIRETH T iE A
RELLH AL
Tuanyuan Road Commercial/ 318,709 Design work 87.5 N/A
to the east, Yiyang residential in progress
a5 i [ (B 5% 7 BME/EE Rt TIEETH TiE
Yangwuling Village, Commercial/ 120,040 Design work 87.5 N/A
Lucigiao Village, residential in progress
Yiyang
g 5 T F SR IR A - BMEEx Rt THEETH TiE
B ISR
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31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

Particulars of the properties under development held by the WR-Z—NFE=A=+—HBAEEFHLE

Group as at 31 March 2014 are as follows: (Continued) RYIEFIBOT : (8)
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BRER
it B R THEE 5 BR P B Btk EstxHAH
(m?)
(FFHXK)
Mainland China
Bl K BE
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 26,069 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road B section, residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEERERGEEXR EEYAEES METRETH TiEfA
F R KB R B
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 77,757 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road F section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEERERGEERR mE/|E METRETH TEH
B R A B BB FER
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Schedule of Principal Properties

31 March 2014 =F—PF=H=+—H

Particulars of the properties under development held by the W-Z—NF=A=+—HBAEEFHHLE
Group as at 31 March 2014 are as follows: (Continued) RYEFFIERAT : (8)
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BRER
1t B R& THEE 5 BR P B Bat FrtzHRAH
(m?)
(%)
Mainland China
B K BE
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 22,731 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road C section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEERERGAEXR BmE/EE WETRETH TEHA
R A B B ECR
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 93,643 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road E section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
ETERERGEEXR mE/EE METRETH TEA
B RO B R ERR
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Schedule of Principal Properties

31 March 2014 =—ZF—p#F=H=+—H

Particulars of the properties under development held by the W-Z—NF=A=+—HBAEEFHLE

Group as at 31 March 2014 are as follows: (Continued) RYIEFIBOT : (8)
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BRER
it B R& THEE 5 BR B B Bott FErtxEmBH
(m?)
(FFHXK)
Mainland China
B KR
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 122,577 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road G section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEERERGAERR BmE/EE WETRETH TiEfA
R KB AGR
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 83,618 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road H section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
EEBERERGEEXR HE/ X METRETH TEHA
B BE RO R A HER
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an annual general meeting
of Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
will be held at Carrianna (Chiu Chow) Restaurant, 1st Floor, 151
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on Monday, 25 August
2014 at 11:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

1. To receive and consider the audited financial statements
and the reports of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) and of the auditors of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2014.

2. To declare a final dividend of HK5 cents per share for the
year ended 31 March 2014,

3.  To re-elect the following retiring Directors and to authorise
the board of Directors to fix the remuneration of the
Directors.

(@ Mr. Ng Yan Kwong as an Executive Director of the
Company.

(b) Mr. Wong See King as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company.

4.  To re-appoint Messrs. Ernst & Young as auditors of the
Company and to authorise the board of Directors to fix
their remuneration.

As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass with
or without amendments, the following resolutions as ordinary
resolutions:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
5. “THAT

(@ Subject to paragraph (b) below, the exercise by the
Directors during the Relevant Period of all the powers
of the Company to purchase issued shares of
HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company, subject
to and in accordance with the applicable laws and
the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited as amended from time to time be and is
hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

(b) the aggregate nominal amount of shares to be
purchased pursuant to the approval in paragraph
(@) above shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate
number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue
on the date of this resolution, and the said approval
shall be limited accordingly; and

ik R Ak &

UBEEEPEBRIERERAF ([ARF])
HFIIR—E—NWENA-+EB (EH—)
FH—RHEREBEEBEFELITEISIHR 2
EEH CHMN)BEEZRARRREBAFTAS
M E NS

I, AMBE-F-ME=A=+—AL%

B REGHBHRRARESFERERZ
BUAD & o

2. ERBE_Z-MF=-A=1+—BILF
[ 2 REARR B & RREE AL -

3. BREUTEEEF IRBREFTSEX
EE2ME-
@ RBAEER/RRARATES-
b) BEBAESARREUIFNITE

%O

4. BERKEFMEBAA/RNRRAZR

Bl YERBEEEFEEEEME -

ERFRIEEEELBEEE (BHRE
A TIRZBRAEBRESR

iy
&

f

5. [Bh&EE:

@ HERRBRO)ERZBRSIT MGG
RYEse—REEN EFAE
BZEPIRBEBHMERINERA
AlFESF EMHRA (BTEEE]) 2
HMEWEERRBRZBERLT REH
HMTEARRR 2 — S LA
BEARRABEZRITRAFEREE
0.1078 7T 2 I& 15

b) RIELEX (@B H/EMED 2
E{EARE ATHBBAOREREBR
Bz ERTEBRERZ210%"
LAt TR R R B K2
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©

for the purpose of this resolution, “Relevant Period”
means the period from the date of passing of this
resolution until whichever is the earlier of:

()  the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company;

(i) the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this resolution by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general
meeting; and

(i) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by the Bye-laws of the Company or
the laws of Bermuda to be held.”.

“THAT

(@

subject to sub-paragraph (c) of this resolution,
the exercise by the Directors during the Relevant
Period (as hereinafter defined) of all the powers of
the Company to allot, issue or otherwise deal with
additional shares of the Company and to make or
grant offers, agreements and options which might
require the exercise of such powers be and is
hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

the approval in sub-paragraph (a) of this resolution
shall authorise the Directors during the Relevant
Period to make or grant offers, agreements and
options which might require the exercise of such
power after the end of the Relevant Period;

the aggregate nominal amount of share capital
allotted or agreed conditionally or unconditionally
to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option or
otherwise) by the Directors pursuant to the approval
in sub-paragraph (a) of this resolution, otherwise
than pursuant to:

(i) aRights Issue (as hereinafter defined);

(i) the exercise of any option scheme or similar
arrangement for the time being adopted for
the grant or issue to officers and/or employees
of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries
of shares or rights to acquire shares of the
Company; and

BAORZBRM S @ [AREME] Ji1E
RARZRBBZ AE NIIER—
ARFELEZ BHIE 2 B -

() ARATERRBEFRGHE
Eg=an

(i) TRERBELZENELHRK
REBRRKRSEBEBRZE
ETABBEHERT 2B &

iy ANABZzARMEAISEHFEE
SRR EARRRIZBLRTT NE
R RBEF K2R E 2
EOJO

Lk E

()

FERBREODBEZBRBIT  —& &
BEMMEESEABHRA (E
ERTX)TEARR B ESIA
AoZ  BITRERIE AR AL Z BN
- RAEH R TR RER BITE%
SN ZER hE R IERE

RRERQIBRZIERREES
ERBHERELSR TAIBEAR
BRREERRITEZSEN 22
& ek MR AR

ESRBARER QDR ZHER
HHFABH G ERTEE (F
mE R IREEERESREMT ) 2
PR AR RE - AR T 5107 A 3
1TERRSN:

) EEFR(EELTX):

(i) TTEERRMZERETS
SR MAmARA &,
FHAERME AR 2B E K&
S REEBREHBEITRMD K
REARB RN 2R : K&



(i) any scrip dividend or similar arrangement
providing for the allotment of shares in lieu of
the whole or part of a dividend on shares of
the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws
of the Company;

shall not exceed 20% of the aggregate number
of ordinary shares of the Company in issue at the
date of the passing of this resolution, and the said
approval shall be limited accordingly; and

for the purpose of this resolution, “Relevant Period”
means the period from the passing of this resolution
until whichever is the earlier of:

()  the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company;

(i) the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this resolution by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general
meeting; and

(i)  the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by the Bye-laws of the Company or
the laws of Bermuda to be held.”;

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares in the
Company open for a period fixed by the Directors
to holders of shares of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company
on a fixed record date in proportion to their then
holdings of such shares (subject to such exclusions
or other arrangements as the Directors may deem
necessary or expedient in relation to fractional
entitlements or having regards to any restrictions or
obligations under the laws of, or the requirements of
any recognised body or any stock exchange, in any
territory outside Hong Kong).”.

“THAT conditional upon the passing of the ordinary
resolutions no. 5 and 6 set out above, the general
mandate granted to the Directors pursuant to resolution
no. 6 be and is hereby extended by the addition thereto of
an amount representing the aggregate nominal amount of
the share capital repurchased by the Company under the
authority granted in resolution no. 5, provided that such
amount shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate nominal
amount of the share capital of the Company in issue at
the date of the passing of this resolution.”.
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(i) BIFEARRRF)Z Q) 4B A
BRDURBARBRND 2Z
Bk 2B A% B 2 AT AR R
B BEULR

TRBBRAORBRERBE AN
NAEIEEITEBRARZ20% M
A TR R R UL R &

(d) BARZ=RME @ [BEHRE] M5
mKRmmLﬂéﬁéTWEﬁ—
EREEEZ B B -

() ARATERRBEFEFRGHE
Eg=e

(i) ARERBELZEHEHRK
REBRRKE BB EBRZE
T ABEHERIERI 2B &

iy AXARZAAIMEEIHE R
FEEAMRE AR A ERIT
TERREFEKE 2 HRE
el

[EEEF ] HESNEEHMEA -
[AI4EE fC 8% B MR DI AR R AR B
MzRPBEARBRNEER
Z L I BC 3 - AT AR
(@%%ﬁ%%%@&%ﬁ%%$

NEER 2 EA R 2 AR M
Rl EERBRENESFI B
ZRERBEEMRBRMBBARERR
HAE TRERAE 5 2 SR
Hip2 ) o] o

[BBAEALESRFORE BARZRE

BEBZIBRAT  ERIKBRFHERFOR
RYEEZ—RUEEN BABEMRE
RARBIRIBIR B R ELH 2 RIEFTEE
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BHEBARRNATRBRABERZE
TR AHERTE210% <] °
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8.

To transact any other business.

By Order of the Board

Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
Ng Yan Kwong

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 21 July 2014

Notes:

1.

244

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ right to attend and
vote at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held
on Monday, 25 August 2014, the Register of Members of the
Company will be closed from Friday, 22 August 2014 to Monday,
25 August 2014, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be effected. In order for a shareholder to
be eligible to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting, all
transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch shares registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 21 August 2014.

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend, the Register of Members of the
Company will be closed from Friday, 26 September 2014 to
Tuesday, 30 September 2014, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for
the proposed final dividend (subject to shareholders’ approval at
the Annual General Meeting), all transfers accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at
Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 25 September 2014.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled
to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote on his/her
behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. If more
than one proxy is so appointed, the appointment shall specify
the number and class of shares in respect of which each such
proxy is so appointed.

To be valid, a form of proxy and the power of attorney or other
authority, if any, under which it is signed, or a notarially certified
copy of such power of attorney or authority, must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the time
appointed for holding the Meeting.

An explanatory statement containing further details regarding
ordinary resolutions No. 5 to 7 above will be sent to shareholders
shortly together with the 2014 Annual Report.

8.

BRI H MR IR
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